# **Collective Agreement**

## Between:

**Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union** 

- and -

**South Shore District Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 95)** 

or

South West Nova District Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 95)

or

**Annapolis Valley District Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 95)** 

or

**Colchester East Hants Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 93)** 

or

**Cumberland Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 93)** 

or

Pictou County Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 93)

or

**Guysborough Antigonish Strait Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 94)** 

or

**Cape Breton District Health Authority (NSGEU, Local 94)** 

Term of Agreement: April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2012

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

**NOTE** For ease of reference an asterisk (\*) has been placed beside each article which has been amended or added to this collective agreement in the most recent round of collective bargaining. This does not apply where only the numbering of articles has been altered (for example, when a new article has been added) and such numbering changes have not been identified by an asterisk.

PREAM	IBLE	.1
ARTICI	LE 1 - INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS*	.1
1.01	Definitions*	.1
1.02	Service	.5
1.03	Gender	.6
1.04	Classification Groupings*	.6
ARTICI	E 2 - RECOGNITION	.7
2.01	Bargaining Agent Recognition	.7
2.02	No Discrimination for Union Activity	.7
ARTICI	LE 3 - NO DISCRIMINATION	.7
3.01	No Discrimination	.7
3.02	Harassment	.7
ARTICI	E 4 - APPLICATION	.7
4.01	Application	.7
ARTICI	LE 5 - FUTURE LEGISLATION	.7
5.01	Future Legislation	.7
5.02	Conflict With Policy	.8
ARTICI	LE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	.8
6.01	Management Rights	.8
6.02	Consistent Application	.8
6.03	Delegation of Authority	.8
ARTICI	E 7 - RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS	.8
7.01	No Lockout or Strike	.8
7.02	No Sanction of Strike	.8
7.03	Emergency Services	.8
ARTICI	LE 8 - PROVISION OF BULLETIN BOARD SPACE	.9
8.01	Bulletin Boards	.9

Distribution of Union Literature	9
Computer Access	9
E 9 – INFORMATION*	9
Copies of Agreement	9
Letter of Appointment	9
Employer to Acquaint New Employees*	9
Position Descriptions	10
Training	10
Bargaining Unit Information	10
E 10 – APPOINTMENT*	10
Probationary Period	10
Confirmation of Permanent Appointment	10
Termination of Probationary Appointment	11
Notification of Appointments and Terminations	11
Secondment*	11
E 11 - JOB POSTING*	11
Job Posting	11
Filling Vacancies	12
Trial Period*	12
Return to Former Position	13
E 12 - CHECKOFF	13
Deduction of Union Dues	13
Notification of Deduction	13
Religious Exclusions	13
Remittance of Union Dues	14
Liability	14
Professional and Association Dues	14
E 13 - STEWARDS	14
Recognition	14
Notification	14
Servicing of Grievances	14
Presence of Union Steward at Meeting	15
	Copies of Agreement Letter of Appointment Employer to Acquaint New Employees* Position Descriptions Training

ARTICL	E 14 - TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS	15
14.01	Leave Without Pay	15
14.02	Notification to Employer	15
14.03	Annual Meeting	16
14.04	Number of Employees Eligible	16
14.05	Contract Negotiations	16
14.06	Arbitration	16
14.07	Grievance Meetings	16
14.08	No Loss of Service	16
14.09	Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union President	17
ARTICL	E 15 - HOURS OF WORK	17
15.01	Hours of Work	17
15.02	Maintaining Coverage	18
15.03	Variation in Hours of Work	18
15.04	No Guarantee of Hours	18
15.05	Work Schedules	18
15.06	Rotation of Shifts	19
15.07	Exchange of Shifts	19
15.08	Variance in Hours	19
15.09	Posting of Shift Schedules	19
15.10	Meal & Rest Periods	19
15.11	Recall During Meal or Rest Periods	19
15.12	Flexible Working Hours	20
15.13	Modified Work Week	20
15.14	Deviations from Scheduled Hours	20
15.15	Return to Regular Times of Work	20
15.16	Conversion of Hours	20
15.17	Charge Premiums	21
ARTICL	E 16 – OVERTIME*	21
16.01	Exception to Overtime Provision	21
16.02	Definitions	21
16.03	Allocation of Overtime	22

16.04	Overtime Eligibility	.22
16.05	Overtime Meal Allowance*	.22
16.06	Overtime Compensation	.23
16.07	Computation of Overtime	.23
16.08	Form of Compensation	.23
16.09	Carry Over of Overtime	.23
16.10	No Layoff to Compensate for Overtime	.23
16.11	Daylight Saving Time	.23
16.12	Union Consultation	.23
ARTICL	E 17 – STANDBY AND CALL-BACK*	.24
17.01	Standby Compensation*	.24
17.02	Limit on Standby	.24
17.03	Employee Availability	.24
17.04	Call-back Compensation	.24
17.05	Transportation Allowance	.24
17.06	Rest Interval After Callback	.24
17.07	Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken	.25
ARTICL	E 18 – VACATIONS*	. 25
18.01	Annual Vacation Entitlement*	. 25
18.02	Vacation Year	.25
18.03	Authorization	. 25
18.04	Vacation Scheduling	.26
18.05	Employee Request	.26
18.06	Unbroken Vacation	.26
18.07	Vacation Carry Over	.26
18.08	Accumulative Vacation Carry Over	.27
18.09	Use of Accumulated Vacation Carry Over	.27
18.10	Borrowing of Unearned Vacation Credits	.27
18.11	Employee Compensation Upon Separation	.27
18.12	Employer Compensation Upon Separation	.27
18.13	Vacation Credits Upon Death	.27
18.14	Vacation Records	.27

18.15	Recall from Vacation	28
18.16	Reimbursement of Expenses upon Recall	28
18.17	Reinstatement of Vacation Upon Recall	28
18.18	Illness During Vacation	28
ARTICL	E 19 – HOLIDAYS	28
19.01	Paid Holidays	28
19.02	Exception	29
19.03	Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest	29
19.04	Holiday Coinciding with Paid Leave	29
19.05	Compensation for Work on a Holiday	29
19.06	Overtime on a Holiday	30
19.07	Christmas or New Year's Day Off	30
19.08	Illness on a Paid Holiday	30
ARTICL	E 20 - SPECIAL LEAVE*	30
20.01	Special Leave	30
20.02	Bereavement Leave*	31
20.03	Court Leave	32
20.04	Jury Compensation	32
20.05	Examination Leave	32
20.06	Leave for Family Illness	32
20.07	Pregnancy Leave	33
20.08	Pregnancy Sick Leave	33
20.09	Pregnancy/Birth Leave Allowance	33
20.10	Parental Leave	34
20.11	Adoption Leave	35
20.12	Parental/Adoption Leave Allowance	35
20.13	Proof and Notice of Entitlement	36
20.14	Resumption of Work	36
20.15	Participation in Benefit Plans	37
20.16	Service and Seniority	37
20.17	Leave Deferral	37
20.18	Leave for Birth of Child or Adoption	37

20.19	Leave for Emergency	37
20.20	Leave for Personal Preventive Care	38
20.21	Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions	38
20.22	Leave for Public Office	38
20.23	Military Leave	39
20.24	Prepaid Leave	39
20.25	Compassionate Care Leave	42
20.26	Education	42
20.27	Orientation	43
ARTICL	E 21 - GROUP INSURANCE	43
21.01	Group Insurance	43
21.02	Long Term Disability Plan	44
ARTICL	E 22 - SICK LEAVE	44
22.01	General Illness Leave Benefit	44
22.02		
22.03	Recurring Disabilities	45
22.04	Benefits Not Paid During Certain Periods	45
22.05	Benefits/Layoff	45
22.06	Long-Term Disability	46
22.07	Deemed Salary	46
22.08	Proof of Illness	46
22.09	Unearned Credits Upon Death	46
22.10	Sick Leave Records	46
22.11	Alternate Medical Practitioner	47
22.12	Alcohol, Drug, Nicotine and/or Gambling Addiction	47
22.13	Ongoing Therapy	47
22.14	Confidentiality Of Health Information	47
ARTICL	E 23 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE FILES	47
23.01	Employee Performance Review	47
23.02	Notice of Performance Improvement Requirements	47
23.03	Record of Disciplinary Action	48
23.04	Employee Access to Employment File	48

ARTICL	E 24 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	48
24.01	Just Cause	48
24.02	Notification	48
24.03	Grievances	49
24.04	Reinstatement	49
ARTICL	E 25 - NOTICE OF RESIGNATION*	49
25.01	Notice of Resignation	49
25.02	Failure to Give Notice	49
25.03	Absence Without Permission	49
25.04	Withdrawal of Resignation*	50
ARTICL	E 26 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	50
26.01	Grievances	50
26.02	Union Approval	50
26.03	Grievance Procedure	50
26.04	Grievance Mediation	51
26.05	Union Referral to Arbitration	51
26.06	Union Representation	51
26.07	Time Limits	51
26.08	Amending of Time Limits	52
26.09	Policy Grievance	52
26.10	Harassment	52
ARTICL	E 27 – ARBITRATION	52
27.01	Arbitration	52
27.02	Referral to Arbitration	52
27.03	Arbitration - Board	52
27.04	Arbitration Decision Expedited	53
27.05	Expedited Arbitration Procedure	53
27.06	Arbitration Fees	53
27.07	Time Limits	53
27.08	Arbitration Award Final and Binding	53
ARTICL	E 28 - JOINT CONSULTATION	53
28.01	Joint Consultation	53

ARTICL	.E 29 - TRAVEL RATES AND ALLOWANCES	54
29.01	Kilometre Allowance	54
29.02	Reasonable Expenses	54
29.03	Transportation	54
29.04	Use of Automobile on Employer Business	54
ARTICL	E 30 - MOVING EXPENSES	55
30.01	Moving Expense	55
ARTICL	E 31 - RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES	55
31.01	Retirement Allowance	55
31.02	Entitlement	56
31.03	Death Prior to Retirement	56
31.04	Calculation of Award	56
ARTICL	E 32 - PENSIONS	56
32.01	Coverage of Employees	56
ARTICL	E 33 - SAFETY AND HEALTH	56
33.01	Safety and Health Provisions	56
33.02	Occupational Health and Safety Act	57
33.03	First-Aid Kits	57
33.04	Safety Equipment	57
33.05	Protection of Pregnant Employees	
33.06	Right to Refuse Work	57
ARTICL	E 34 - EMPLOYMENT STABILITY*	57
34.01	Composition	57
34.02	Committee Mandate	57
34.03	Notice to Union	58
34.04	Definition of Technological Change	58
34.05	Meetings	58
34.06	Release from Duty	58
34.07	Minutes	59
34.08	Layoff Procedure	59
34.09	Seniority Information	59
34.10	Loss of Seniority and Employment*	59

34.11	Relocation of a Position	59
34.12	Reduction of Staff*	60
34.13	Layoff	60
34.14	Notice of Layoff	60
34.15	Placement/Displacement Procedures	61
34.16	Transfer Expenses	62
34.17	Recall Procedure	62
34.18	Termination of Recall Rights	63
34.19	Severance Pay*	63
34.20	Release Form*	64
34.21	No New Employees	64
34.22	Geographic Location	64
34.23	Contracting Out	64
34.24	Pay in Lieu of Notice	64
34.25	Definition of "employee" in this Section	64
34.26	Strict Application of Procedure	64
04.07	Workplace Reorganization	0.4
34.27	workplace Reorganization	64
	E 35 – PAY*	
	•	65
ARTICL	E 35 – PAY*	65
35.01 35.02	E 35 – PAY*	65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03	E 35 – PAY*  Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment	65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03	E 35 – PAY*  Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion	65 65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04	E 35 – PAY*  Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion	65 65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion	65 65 65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion	65 65 65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06 35.07	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion  Anniversary Date  Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification	656565656565
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06 35.07 35.08	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion  Anniversary Date  Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification	65 65 65 65 65 65
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06 35.07 35.08 35.09	Rates of Pay* Rate of Pay Upon Appointment Exception Rate of Pay Upon Promotion Exception Rate of Pay Upon Demotion Anniversary Date Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification Salary Increments	65656565656565
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06 35.07 35.08 35.09 35.10 35.11	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion  Anniversary Date  Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification  Salary Increments  Notice to Withhold Salary Increment	6565656565656566
35.01 35.02 35.03 35.04 35.05 35.06 35.07 35.08 35.09 35.10 35.11	Rates of Pay*  Rate of Pay Upon Appointment  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Promotion  Exception  Rate of Pay Upon Demotion  Anniversary Date  Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification  Salary Increments  Notice to Withhold Salary Increment  Granting of Withheld Increment  Acting Position / Pay*	656565656565666666

35.15	Weekend Premium*	67
35.16	Statement of Pay	67
35.17	Education Premiums for Nurses	67
35.18	Long Service Increment for Nurses	68
35.19	Late Career Retention Bonus for Nurses	69
35.20	Late Career Retention Bonus for LPNs*	69
ARTICL	E 36 - COMPENSATION FOR INJURY ON DUTY	69
36.01	Reporting of Injuries	69
36.02	Injury Pay Provisions	69
36.03	WCB and Return to Work	69
ARTICL	E 37 - EMPLOYER LIABILITY	70
37.01	Employer Liability	70
ARTICL	E 38 - PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	70
38.01	Collective Agreement Application	70
38.02	Entitlement to Benefits	70
38.03	Hours Worked	70
38.04	Earning Entitlements	70
38.05	Unpaid Leave	70
38.06	Service	70
38.07	Overtime	71
38.08	Part-Time Employees – Extra Shifts	71
ARTICL	E 39 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES	72
39.01	Application of the Collective Agreement	72
ARTICL	E 40 - UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	72
40.01	Soiled and Damaged Clothing	72
40.02	Required Uniforms	72
40.03	Protective Clothing	72
40.04	Wash-up Time	72
ARTICL	E 41 - JOB SHARING	73
41.01	Job Sharing Conditions	73
41.02	Existing Employees Only	73
41.03	Part of Collective Agreement	73

41.04	Rights and Benefits	73
41.05	Operational Requirements	73
41.06	Qualifications	73
41.07	Identification of Job Share	73
41.08	Period of Job Share	74
41.09	Work Schedule Requirements	74
41.10	Service	74
41.11	Regular Work Hours	74
41.12	Pro-Ration of Benefits	74
41.13	Pension	75
41.14	Termination	75
41.15	Notice	75
41.16	Extension	75
41.17	Filling of Vacancy	76
41.18	Costs	76
ARTICL	E 42 - AMENDMENT	76
42.01	Mutual Consent	76
	E 43 - CLASSIFICATION & RECLASSIFICATION	
43.01	New Classification	76
43.02	Classification Appeal Procedure	76
ARTICL	E 44 - SUCCESSOR RIGHTS	77
44.01	Successor Rights	77
ARTICL	E 45 - TERM OF AGREEMENT*	77
45.01	Duration and Renewal*	77
45.02	Effective Date of Agreement	77
45.03	Retroactive Pay for Terminated Employees*	78
APPENI	DIX "1" EXPEDITED ARBITRATION - RULES OF PROCEDURE	81
APPENI	DIX "2" Relocation & Travel*	83
1.01	Travel Policy - General	83
1.02	Workplace	83
1.03	Headquarters	83
1.04	Use of Privately-Owned Vehicles on Employer Business*	83

1.05	Meals - Eligibility and Allowances	84
1.06	Incidental Expenses - Eligibility	85
1.07	Use of Motor Vehicle as a Condition of Employment	85
1.08	Optional Monthly Allowance*	85
2.01	Moving Expenses on Transfer	85
APPEND	DIX "3"	86
Casual E	Employees	86
Section	1: WAGES	86
Section	2: BENEFITS	86
Section	3: GROUP BENEFITS	86
Section	14: SCHEDULING	87
Section	5: DATE OF EMPLOYMENT	88
Section	6: CASUAL SENIORITY	88
Section	7: COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT APPLICATION	88
Section	8: POINTS OF CLARIFICATION	89
APPEND	DIX "4"	92
12 Hour	Shift*	92
APPEND	DIX "5" PAY PLAN*	94
Clerical	Classifications	94
PAY PLA	AN	97
Service	Support Classifications	97
PAY PLA	AN Healthcare Classifications	0.2
	AN Healthcare Classifications	90
PAY PLA	AN Nursing Classifications	
		108
PAY PLA	AN Nursing Classifications	108 110
PAY PLA	AN Nursing Classifications AN Staff Nurse Continuing Care	108 110 111
PAY PLA MEMOR Reference	AN Nursing Classifications AN Staff Nurse Continuing Care ANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1	108 110 111
PAY PLA MEMOR Reference MEMOR	AN Nursing Classifications AN Staff Nurse Continuing Care ANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1 ces to Groups A, B, and C*	108 110 111 111
PAY PLA MEMOR Reference MEMOR Recogni	AN Nursing Classifications AN Staff Nurse Continuing Care ANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1 ces to Groups A, B, and C*	108 110 111 111 114
PAY PLA MEMOR Reference MEMOR Recogni MEMOR	AN Nursing Classifications	108 110 111 111 114 114
PAY PLA MEMOR Reference MEMOR Recogni MEMOR "PIO" CI	AN Nursing Classifications	108 110 111 114 114 117

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #5 - Voluntary Severance Process*123
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #6129
RE: Devolution of Continuing Care From the Department of Health to the District
Health Authorities – June 5, 2009*129
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT132
THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION132
All parties hereto agree to re-sign the Agreement on the Devolution Date135
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #7136
RE: Devolution of Continuing Care From the Department of Health to the District
Health Authorities – September 26, 2011*136
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT137
RE:DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO
THE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITIES137
THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION138
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #8142
RE: Devolution of CCRAs*142
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT144
RE:DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO
THE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITIES144
THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION144
INDEX145

#### **PREAMBLE**

Whereas it is the intention and purpose of the parties to this Agreement to maintain the existing harmonious relations and settled conditions of employment between the Employer, the employees and the Union, to improve the quality of the service of the Employer and to promote the well-being and the increased productivity of its employees to the end that the public will be well and efficiently served; accordingly the parties hereto set forth certain terms and conditions of employment relating to pay, hours of work and other related terms and conditions of employment affecting employees covered by this Agreement.

Now therefore, the parties agree as follows.

## **ARTICLE 1 - INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS\***

#### 1.01 Definitions\*

For the purpose of this Agreement;

# (a) Bargaining Unit\*

means all regular and temporary full-time and part-time employees, and casual employees as provided by this agreement engaged in providing addiction / drug dependency and public health programs and who deliver or support the delivery of continuing care programs, but excluding those persons represented by other bargaining agents, those persons included in a bargaining unit of employees of the Employer engaged in providing services other than addiction / drug dependency and public health programs or the delivery or support of the delivery of continuing care programs and those persons excluded by paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (2) of Section 2 of the Trade Union Act;

## (b) Seniority\*

shall be defined in accordance with the following:

# (i) Recognition of Seniority With the Employer\*

Seniority of employees who devolved from the civil service means the seniority with which an employee was credited immediately prior to the devolution from the civil service. Regular employees will accumulate seniority for continuous employment in the bargaining unit from the date of appointment as a regular employee, or from their date of appointment as a temporary employee where the employee was immediately appointed to a regular position with no break in employment.

## (ii) Merged Seniority List\*

#### Districts 1, 2, 3

The parties agree to merge the seniority of the Addiction Service employees hired prior to January 29, 2009 and Public Health employees

and Continuing Care employees in District Health Authorities 1, 2, and 3 and to maintain one integrated seniority list for such employees applicable throughout those District Health Authorities. All periods of continuous seniority accumulated with any of those District Health Authorities in accordance with the applicable collective agreement shall be recognized on the merged seniority list.

Each of District Health Authorities 1, 2 and 3 will establish and maintain separate seniority lists for their Addiction Service employees hired on or after January 29, 2009.

#### Districts 4, 5, 6

The parties agree to merge the seniority of the Addiction Service employees, Public Health employees and Continuing Care employees employed by District Health Authorities 4, 5, and 6 and to maintain one integrated seniority list for such employees applicable throughout those District Health Authorities. All periods of continuous seniority accumulated with any of those District Health Authorities in accordance with the applicable collective agreement shall be recognized on the merged seniority list.

## Districts 7, 8

The parties agree to merge the seniority of the Addiction Service employees, Public Health employees and Continuing Care employees employed by District Health Authorities 7 and 8 and to maintain one integrated seniority list for such employees applicable throughout those District Health Authorities. All periods of continuous seniority accumulated with any of those District Health Authorities in accordance with the applicable collective agreement shall be recognized on the merged seniority list.

# (iii) Application of Merged Seniority Lists

The merged seniority list referred to in this provision is applicable for the purposes of job posting (the standard Article 11 of each of the applicable collective agreements) as well as placements/displacements and recalls (the standard Article 34 of each of the applicable collective agreements).

# (iv) Availability of Grievance Procedure\*

#### Districts 1, 2, 3

An Addiction Services employee of District Health Authorities 1, 2, or 3 hired prior to January 29, 2009 or a Public Health employee or a Continuing Care employee of District Health Authorities 1, 2, or 3 may file a grievance regarding the recognition of their seniority in respect of a job posting, placement, displacement or recall in any of District Health Authorities 1, 2, and 3.

Addiction Services employees of District Health Authorities 1, 2, and 3 hired on or after January 29, 2009 may only file a grievance regarding the recognition of their seniority in respect of a job posting, placement, displacement or recall in their own respective District Health Authority.

## Districts 4, 5, 6

An Addiction Services employee or Public Health employee or Continuing Care employees of District Health Authorities 4, 5, and 6 may file a grievance regarding the recognition of their seniority in respect of a job posting, placement, displacement or recall in any of District Health Authorities 4, 5, and 6.

## Districts 7, 8

An Addiction Services employee or Public Health employee or Continuing Care employee of District Health Authorities 7 and 8 may file a grievance regarding the recognition of their seniority in respect of a job posting, placement, displacement or recall in any of District Health Authorities 7 and 8.

# (c) Daily rate of pay

means an employee's bi-weekly rate divided by ten (10).

## (d) Employee

means a person who is included in the bargaining unit.

# (e) Employer

means the South Shore District Health Authority or, South West Nova District Health Authority or, Annapolis Valley District Health Authority or, Colchester East Hants Health Authority or, Cumberland Health Authority or, Pictou County Health Authority or, Guysborough Antigonish Strait Health Authority or, Cape Breton District Health Authority.

# (f) Holiday

- (i) in the case of a shift that does not commence and end in the same day, the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing from the time at which the shift commenced if more than one-half of the shift falls on a day designated as a holiday in this Agreement;
- (ii) in any other case, the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at 12:01 am of a day designated in this Agreement.

## (g) Leave of absence

means absent from work with permission.

## (h) Lockout

includes the closing of a place of employment, a suspension of work or a refusal to continue to employ a number of employees done to compel the employees, or to aid another employer to compel its employees, to agree to terms or conditions of employment.

# (i) Spouse

means a legal marriage partner or a live-in partner who has been identified to the Employer in writing as the spouse. This includes a same-sex partner.

# (j) Strike

includes a cessation of work, a refusal to work or to continue to work by employees in combination or in concert or in accordance with a common understanding for the purpose of compelling the Employer to agree to terms or conditions of employment or to aid other employees in compelling their employer to agree to terms or conditions of employment.

## (k) Union

means the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union.

# (I) Temporary employee

- (i) is an employee in a position designated to be in excess of twenty consecutive working days but not to exceed twenty-four (24) months. A temporary employee shall qualify, subject to eligibility, for other benefits of this Collective Agreement on a proportionate basis to the regular hours paid.
- (ii) A temporary position may be terminated at any time at the sole discretion of the Employer with ten (10) days notice in writing to the employee prior to termination. The Employer will notify the Union when an employee is terminated.
- (iii) Where less notice in writing is given than is provided, employees shall continue to receive pay for the number of days prior to the date of termination. An employee employed in a position in a temporary basis shall be given the reasons for termination in writing if the employee so requests.
- (iv) Temporary employees with five or more years of accumulated service shall have layoff/recall rights as provided in Article 34.
- (v) Temporary employees shall accumulate seniority based on hours worked and shall include any hours worked as a casual employee where there was no break in employment. For clarity, a break in service shall occur when an employee resigns or is terminated. When a temporary employee returns to work on the expiration of a pregnancy, parental, or adoption leave, or from a period of disability, she shall be credited with seniority hours during the leave period. The seniority hours credited shall be the average of the hours worked in the previous twelve (12) months. or if the employee's length of employment is less than twelve (12) months, the average of the hours worked during the term of her employment. If the period of the leave or disability is for less than one year, then the accrual of seniority shall be pro-rated. In no case can an employee accrue seniority for a single period of pregnancy, parental, adoption leave or disability in excess of one year.

## (m) Casual employee

is an employee other than a Regular or Temporary employee who works as required. Except as specifically provided in Appendix "3", the provisions of this Collective Agreement do apply to Casual employees.

# (n) Regular Employee

is an employee hired to work indefinitely who is appointed to a position on an on-going basis on a full-time or part-time basis.

## (o) Working Days

means Monday through Friday exclusive of any holidays recognized in the collective agreement.

#### 1.02 Service

For the purposes of this Agreement, "service" means:

- (a) total accumulated months of employment for employees where appointments have been made by the Employer and includes recognized service within the Nova Scotia civil service prior to April 1, 1997.
- (b) Notwithstanding Article 1.02(a), except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no service and therefore no service related benefits shall be credited to an employee who does not receive pay for in excess of ten (10) days during that calendar month.
- (c) Service related benefits are vacation, sick leave, Retirement Allowance, and Severance Allowance.
- (d) In the event the Employer hires a regular or temporary employee to a regular or temporary position to commence work within twelve (12) months of the Employee leaving employment with any of the Employers listed below, when the Employee has not been terminated for cause, the Employee shall have service with the previous Employer recognized for vacation entitlement, increment placement, retirement and severance allowance. Employees who have retired and received a retirement allowance from the previous Employer shall not have their previous service recognized with the new Employer for the purpose of retirement allowance. Accumulated sick leave benefits shall be recognized by the hiring Employer. Qualifying periods under the Benefits Plans of the hiring Employer will be as set out in the Plans. The Employers listed for the purpose of this article are District Health Authorities 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8.
- (e) Effective the date of signing of this Agreement, in the event the Employer hires a regular employee to a regular position to commence work within twelve (12) months of the Employee leaving employment with any of the Employers listed below, when the Employee has not been terminated for cause, she shall have seniority with the previous employer recognized. In such event, the employee's seniority date shall be moved forward by the amount of time spent outside the DHA bargaining units listed below. Effective the date of signing of this

Agreement, if the Employer hires a temporary employee as a temporary or casual employee within six (6) months of the employee leaving employment with any of the Employers covered by this Agreement, and provided the employee was not terminated for cause, the employee shall have temporary seniority with the previous Employer recognized. The Employers listed for the purpose of this article are District Health Authorities 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8.

## 1.03 Gender

Unless any provision of this Agreement otherwise specifies, words importing to the masculine gender shall include females and vice versa.

# 1.04 Classification Groupings\*

The following classification grouping shall be used in the interpretation of this collective agreement:

"Nursing Classifications" are the following: Public Health Nurse and Nurse Rehabilitation Counsellor, Detox/Inpatient Team Leader, Intake Nurse, Staff Nurse CC.

"Healthcare Classifications" are the following: Licensed Practical Nurse, Team Coordinator, Counsellor, Treatment Team Leader, Community Outreach Worker, Research and Statistics Officer, Program Administration Officer 1, 2, 3, 4, Dental Hygienist, Clinical Therapist, Nutritionist, Community Health Worker, Primary Care Attendant, Community Home Visitor, Research and Data Analyst, Community Home Visitor Coordinator, Health Educator, Intake Worker, Prevention and Education Officer, Quality Management Coordinator, Youth Wellness Coordinator, Care Coordinator, Continuing Care Referral Assistant, Placement Coordinator, Planning and Development Officer, Financial Services Officer II, Recreation Therapist, Health Promoter (Public Health), Health Promotion & Prevention Team Leader.

"Clerical Classifications" are the following: Clerk 1, 2, 3, 4, Clerk 3 Financial CC, Secretary 1, 2, Secretary II CC.

"Service Support Classifications" are the following: Maintenance Worker, Cook Housekeeping Aide.

**1.05** For the purpose of this Agreement, "District Health Authorities" refers to the following Employers:

District Health Authority 1 is South Shore District Health Authority

District Health Authority 2 is South West Nova District Health Authority

District Health Authority 3 is Annapolis Valley District Health Authority

District Health Authority 4 is Colchester East Hants Health Authority

District Health Authority 5 is Cumberland Health Authority

District Health Authority 6 is Pictou County Health Authority

District Health Authority 7 is Guysborough Antigonish Strait Health Authority

District Health Authority 8 is Cape Breton District Health Authority

#### **ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION**

## 2.01 Bargaining Agent Recognition

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive Bargaining Agent for all employees in the Bargaining Unit.

## 2.02 No Discrimination for Union Activity

The parties agree that there will be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practised with respect to any employee for reason of membership or activity in the Union.

## **ARTICLE 3 - NO DISCRIMINATION**

#### 3.01 No Discrimination

The Union and the Employer support a workplace free of discrimination. The Employer or any person acting on behalf of the Employer shall not refuse to continue to employ any employee or otherwise discriminate against any employee on the basis of the prohibited grounds as set out in the Human Rights Act except as authorized by the Human Rights Act or other applicable legislation.

## 3.02 Harassment

The Employer shall provide and the Union and employees shall support a workplace free from harassment including personal, sexual and harassment based on the protected grounds as set out in the Human Rights Act. The Employer shall maintain a policy on workplace harassment.

## **ARTICLE 4 - APPLICATION**

# 4.01 Application

This Agreement including each of the Memoranda of Agreement and the Appendices which are attached applies to and is binding on the Union, the employees, and the Employer.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - FUTURE LEGISLATION**

# 5.01 Future Legislation

In the event that any law passed by the Legislature applying to the employees covered by this Agreement renders null and void any provision of this Agreement, the remaining provisions of the Agreement shall remain in effect for the term of the Agreement.

## **5.02 Conflict With Policy**

A provision in this Agreement that conflicts with an Employer policy prevails over the Employer policy.

#### **ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

## 6.01 Management Rights

The management and direction of employees and operations is vested exclusively in the Employer. All the functions, rights, powers and authority which the Employer has not specifically abridged, deleted or modified by this Agreement are recognized by the Union as being retained by the Employer.

# 6.02 Consistent Application

The Employer agrees that management rights will not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with the express provisions of this Agreement.

## 6.03 Delegation of Authority

The Employer reserves the right to delegate any authority provided under this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS**

#### 7.01 No Lockout or Strike

The Employer shall not cause a lockout and an employee shall not strike during the term of this Agreement.

#### 7.02 No Sanction of Strike

The Union shall not sanction, encourage, or support financially or otherwise, an illegal strike by its members or any of them who are governed by the provisions of the Trade Union Act.

# 7.03 Emergency Services

(a) Notwithstanding an employee's right to strike, the Union agrees that during a legal strike, a sufficient number of bargaining unit employees will be provided to assist the Employer where there are insufficient numbers of excluded persons to provide emergency treatment or care of any patient or emergency response (such as a disaster, pandemic or outbreak), if, in the opinion of the majority of the Emergency Services Evaluation Committee, a patient's life would be endangered. (b) The Emergency Services Evaluation Committee shall consist of equal representation from the Employer and the Union.

## **ARTICLE 8 - PROVISION OF BULLETIN BOARD SPACE**

#### 8.01 Bulletin Boards

The Employer will provide the Union with bulletin board space for the posting of notices pertaining to elections, appointments and meeting dates, news items, social and recreational affairs.

#### 8.02 Distribution of Union Literature

The Employer shall, where facilities permit, make available to the Union specific locations on its premises for the placement of bulk quantities of literature of the Union.

## 8.03 Computer Access

Where possible, providing no additional costs are incurred by the Employer, authorized representatives of the Union shall be granted computer access for the purpose of distributing Union notices to members of the bargaining unit.

## **ARTICLE 9 – INFORMATION\***

#### 9.01 Copies of Agreement

The Employer and the Union agree to share equally in the cost of reproducing the Collective Agreement. The Employer agrees to distribute copies of Collective Agreement to all members of the Bargaining Unit.

## 9.02 Letter of Appointment

Upon hiring or change of status, the employee and the Union shall be advised in writing of the employee's classification pay grade and employment status.

# 9.03 Employer to Acquaint New Employees\*

- (a) The Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that a collective agreement is in effect including the conditions of employment set out in the articles concerning checkoff and stewards. The Employer shall provide each new employee with a copy of the Collective Agreement.
- (b)\* The Employer agrees to allow the union up to twenty (20) minutes during employee orientation to distribute union literature related to the orientation of new union members.

## 9.04 Position Descriptions

The following provisions shall apply to providing and revising position descriptions:

- (a) The Employer shall, upon request by an Employee in a position that has existed for six (6) months or more, provide a signed, official position description outlining the duties and responsibilities assigned to that Employee's position;
- (b) Where a position has been newly created and an official, signed position description is unavailable, the Employer shall, upon request by an Employee in that position, provide a general description of the position outlining the duties and responsibilities assigned to the position;
- (c) Copies of all official position descriptions or general descriptions provided to Employees shall also be provided to the Union;
- (d) The Employer will endeavour to ensure that position descriptions are reviewed and revised where necessary at periodic intervals, but under no circumstances shall that interval be in excess of four (4) years.

## 9.05 Training

The Employer shall continue to make available appropriate training programs to enable employees to perform the present and future duties of their position more effectively.

# 9.06 Bargaining Unit Information

With reasonable notice, the Employer agrees to provide the Union information relating to employees in the bargaining unit as may be reasonably required by the Union for the purpose of collective bargaining and administration of the Collective Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 10 – APPOINTMENT\***

## 10.01 Probationary Period

A newly hired employee shall be appointed to a position on a probationary basis for a period not to exceed twelve (12) calendar months.

#### **10.02 Confirmation of Permanent Appointment**

- (a) The Employer may, after an employee has served in a position on a probationary basis for a period of six (6) months, confirm the appointment.
- (b) The Employer shall, after the employee has served in a position on a probationary basis for a period of twelve (12) months, confirm the appointment.

## **10.03 Termination of Probationary Appointment**

The Employer may terminate the employment of a probationary employee at any time.

## **10.04 Notification of Appointments and Terminations**

The Employer shall advise the Union within twenty (20) days of the appointment, termination or change of status of each employee in the Bargaining Unit.

#### 10.05 Secondment\*

Where an employee is being seconded from the Employer to a position involving another employer, the terms and conditions of the secondment agreement will be established by agreement of the Employer and the Union.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - JOB POSTING\***

## 11.01 Job Posting

- (a) Where the Employer determines that the position is to be filled and:
  - (i) A regular vacancy exists; or
  - (ii) A new regular position is created; or
  - (iii) A temporary vacancy exists as a result of a leave of absence of four (4) months or more:

a notice shall be posted for a minimum of ten (10) calendar days on all bulletin boards designated for posting in buildings where employees of the bargaining unit work.

- (b) The Employer reserves the right to post simultaneously such positions internally and externally.
- (c) Only those postings which cannot be filled by a bargaining unit employee who meets all of the requirements of the job will be filled by a non-bargaining unit employee.
- (d) Where the Employer decides to award a position to the senior qualified applicant, it may do so without conducting interviews.
- (e) Except for circumstances as outlined in 11.03, regular employees appointed to temporary positions as outlined in 11.01 (a)(iii) shall be required to complete six (6) months or the entire term of the position whichever is lesser unless the employee is the successful candidate for a regular position. Except for circumstances as outlined in 11.03, Appendix "3", a casual or temporary employee shall be required to complete the entire term of the position unless

the employee is the successful candidate for a regular position. This provision shall not apply to employees in temporary positions under the provisions of Article 34.

- (f) Upon request, an employee will be provided with the reasons why they were not the successful candidate.
- (g) The Employer will fill posted positions within sixty (60) calendar days of the closing of a posting.

# 11.02 Filling Vacancies

# (i) Temporary Positions

Where it is determined by the Employer that:

- (a) two or more applicants for a position in the bargaining unit are qualified; and
- (b) those applicants are of relatively equal merit,

preference in filling that vacancy shall be given to the applicant with the greatest length of seniority.

# (ii) Regular Positions

Where it is determined by the Employer that:

- (a) two or more applicants for a position in the bargaining unit are qualified; and
- (b) those applicants are of relatively equal merit,

preference in filling that vacancy shall be given to the applicant with the greatest length of regular seniority. If there are no qualified regular employees, temporary and casual applicants shall be considered over external candidates.

## 11.03 Trial Period\*

The successful applicant for promotion to a new or vacant position shall be placed on a trial period for the first four hundred and ninety five (495) hours worked (excluding any hours that an employee does not work due to an approved leave of absence) in the new position. If the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the new position during the trial period or wishes to return to her former position, she shall be returned to her former position and salary, without loss of seniority. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of position shall be returned to her same position and salary, without loss of seniority.

#### 11.04 Return to Former Position

- (a) Notwithstanding Article 11.01, where the Employer deems it necessary to recruit employees from within the bargaining unit who do not meet the qualifications of the position but are currently enrolled in a program leading to meeting the qualifications in a reasonable time period as determined by the Employer, such employees may be appointed with the condition that the employee obtain the required qualifications in an agreed time period. Failure of the employee to achieve the required qualifications within the agreed time period or any mutually agreed extension to such time period will result in the employee being returned to their former position or to an equivalent position where their former position is not available.
- (b) Notwithstanding Article 11.01 where the Employer deems it necessary to recruit new employees from outside the bargaining unit who do not meet the qualifications of the position but are currently enrolled in a program leading to meeting the qualifications in a reasonable time period as determined by the Employer, such new employees may be hired with the condition that they obtain the required qualifications in an agreed time period. Failure of the employee to achieve the required qualifications within the agreed time period or any mutually agreed extension to such time period, will, notwithstanding Article 34.12, result in their being given a lay-off notice and otherwise being subject to the lay-off/recall provisions under Article 34.
- (c) Where appropriate, the Employer may (but shall not be obligated to) offer financial or other support to such employees to assist them in obtaining the required qualifications.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - CHECKOFF**

#### 12.01 Deduction of Union Dues

The Employer will, as a condition of employment, deduct an amount equal to the amount of the membership dues or assessment uniformly applied to a bargaining unit employees from the bi-weekly pay of all employees in the bargaining unit.

#### 12.02 Notification of Deduction

The Union shall inform the Employer in writing of the authorized deduction to be checked off for employees mentioned in Article 12.01.

## 12.03 Religious Exclusions

Deductions for membership dues shall not apply to any employee who for religious reasons cannot pay union dues provided he makes a contribution equal to said union dues to some recognized charitable cause.

#### 12.04 Remittance of Union Dues

The amounts deducted in accordance with Article 12.01, shall be remitted to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union by cheque within a reasonable time after deductions are made and shall be accompanied by particulars identifying each employee and the deductions made on his behalf.

# 12.05 Liability

The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this Article except for any claim or liability arising out of an error committed by the Employer.

#### 12.06 Professional and Association Dues

Upon request of an employee, the Employer shall deduct the annual professional registration dues paid by the employee from the salary of the employee provided that such registration is required for the employee to work in her position. It is the responsibility of the employee to ensure that all registration information is currently submitted to her Association within the submission deadline.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - STEWARDS**

# 13.01 Recognition

The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint employees as Stewards.

#### 13.02 Notification

- (a) The Employer and the Union will agree on the number of Stewards, taking into account both operational and geographical considerations;
- (b) The Union agrees to provide the Employer with a list of the employees designated as Stewards for each jurisdictional area.

# 13.03 Servicing of Grievances

- (a) It is understood that Officers, Stewards and members of the Union have their regular work to perform on behalf of the Employer.
- (b) It is acknowledged that grievances should be serviced as soon as possible and that if it is necessary to service a grievance during working hours, Stewards will not leave their jobs without giving an explanation for leaving and obtaining the Employer's permission. Permission will not be unreasonably withheld. The Steward shall report back to the Employer before resuming the normal duties of his position.

# 13.04 Presence of Union Steward at Meeting

An employee may request that a Union Steward be present at a meeting with management where the Employer expects to be seeking information from the employee that could lead to disciplinary action against the employee. Such requests will not be unreasonably denied. Arrangements for the attendance of a Steward at such meetings shall be made in accordance with Article 13.03(b). Where management intends to interview an employee for disciplinary purposes, management shall notify the employee in advance of the purpose and reasons for the interview, in order that the employee may contact a Steward, provided that this does not result in an undue delay of the appropriate action being taken.

## **ARTICLE 14 - TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS**

# 14.01 Leave Without Pay

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, special leave without pay shall be granted to employees and such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld for Union business:

- (a) as members of the Board of Directors of the Union for the attendance at Board meetings;
- (b) as members of the Bargaining Unit Negotiating Committees of the Union for the attendance at Committee Meetings;
- (c) as required delegates to attend special conventions including, N.U.P.G.E., C.L.C., Nova Scotia Federation of Labour;
- (d) as members of standing Committees of the Union for the attendance at meetings of standing Committees;
- (e) as members of the Executive to attend Executive Meetings of the Nova Scotia Federation of Labour.
- (f) special leaves without pay shall be granted to employees who are selected or appointed to attend Union educational programs or to work as replacements for Union staff on a relief basis and for such other purposes as may be agreed by the Employer, provided that operational requirements permit and on reasonable notice.

## 14.02 Notification to Employer

The Union shall notify the Employer of the names, including the department wherein the employee is employed, of the members of the Board of Directors and Bargaining Unit Negotiating Committee.

# 14.03 Annual Meeting

- (a) Where operational requirements permit and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant leave with pay for a period not exceeding two (2) days, and leave with pay for travelling time for such portion of the working day prior to and following the meeting as may be required, to employees who are elected or appointed as registered delegates to attend the Annual Meeting of the Union. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (b) The Union shall notify the Employer of the names, including the department wherein the employee is employed, of the registered delegates to the Annual Meeting of the Union at least three (3) weeks in advance of the Annual Meeting.

# 14.04 Number of Employees Eligible

The number of employees eligible for special leave provisions under Article 14.01 and 14.03 shall be in accordance with the numbers laid down in the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union Constitution.

# **14.05 Contract Negotiations**

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant leave with pay for not more than two (2) representatives of the bargaining unit for the purpose of attending contract negotiation meetings with the Employer on behalf of the Union. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### 14.06 Arbitration

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant leave with pay to employees who are:

- (a) Summoned to attend as a witness before an arbitrator;
- (b) Meeting with management in joint consultation as prescribed by Article 28.

#### 14.07 Grievance Meetings

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant leave with pay to an employee for the purpose of attending grievance meetings with the Employer. Where the employee is required to travel to meet the convenience of the Employer for the location of the grievance meeting, the employee shall be provided with reasonable travel time and expenses in accordance with Article 29.

## 14.08 No Loss of Service

For the purpose of this Article, approved special leave without pay shall not be subject to the provisions of Article 1.02(b).

#### 14.09 Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union President

- (a) An employee who intends to offer for the position of President of the Union shall notify the Employer as soon as possible after declaring such intention to seek the full-time office of President.
- (b) An employee elected or appointed as President of the Union shall be given a leave of absence without pay for the term(s) to serve.
- (c) A leave of absence for a second (2<sup>nd</sup>) and subsequent consecutive terms shall be granted in accordance with paragraphs (a) and (b).
- (d) For the purpose of paragraphs (b) and (c), the leave of absence shall commence on July 1 and end on June 30.
- (e) All benefits of the employee shall continue in effect while the employee is serving as President, and, for such purposes, the employee shall be deemed to be in the employ of the Employer.
- (f) Notwithstanding paragraphs (b) and (e), the gross salary of the President shall be determined by the Union and paid to the President by the Employer, and the amount of this gross salary shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Union.
- (g) Upon expiration of his/her term of office, the employee shall be reinstated in the position he/she held immediately prior to the commencement of leave or in a position mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Employer, at a salary level commensurate with the position previously held.
- (h) Notwithstanding paragraph (b) or any provision of the collective agreement to the contrary, the period of leave shall be deemed to be continuous service with the Employer for all purposes.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of the collective agreement, vacation earned but not used prior to taking office shall be carried over to be taken in the fiscal year in which the employee returns from leave of absence.
- (j) The union shall reimburse to the Employer the Employer's share of contributions for E.I. premiums, CPP, Superannuation, group insurance premiums and Workers' Compensation premiums made on behalf of the employee during the period of leave of absence.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK**

#### 15.01 Hours of Work

Employees are classified as indicated in Memorandum of Agreement #2 which shall form part of the agreement.

(a) For the employees in classification Group A, the hours of work shall be seventy (70) hours per two (2) week period, normally consisting of ten (10) seven (7) hour shifts inclusive of two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of one (1) unpaid sixty (60) minute meal period;

- (b) For the employees in classification Group B, the hours of work shall be seventy (70) hours per two (2) week period, normally consisting of ten (10) seven (7) hour shifts inclusive of two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of one (1) unpaid sixty (60) minute meal period. Clinical Therapists in classification Group C and employees in classification Group B are excepted from the application of overtime in Article 16; or
- (c) For the employees in classification Group C , the hours of work shall be seventy-five (75) hours per two (2) week period, normally consisting of ten (10) seven and one half (7.5) hour shifts inclusive of two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of one (1) unpaid thirty (30) minute meal period. During break Counsellors are required to remain available in the work unit. If a Counsellor is called to work during the designated breaks, Article 15.11 Recall During Meal or Rest Breaks applies.

# 15.02 Maintaining Coverage

Employees agree to maintain coverage which, in the opinion of the Employer, is adequate during the shift change, meal periods and rest periods.

#### 15.03 Variation in Hours of Work

The Union and the Employer may agree to implement hours of work, including a twelve (12) hour shift, which are different than those set out in the Appendices for each operational unit. In such circumstances, a memorandum of agreement shall be executed, shall form part of this agreement and shall take precedence over the hours of work as set out in this agreement.

#### 15.04 No Guarantee of Hours

An employee's scheduled hours of work shall not be construed as guaranteeing the employee minimum or maximum hours of work but is a basis for computing overtime.

#### 15.05 Work Schedules

- (a) The Employer will endeavour, where possible, to provide that no employee will be scheduled to work more than seven (7) consecutive days in a two (2) week period.
- (b) The Employer shall provide each shift employee one weekend off in three (3).
- (c) During the two (2) week period employees shall, whenever possible, receive two (2) days off in each calendar week, or four (4) days off in each two (2) week period. At least two (2) of the days off in the two week period shall be consecutive days off.
- (d) The Employer shall provide that no employee is scheduled to work more than five (5) consecutive night shifts in a two week period.
- (e) This does not preclude shift arrangements acceptable to both Employer and employee(s) in variance to the foregoing.

#### 15.06 Rotation of Shifts

- (a) Employees required to work rotating shifts shall be scheduled in such a way as to, as equitably as possible, assign the rotation equally.
- (b) The Employer and the Union may agree to other shift combinations that result in an average standard hours of pay in each two week period.

# 15.07 Exchange of Shifts

Provided sufficient advance notice is given and with approval of the Employer, employees may exchange shifts if there is no increase in cost to the Employer.

#### 15.08 Variance in Hours

The Employer may vary the scheduled hours and days of work in a position, the duties and nature of which may require varied hours and days of work, subject to the provisions of this Article.

# 15.09 Posting of Shift Schedules

- (a) Schedules shall be posted at least four (4) weeks in advance of the schedule to be worked and the schedule shall be for a minimum of two (2) weeks. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to change shifts. If the Employer changes the shift schedule within forty-eight (48) hours of the shift, the employee(s) affected shall be entitled to overtime compensation for that shift. The Employer must inform employees of the shift changes made to the posted schedules.
- (b) When the Employer requires an employee who is regularly scheduled to work Monday through Friday, to work on a weekend as part of her regular bi-weekly hours the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to provide the employee with four (4) weeks notice, but in any case not less than two (2) weeks notice of the weekend work.

#### 15.10 Meal & Rest Periods

- (a) The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to organize the work assignment on a shift in such a way as to allow the employee to have designated meal and rest period(s) at regular intervals during the scheduled shifts. Employees shall be permitted to combine meal and/or rest period(s) where operational requirements permit.
- (b) On shifts where the workload will not permit, employees may have to take their meal period(s) and/or rest period(s) on the work unit or in the facility.

## 15.11 Recall During Meal or Rest Periods

If, due to operational requirements, an employee is required to miss a designated meal or rest period or part thereof and the total break period cannot be granted during the

shift, the total meal or rest period shall be compensated at the applicable overtime rates or time off at a mutually agreeable time.

# **15.12 Flexible Working Hours**

The Employer shall, where operational requirements and efficiency of the service permit, authorize a flexible working hours schedule, if the Employer is satisfied that an adequate number of employees in the unit have requested and wish to participate in such a schedule.

#### 15.13 Modified Work Week

Where employee(s) in a unit have indicated a desire to work a modified work week the Employer may authorize a modified work week schedule, provided operational requirements permit and the provision of services are not adversely affected. The averaging period for a modified work week shall not exceed three (3) calendar weeks, and the work day shall not exceed ten (10) hours.

## 15.14 Deviations from Scheduled Hours

It is recognized and understood that deviations from the regular schedules of work will be necessary and will unavoidably result from several causes, such as but not limited to, leaves of absence, absenteeism, temporary shortage of personnel and emergencies. Such deviations shall not be a violation of this contract.

# 15.15 Return to Regular Times of Work

In the event that a modified work week or flexible working hours systems provided for in Articles 15.12 and 15.13:

- (a) does not result in the provision of a satisfactory service to the public;
- (b) incurs an increase in cost to the Employer; or
- (c) is operationally impractical for other reasons;

the Employer may require a return to regular times of work, in which case the employee shall be provided with sixty (60) calendar days' advance written notice of such requirement.

#### 15.16 Conversion of Hours

Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, the following paid leave benefits will be converted to hours on the basis of one day's benefit being equivalent to 1/10 of the regular bi-weekly hours for the employee's classification:

- calculation of service under Article 1.02(b)
- annual vacation entitlement
- vacation carry over
- paid holidays under Article 19.01

- leave for birth of child
- leave for family illness
- leave for emergency
- leave for medical/dental appointments
- sick leave
- acting pay qualifying period
- rest periods

## 15.17 Charge Premiums

- (a) During the off duty hours of the Nurse Manager, a Nurse designated as being "in charge" shall be paid a premium of \$ .70 per hour. The off duty hours are those hours when the Nurse Manager is not normally on duty (e.g., evening, nights, weekends, paid holidays.) During on duty hours of the Nurse Manager, where the Nurse Manager is not reasonably accessible, a Nurse designated as being "in charge" shall be paid eight percent (8%) higher than her existing rate of pay.
- (b) Any other employee, in the absence of their Manager or Supervisor designated as being "in-charge" shall be paid a premium of \$0.70 per hour.

#### **ARTICLE 16 – OVERTIME\***

# **16.01 Exception to Overtime Provision**

- (a) Notwithstanding any of the provisions in this Article, overtime does not apply to Clinical Therapists in classification Group C and all classification Group B, consisting of but not limited to Community Health Workers, Community Outreach Worker, Public Health Nutritionists, Research & Statistical Officers, Detox Team Leaders, Treatment Team Leaders and Program Administration Officers who shall be granted straight time off in lieu of authorized overtime to be taken at a mutually agreed time.
- (b) Where operational requirements do not permit an employee who is excluded from overtime entitlement under Article 16.01(a) to be granted time-off with pay in lieu of overtime hours worked within a twelve (12) month period, he/she shall be entitled to receive compensation for such accumulated hours. Compensation will be paid once per year, at the employee's regular straight time rate of pay in respect to the hours accumulated as of March 1<sup>st</sup> in any year for which time-off has not been granted.

#### 16.02 Definitions

In this Article and Article 19:

(a) "Overtime" means authorized work in excess of an employee's regular work day or the normal bi-weekly hours for employees whose hours of work are set out under the provisions of Article 15.

(b) "time and one-half" means one and one-half (1½) times the straight time rate calculated by the formula:

bi-weekly rate x 1 ½ normal bi-weekly hours

(c) "double time" means two (2) times the straight time rate calculated by the formula:

bi-weekly rate x 2 normal bi-weekly hours

#### **16.03 Allocation of Overtime**

Subject to the operational requirements of the service, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort:

- (a) to allocate overtime work on a fair and equitable basis among readily available and qualified employees; and
- (b) where overtime is predictable, employees shall be provided with a minimum of four (4) hours notice.

# 16.04 Overtime Eligibility

An employee must work at least twenty (20) minutes beyond his normal shift before being eligible for overtime compensation.

#### 16.05 Overtime Meal Allowance\*

- (a) An employee, who works a minimum of three (3) hours' overtime immediately following his scheduled hours of work and where it is not practical for him to enjoy his usual meal time before commencing such work, shall be granted reasonable time with pay, as determined by the Employer, in order that he may take a meal break either at or adjacent to her/his place of work. Under such conditions he shall be reimbursed her/his expenses for one (1) meal in the amount of \$15.00, except where free meals are provided.
- (b) If the employee continues to work beyond three (3) hours' overtime, a further meal break and allowance (or meal) shall be provided upon completion of an additional four (4) hours worked and upon completion of every four (4) hours thereafter.
- (c) An employee who is called back to work under the provisions of Article 17 shall be provided with a meal break and allowance (or meal), in accordance with (a) above after the first four (4) hours worked and upon completion of every four (4) hours thereafter.

## **16.06 Overtime Compensation**

Employees working overtime shall be compensated at the rate of one and one half (1½T) times the regular hourly rate for the overtime worked. An employee who works in excess of four (4) hours overtime in any one day shall be compensated at the rate of two times (2T) the regular hourly rate for the overtime worked which shall include the first four (4) hours at double time.

## 16.07 Computation of Overtime

In computing overtime a period of thirty (30) minutes or less shall be counted as one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour and a period of more than thirty (30) minutes but less than sixty (60) minutes shall be counted as one (1) hour.

## 16.08 Form of Compensation

Compensation for overtime shall be paid except where, upon request of the employee and with the approval of the Employer or his representative, overtime may be granted in the form of time off in lieu of overtime hours worked.

## 16.09 Carry Over of Overtime

- (a) Where time off with pay in lieu of overtime hours worked has not been granted prior to the end of the second calendar month immediately following the month in which the overtime was worked, compensation for overtime shall be paid.
- (b) Where operational requirements permit, the Employer may, with mutual agreement of the Employee, authorize an extension of time limits provided in (a) above.

## 16.10 No Layoff to Compensate for Overtime

An employee shall not be subject to layoff by the Employer during regularly scheduled hours of work, established in accordance with Article 15, in order to equalize any overtime worked.

### 16.11 Daylight Saving Time

The changing of Daylight Saving Time to Standard Time, or vice versa, shall not result in employees being paid more or less than their normal scheduled daily hours. The hour difference shall be split between the employees completing their shift and those commencing their shift.

### 16.12 Union Consultation

The Union is entitled to consult the Employer whenever it is alleged that employees are required to work unreasonable amounts of overtime.

#### ARTICLE 17 – STANDBY AND CALL-BACK\*

## 17.01 Standby Compensation\*

- (a) Employees, who are required by the Employer to standby shall receive standby pay of thirteen dollars and fifty cents (\$13.50) for each standby period of eight (8) hours or less.
- (b) Employees who are required by the Employer to standby on a Holiday as listed in Article 19.01 shall receive twenty seven dollars (\$27.00) for each standby period of 8 hours or less.

## 17.02 Limit on Standby

Employees shall not be required to standby more than one (1) weekend in three (3).

# 17.03 Employee Availability

- (a) An employee designated for standby duty shall be available during her/his period of standby duty at a known telephone number or pager number and be able to report for duty as quickly as possible if called.
- (b) The Employer, at its own expense, will supply pagers or cellular phones, in good working condition, to members of the bargaining unit who are designated for standby duty.

## 17.04 Call-back Compensation

An employee who is called back to work and who reports for work shall be compensated for a minimum of four (4) hours at the straight time rate for the period worked, or the applicable overtime rate, whichever is the greater. Any subsequent call during the four (4) hours call-back period shall be considered part of the same call-back except in respect of call-back transportation allowance. The minimum guarantee of four (4) hours' pay at the straight time rate shall apply only once during each eight (8) consecutive hours on standby.

# 17.05 Transportation Allowance

Employees called back shall have either their taxi fare paid to a maximum of ten (\$10.00) per call each way or be paid their applicable kilometre allowance. Receipts will be required for a taxi fare reimbursement.

### 17.06 Rest Interval After Callback

The Employer shall provide at least six (6) hours between the time an employee completes a period of callback and the commencement of the employee's next scheduled shift. During an eight (8) hour period of standby, if the first callback is within two (2) hours of the commencement of the next scheduled shift, the employee shall not be entitled to a six (6) hour rest interval. If mutually agreeable between the

employee and the Employer, arrangements in variance to the foregoing will be acceptable and will not constitute a violation of this Article.

## 17.07 Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken

Subject to Article 17.06, where, because operational requirements do not permit or where mutually agreeable variations between the employee and the Employer are not acceptable, the six (6) hour rest period, pursuant to Article 17.06, cannot be accommodated, the hours worked from the commencement of the regular shift to the end of the period on which the rest period would normally end shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1  $\frac{1}{2}$ T).

### **ARTICLE 18 – VACATIONS\***

## 18.01 Annual Vacation Entitlement\*

- (a) An employee shall be entitled to receive annual vacation leave with pay:
  - (i) each year during his/her first forty eight (48) months of service at the rate of one and one-quarter (11/4) days for each month of service; and
  - (ii) each year after forty eight (48) months of service at the rate of one and two-thirds (1-2/3) days for each month of service; and
  - (iii)\* each year after one hundred and sixty-eight (168) months of service at the rate of two and one-twelfth (2-1/12) days for each month of service; and
  - (iv)\* each year after two hundred and eighty-eight (288) months of service at the rate of two and one-half (2½) days for each month of service.
- (b) An employee who, as of April 1, 1999, has achieved at least thirty six (36) months of service towards earning entitlement to more vacation than provided for in Article 18.01(a) by virtue of her terms and conditions of employment with the Employer in effect on October 31, 1997, shall retain that entitlement. Any future increase in vacation entitlement for such employees shall be pursuant to Article 18.01(a).

### 18.02 Vacation Year

The vacation year shall be April 1 to March 31, inclusive.

### 18.03 Authorization

An employee shall be granted vacation leave at such time during the year as the Employer determines.

## 18.04 Vacation Scheduling

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, vacation leave entitlement shall be used within the year in which it is earned. The employee shall advise the Employer in writing of his/her vacation preference as soon as possible for the following vacation year but before February 15th in each year. The Employer will respond in writing by March 15th indicating whether or not the employee's vacation request is authorized.
- (b) Preference of vacation schedule shall be given to those employees with greater seniority as defined in Article 1.01 (b) however, those employees must be transferred into the work unit for six (6) months before they can use seniority to provide priority for selection of vacations.
- (c) Where operational requirements necessitate a decision by the Employer to place a restriction on the number of employees on vacation leave at any one time, preference shall be given to employees with greatest seniority.
- (d) The Employer shall post the approved vacation schedule no later than March 15th.
- (e) After the vacation schedule is posted, if operational requirements permit, further requests for vacation leave shall be considered on a first come first served basis. If two employees apply for vacation on the same day, preference shall be given to the employee with the greatest seniority.

# 18.05 Employee Request

Subject to the operational requirements of the service, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that an employee's written request for vacation leave is approved. Where, in scheduling vacation leave, the Employer is unable to comply with the employee's written request, the Employer or delegated official shall:

- (a) give the reason for disapproval; and
- (b) make every reasonable effort to grant an employee's vacation leave in the amount and at such time as the employee may request in an alternative request.

### 18.06 Unbroken Vacation

Where operational requirements permit, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to grant to an employee his request to enjoy his vacation entitlement in a single unbroken period of leave.

### **18.07 Vacation Carry Over**

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, vacation leave for a period of not more than five (5) days may, with the consent of the Employer, be carried over to the following year, and shall be paid out if not used by the close of that year due to operational requirements of the Employer. Request for carry over

entitlement shall be made in writing by the employee to the Employer not later than January 31st of the year in which the vacation is earned, provided however that the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice of the request. The Employer shall respond in writing within one (1) calendar month of receiving an employee's request.

(b) An employee unable to take vacation within the vacation year due to illness or injury shall be entitled to carry over this unused vacation to the subsequent year.

## **18.08 Accumulative Vacation Carry Over**

An employee, with the approval of the Employer, may be granted permission to carry over five (5) days of his vacation leave each year to a maximum of twenty (20) days, if in the opinion of the Employer, it will not interfere with the efficient operation of the Employer.

## 18.09 Use of Accumulated Vacation Carry Over

The vacation leave approved pursuant to Article 18.08 shall be used within five (5) years subsequent to the date on which it was approved and shall lapse if not used within that period unless the Employer agrees that the time be extended.

## 18.10 Borrowing of Unearned Vacation Credits

With the approval of the Employer, an employee who has been employed for a period of five (5) or more years may borrow five (5) days from the vacation leave of the next subsequent year.

## **18.11 Employee Compensation Upon Separation**

An employee, upon separation from employment, shall be compensated for vacation leave to which the employee is entitled.

## **18.12 Employer Compensation Upon Separation**

An employee, upon separation from the Employer, shall compensate the Employer for vacation which was taken but to which the employee was not entitled.

### **18.13 Vacation Credits Upon Death**

When the employment of an employee who has been granted more vacation with pay than earned is terminated by death, the employee is considered to have earned the amount of leave with pay granted.

### 18.14 Vacation Records

An employee is entitled to be informed, upon request, of the balance of their vacation leave.

#### 18.15 Recall from Vacation

The Employer will make every reasonable effort not to recall an employee to duty after the employee has proceeded on vacation leave.

## 18.16 Reimbursement of Expenses upon Recall

Where, during any period of vacation leave, an employee is recalled to duty, the employee shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses, subject to the provisions of Article 29, that the employee incurs:

- (a) in proceeding to the employee place of duty; and
- (b) in returning to the place from which the employee was recalled if the employee immediately resumes vacation leave upon completing the assignment for which the employee was recalled.
- (c) In addition to the above, an employee shall be compensated at two (2) times her regular rate of pay for time worked during the period of recall from vacation.

## 18.17 Reinstatement of Vacation Upon Recall

The period of vacation leave so displaced resulting from recall and transportation time in accordance with Articles 18.15 and 18.16, shall either be added to the vacation period, if requested by the employee or reinstated for use at a later date.

# **18.18 Illness During Vacation**

If an employee becomes ill during a period of vacation and the illness is for a period of three (3) or more consecutive days, and such illness is supported by a medical certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner, the employee will be granted sick leave and the employee vacation credit restored to the extent of the sick leave.

### **ARTICLE 19 – HOLIDAYS**

### 19.01 Paid Holidays

The holidays for employees shall be:

(a)	New Year's Day	(f)	Labour Day
(b)	Good Friday	(g)	Thanksgiving Day
(c)	Easter Monday	(h)	Remembrance Day
(d)	Victoria Day	(i)	Christmas Day
(e)	Canada Day	(j)	Boxing Day

(k) one (1) additional day in each year that is recognized to be a provincial or civic holiday in the area in which the employee is employed, or, where no such additional day is recognized as a provincial or civic holiday, the first Monday in August.

- (I) one-half (½) day on Christmas Eve Day beginning at 12:00 noon
- (m) any other day or part of a day declared by the Employer to be a holiday for employees in whole or any part of the Province.
- (n) any other day or part of a day declared by the Federal Government to be a national holiday.

## 19.02 Exception

Article 19.01 does not apply to an employee who is absent without pay on both the working day immediately preceding and the working day following the designated holiday.

# 19.03 Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest

When the day designated as a holiday coincides with the employee's day of rest, the Employer shall, grant the holiday with pay on either:

- (1) the working day immediately following the employee's day of rest; or
- (2) the day following the employee's annual vacation; or
- (3) another mutually acceptable day between the Employer and the employee.

# 19.04 Holiday Coinciding with Paid Leave

Where a day that is a designated holiday for an employee as defined in Article 19.01 falls within a period of leave with pay, the holiday shall not count as a day of leave.

## 19.05 Compensation for Work on a Holiday

Where an employee is scheduled to work on a holiday, and more than one half 1/2 of the employee's scheduled shift falls on the day of a paid holiday, as defined in Article 19.01, the employee shall receive two and 1/2 time compensation as follows:

- (a) pay at the rate of one and one half (1.5 x) their regular rate for the hours worked on the holiday; and
- (b) in addition to the pay for the hours worked on the holiday, the employee shall have the option to have the applicable holiday hours pay pro-rated in accordance with Article 15.01 and Article 38.02 for the day of the holiday or equivalent time off in lieu at a mutually agreed time.
- (c) Time off for banked holiday credits shall be granted at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell, or scheduled at a time mutually agreed between the Employee and the Employer at a later date.

## 19.06 Overtime on a Holiday

An employee is entitled to compensation two point three-three (2.33) times her regular rate of pay for overtime worked on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 19.01, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Article 16.02, based on the employee's regular bi-weekly rate of pay in effect for the regular shift prior to the period in which the overtime is worked.

## 19.07 Christmas or New Year's Day Off

Each employee shall receive either Christmas Day or New Year's Day off, unless otherwise mutually agreed, and every effort will be made to give at least two (2) other holidays off on the actual day of the holiday.

## 19.08 Illness on a Paid Holiday

- (a) An employee who is scheduled to work on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 19.01, and who is unable to report for work due to a reason covered by Article 22.01 shall receive sick leave for that day and shall be granted time off in lieu of the holiday at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the second (2nd) calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell.
- (b) Where time off with pay in lieu of the holiday has not been granted in accordance with Article 19.08(a), compensation shall be granted at the employee's regular rate of pay for those hours.
- (c) an employee who is on Short Term Illness pursuant to Article 22.02, shall be deemed to have received the holiday pay on the day designated as a holiday.

#### **ARTICLE 20 - SPECIAL LEAVE\***

# 20.01 Special Leave

- (a) Subject to operational requirements, the Employer shall grant a leave of absence without pay for personal reasons. The request will not be unreasonably denied. A request by an employee for a leave of absence without pay for personal reasons in order to pursue alternate employment with another employer may be denied by the Employer or granted by the Employer at its sole discretion. The Employer's discretion in such requests shall be applied consistently.
- (b) The Employer may grant a special leave without loss of regular pay for reasons other than those covered under 20.02 to 20.26 inclusive, for such period as it deems circumstances warrant.
- (c) Employees shall be entitled, during the unpaid leave of absence, to continue participation in the Benefit Plans, subject to eligibility provisions within the

- specific Benefit Plans, provided the employee pays 100% of the cost of the participation (both the Employer and Employee portion) in the Benefit Plans.
- (d) Employees who, prior to the unpaid leave of absence, were participating in payroll deductions, such as Canada Savings Bonds, at the commencement of the unpaid leave of absence shall be responsible for making specific arrangements with the Employer for continued participation.

### 20.02 Bereavement Leave\*

- (a) In the event of a death in the immediate family, every employee shall be entitled to special leave without loss of regular pay for a period of up to five (5) consecutive working days for each death. Immediate family is defined as father, mother, step-parents, foster parents, brother, sister, step-sister, step-brother, spouse, child of the employee, father-in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, step child, guardian or ward of the employee, grandparent, step-grandparent, grandchild, or step-grandchild of the employee, and a relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.
- (b) Notwithstanding, an employee's paid leave entitlement for such circumstances will not continue beyond the expiration of seven (7) calendar days commencing midnight following the death. In exceptional circumstances, upon request of the employee, the Employer may agree to divide the period of the bereavement leave or change the commencement date of the leave.
- (c) Every employee shall be entitled to special leave without loss of regular pay up to a maximum of one (1) working day in the event of death of the employee's brother-in-law or sister-in-law, and may be granted up to two (2) days for travel and shall be paid for those travel days which are not regularly scheduled days of rest.
- (d)\* Every employee shall be entitled to one (1) day leave without pay, for the purpose of attending the funeral of an aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, foster parents of the spouse of the employee or grandparents of the spouse of the employee. An employee may be granted up to two (2) days for travel without pay for the purposes of attending the funeral.
- (e) The "in-law" and "step-relative" relationships referred to in this provision will only qualify for bereavement leave in cases where it is a current relationship at the time of the death.
- (f) The above entitlement is subject to the provision that proper notification is made to the Employer.
- (g) If an employee is on vacation or sick leave at the time of bereavement, the employee shall be granted bereavement leave and be credited the appropriate number of days to her/his vacation or sick leave credits.

#### 20.03 Court Leave

- (a) Leave of absence without loss of regular pay shall be given to every employee other than an employee on leave of absence without pay or under suspension, who is required:
  - (i) to serve on a jury; or
  - (ii) by subpoena or summons to attend as a witness in any proceeding held:
    - 1) in or under the authority of a court; or
    - 2) before an arbitrator or umpire or a person or body of persons authorized by law to make an inquiry and to compel the attendance of witnesses before it; or
    - 3) before a legislative council, legislative assembly or any committee thereof that is authorized by law to compel the attendance of witnesses before it.
- (b) Where an employee, as a result of the function the employee fills on behalf of the Employer is required to serve pursuant to Article 20.03(a), on a day other than a regularly scheduled work day, the time spent shall be considered time worked.

# 20.04 Jury Compensation

An employee given leave of absence without loss of regular pay to serve on a jury pursuant to Article 20.03 (a) shall have deducted from the employee's salary an amount equal to the amount that the employee receives for such jury duty after deduction of reasonable expenses.

### 20.05 Examination Leave

Where an employee participates in a personnel selection process for a position with the Employer, the employee shall be granted leave of absence without loss of regular pay for the period during which the employee's presence is required for purposes of the selection or promotion process and for such further period as the Employer considers reasonable for the employee to travel to and from the place where his presence is so required. Such leave of absence shall not be considered to be "on the Employer's business", for purposes of expenses incurred under Article 29. Such leave of absence shall be requested by the employee of his supervisor as soon after the requirement of his presence is known.

# 20.06 Leave for Family Illness

In the case of illness of a member of an employee's immediate family, meaning spouse, son, daughter, or parent, for whose needs no one except the employee can provide, the employee may be granted, after notifying the Employer, leave without loss of regular pay up to a maximum of five (5) days per annum. This leave is for the employee to provide for the temporary care of the employee's immediate family and

for reasonable time to make alternate care arrangements. The Employer may require proof of the need for such leave as he/she considers necessary. Such leave shall not be unreasonably withheld.

## 20.07 Pregnancy Leave

- (a) A pregnant Employee is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to seventeen (17) weeks.
- (b) A Employee shall, no later than the fifth (5th) month of pregnancy, forward to the Employer a written request for pregnancy leave.
- (c) Pregnancy leave shall begin on such date, not sooner than sixteen (16) weeks preceding the expected date of delivery, as the employee determines, and not later than the date of delivery.
- (d) Pregnancy leave shall end on such date not sooner than one (1) week after the date of delivery and not later than seventeen (17) weeks after the pregnancy leave began pursuant to Article 20.07 (c).

## 20.08 Pregnancy Sick Leave

Leave for illness of an Employee arising out of or associated with an Employee's pregnancy prior to the commencement of, or subsequent to the ending of pregnancy leave granted in accordance with Article 20.07, may be granted sick leave in accordance with the provisions of Article 22.

# 20.09 Pregnancy/Birth Leave Allowance

- (a) An employee entitled to pregnancy leave under the provisions of this Agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that she has applied for, and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E.I.) benefits pursuant to Section 22, *Employment Insurance Act*, S.C. 1996, c.23, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B.)
- (b) In respect to the period of pregnancy/birth leave, payments made according to the S.E.B. Plan will consist of the following:
  - (i) Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving E.I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five percent (75%) of her weekly rate of pay for each week of the two (2) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period;
  - (ii) Up to a maximum of five (5) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E.I. benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three percent (93%) of her weekly rate of pay, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E.I. benefits to which the employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.

- (c) For the purpose of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half (1/2) the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for her classification on the day immediately preceding the commencement of her pregnancy leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the employee's classification.
- (d) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, benefits under the S.E.B. Plan will be adjusted accordingly.
- (e) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount she is required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada, where her annual income exceeds one and one-half (1 1/2) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the *Employment Insurance Act*.
- (f) It is understood that employees entitled to the seven (7) weeks Pregnancy/Birth Leave Allowance as provided in this Article may be eligible for an additional Parental Leave Allowance which, when combined with the Pregnancy/Birth Allowance may result in eligibility up to a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks allowance.

#### 20.10 Parental Leave

- (a) An employee who has become a parent of one or more children through the birth of the child or children is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to thirty five (35) weeks.
- (b) The parental leave of an Employee who has taken pregnancy leave and whose newborn child or children arrive in the Employee's home during pregnancy leave,
- (i) shall begin immediately upon completion of the pregnancy leave, without the Employee returning to work; and
- (ii) shall end not later than thirty five (35) weeks after the parental leave began, as determined by the Employee.
- (c) The parental leave for an Employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through the birth of the child or children, other than a parent for whom provision is made in 20.10(b):
  - (i) shall begin on such date coinciding with or after the birth of the child as the Employee determines; and
  - (ii) shall end not later than thirty five (35) weeks after the parental leave began and in any case, no later than fifty two (52) weeks after the child or children first arrive in the Employee's home.

## 20.11 Adoption Leave

(a) An Employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through the placement of the child or children in the care of the Employee for the purpose of adoption of the child or children is entitled to a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to thirty five (35) weeks, or more, if required by the adoption agency.

## (b) The Adoption Leave:

- (i) shall begin on a date determined by the employee coinciding with the arrival of the child or children in the employee's home; and
- (ii) shall end not later than thirty five (35) weeks after the leave began or fifty two (52) weeks after the child or children first arrive in the employee's home, whichever is earlier.
- (iii) In the case of foreign adoption the leave may begin when the employee arrives in the country of the child(s) origin to complete the adoption process previously initiated in Canada. The Employer may require proof of the need for such leave.
- (c) If both adoptive parents are eligible for such leave under the collective agreement between the Union and the Employer, the provisions of this Article may be shared between the two employees such that the total leave is not more than 35 weeks.

# 20.12 Parental/Adoption Leave Allowance

- (a) An employee entitled to parental or adoption leave under the provisions of this Agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that she/he has applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E. I.) benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act, 1996*, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B.) Plan.
- (b) The parental leave allowance of an employee who has taken the pregnancy/birth leave allowance, shall begin immediately upon the exhaustion of the pregnancy/birth allowance without the employee's returning to work.
- (c) In respect to the period of parental or adoption leave, payments made according to the S.E.B. Plan will consist of the following:
  - (i) Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving E. I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five percent (75%) of her/his weekly rate of pay for each week of the two (2) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period;
  - (ii) Up to a maximum of ten (10) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E. I. benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three per cent (93%) of her/his weekly rate of pay,

less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E. I. benefits to which the employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.

- (d) For the purposes of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for her/his classification on the day immediately preceding the commencement of the parental or adoption leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the employee's classification.
- (e) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, payments under the S.E.B. Plan will be adjusted accordingly.
- (f) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount she/he is required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada where her/his annual income exceeds one and one-half (1 ½) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the *Employment Insurance Act*.

#### 20.13 Proof and Notice of Entitlement

- (a) Prior to approving a Pregnancy Leave or Parental Leave, the Employer may require an employee to provide a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner to establish the entitlement of the employee to the Leave, and where applicable, specifying the expected date of delivery.
- (b) To qualify for Adoption Leave, the Employer may require an employee to provide proof of the Adoption to establish the entitlement of the employee to the Adoption Leave.
- (c) An employee applying for Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave or Adoption Leave shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks written notice of the date the employee will begin the leave and the date the employee will return to work upon completion of the leave unless the employee indicates the employee will take the maximum leave to which the employee is entitled.
- (d) Where notice as required under Article 20.13(c) is not possible due to circumstances beyond the control of the Employee, the Employee will provide the Employer as much notice as reasonably practicable of the commencement of the Employee's leave or return to work.

## 20.14 Resumption of Work

When a Employee reports for work upon the expiration of a Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave or Adoption Leave, the Employee shall resume work in the position held by the Employee immediately before the leave began or where that position is

eliminated in a comparable position with not less than the same wages and benefits, with no loss of seniority or benefits accrued to the commencement of the leave.

## 20.15 Participation in Benefit Plans

Subject to the terms of individual benefit plans, while an employee is on Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave or Adoption Leave, the Employer shall allow participation in medical, disability, group life and pension benefit plans. The employee and the Employer will each continue to pay their share of the premium costs for maintaining coverage during the period of Leave.

## 20.16 Service and Seniority

While on Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave or Adoption Leave, an Employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits at the same rate as before the leave for the duration of the leave and the Employee's service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous. However, service accumulated during the Leave shall not be used for the purposes of calculating vacation leave credits.

#### 20.17 Leave Deferral

If an Employee is entitled to Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave or Adoption Leave, and the child to whom the leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding or likely to exceed one (1) week, the Employee is entitled to return to and resume work and defer the unused portion of leave until the child is discharged from the hospital, upon giving the Employer reasonable notice.

### 20.18 Leave for Birth of Child or Adoption

- (a) Where an employee's spouse gives birth to a child, the employee shall be granted special leave with pay up to a maximum of one (1) day. This leave may be divided into two (2) periods and be granted on separate days.
- (b) An employee shall be granted one (1) day special leave with pay for the purpose of adoption of a child pursuant to the laws of the Province. This leave may be divided into two (2) separate periods and granted on separate days. If both adoptive parents are eligible for such leave under this agreement, the amount of paid leave taken under this clause by either one (1) or both parents shall not exceed one (1) day.

# 20.19 Leave for Emergency

An employee shall be granted leave of absence with pay up to two (2) days per annum for a critical condition which requires his personal attention resulting from an emergency (flood, fire, etc.) which cannot be serviced by others or attended to by the employee at a time when the employee is normally off duty.

#### 20.20 Leave for Personal Preventive Care

Employees shall be allowed paid leave of absence up to three (3) days per annum, in order to engage in personal preventive medical and dental care. Such leave will be debited against sick leave credits.

#### 20.21 Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions

- (a) Time lost by an employee as a result of absence or lateness due to storm conditions or because of the condition of public streets and highways or because an employee finds it necessary to seek permission to leave prior to the end of the regular shift must be:
  - (i) made up by the employee at a time agreed upon between the employee and the employee's immediate supervisor; or
  - (ii) charged to the employee's accumulated vacation, accumulated holiday time, or accumulated overtime; or
  - (iii) otherwise deemed to be leave without pay.
  - (iv) Notwithstanding 20.21(a), reasonable lateness beyond the beginning of an employee's regular shift starting time shall not be subject to the provisions of Article 20.21(a)(i), (ii) or (iii), where the lateness is justified by the employee being able to establish to the satisfaction of the immediate supervisor that every reasonable effort has been made by the employee to arrive at the employee's work station at the scheduled time.
- (b) The Employer may, in the event of storm conditions or because of the condition of public streets and highways, and in circumstances where it can be accommodated within operational requirements, determine it appropriate to allow employees to leave work prior to the end of their regular shift, and any time missed from the shift in such circumstances will not be subject to the provisions of Article 20.21(a) (i), (ii), or (iii). Decisions by the Employer in regard to the application of Article 20.21 (b) shall not be made the subject of employee or Union grievances alleging inconsistent treatment of employees.

#### 20.22 Leave for Public Office

- (a) Where an employee is granted time off work as a result of elected activity for the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Governments, such a leave of absence shall be granted without pay for a non renewable maximum period of five years upon written request from the employee.
- (b) Employees who have been granted a leave for public office shall return to the same or comparable position with not less than the same wage rates.
- (c) Employees who have been granted a leave for public office shall suffer no loss of seniority or benefits accrued to the commencement of the leave. Subject to

the eligibility criteria of particular plans, while on leave for public office, employees shall be entitled to Pension credits for service and to Medical and Health benefits, LTD coverage and Life Insurance coverage. The employee shall be responsible for the full cost of any premiums or contributions required to maintain such plans during a leave for public office.

## 20.23 Military Leave

- (a) Where operational requirements permit, an employee may be granted leave of absence without loss of regular pay to a maximum of two (2) weeks for the purpose of taking military training or serving military duty.
- (b) An employee who is given leave of absence with pay pursuant to this Article shall have deducted from his salary an amount equal to the amount paid by the Department of National Defence to him as salary.
- (c) Where an employee uses vacation entitlement for the purpose of taking military training or serving military duty pursuant to this Article, the employee shall receive vacation with pay from the Employer notwithstanding amounts paid to him by the Department of National Defence.

## 20.24 Prepaid Leave

Regular employees will be entitled to take a leave of absence financed through a salary deferral arrangement in accordance with the provisions as follows:

# (a) Purpose

The Prepaid Leave Plan is established to afford employees the opportunity of taking from six (6) months to a maximum of one (1) year leave of absence and to finance the leave through deferral of salary.

# (b) Terms of Reference

- (i) It is the intent of both the Union and the Employer that the quality and delivery of service to the public be maintained.
- (ii) A suitable replacement for the employee on leave will be obtained where required, and the incumbents filling any position(s) temporarily vacated as a result of such leave will be covered by the collective agreement.
- (iii) Applications under this Plan will not be unreasonably denied, and any permitted discretion allowed under this Plan will not be unreasonably refused.

## (c) Eligibility

Any regular employee is eligible to participate in the Plan.

# (d) Application

- (i) An employee must make written application to the Employer at least four (4) calendar months in advance, requesting permission to participate in the Plan. A shorter period of notice may be accepted by the Employer. Entry date into the Plan for deductions must commence at the beginning of a bi-weekly pay period.
- (ii) Written acceptance or denial of the request, with explanation, shall be forwarded to the employee within two (2) calendar months of the written application.

### (e) Leave

- (i) The period of leave will be from six (6) months to a maximum of one (1) year.
- (ii) On return from leave, the employee will be assigned to the employee's same position or, if such position no longer exists, the employee will be governed by the appropriate provisions of this Agreement.
- (iii) After the leave, the employee is required to return to regular employment with the Employer or an employer that participates in the same or a similar salary deferral arrangement for a period that is not less than the period of leave.

# (f) Payment Formula and Leave of Absence

The payment of salary, benefits and the timing of the period of leave shall be as follows:

- (i) During the deferral period of the Plan, preceding the period of the leave, the employee will be paid a reduced percentage of the employee's salary. The remaining percentage of salary will be deferred, and this accumulated amount plus the interest earned shall be retained for the employee by the Employer to finance the period of leave.
- (ii) The deferred amounts, when received, are considered to be salary or wages and as such are subject to withholding for income taxes, Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance at that time.
- (iii) The calculation of interest under the terms of this Plan shall be done monthly (not in advance). The interest paid shall be calculated by averaging the interest rates in effect on the last day of each calendar month for: a true savings account, a one (1) year term deposit, a three (3) year term deposit and a five (5) year term deposit. The rates for each of the accounts identified shall be those quoted by the financial institution maintaining the deferred account. Interest shall be based upon the average daily balance of the account and credited to the employee's account on the first day of the following calendar month.

- (iv) A yearly statement of the amount standing in the employee's credit will be sent to the employee by the Employer.
- (v) The maximum length of the deferral period will be six (6) years and the maximum deferred amount will be 33-1/3% of salary. The maximum length of any contract under the Plan will be seven (7) years.
- (vi) The employee may arrange for any length of deferral period in accordance with the provisions set out under (f)(v).

## (g) Benefits

- (i) While the employee is enrolled in the Plan prior to the period of leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received had the employee not been enrolled in the Plan.
- (ii) An employee's benefits will be maintained by the Employer during the employee's leave of absence; however, the premium costs of all such benefits shall be paid by the employee during the leave.
- (iii) While on leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received in the year prior to taking the leave had the employee not been enrolled in the Plan.
- (iv) Superannuation deductions shall be continued during the period of leave. The period of leave shall be a period of pensionable service and service.
- (v) Superannuation deductions shall be made on the salary the employee would have received had the employee not entered the Plan or gone on leave.
- (vi) Sick leave and vacation credits will not be earned during the period of leave nor will sick leave be available during such period.

### (h) Withdrawal

- (i) An employee may withdraw from the Plan in unusual or extenuating circumstances, such as, but not limited to, financial hardship, serious illness or disability, family death or serious illness, or termination of employment. Withdrawal must be submitted in writing, detailing the reason(s) therefore, as soon as possible prior to the commencement of the leave.
- (ii) In the event of withdrawal, the employee shall be paid a lump sum adjustment equal to any monies deferred plus accrued interest. Repayment shall be made as soon as possible within sixty (60) calendar days of withdrawal from the Plan.
- (iii) An employee who is laid off during the deferral period will be required to withdraw from the Plan.

(iv) Should an employee die while participating in the Plan, any monies accumulated plus interest accrued at the time of death shall be paid to the employee's estate as soon as possible within two (2) bi-weekly pay periods upon notice to the Employer.

## (i) Written Contract

- (i) All employees will be required to sign the approved contract before enrolling in the Plan. The contract will set out all other terms of the Plan in accordance with the provisions set out herein.
- (ii) Once entered into, the contract provisions concerning the percentage of salary deferred and the period of leave may be amended by mutual agreement between the employee and Employer.

# 20.25 Compassionate Care Leave

Employees shall be entitled to compassionate care leave in accordance with the *Labour Standards Code*.

### 20.26 Education

## (a) Education Leaves

- (i) At the Employer's discretion, the Employer may grant a leave of absence for an educational leave which may be fully subsidized, partially subsidized, or granted with no financial assistance.
- (ii) Subject to operational requirements, leave of absence with pay shall be granted to allow an employee to write examinations for courses approved by the Employer prior thereto.
- (iii) It is understood and agreed that if training and/or educational leave is required by the employer it is considered work time in accordance with the applicable provisions of this agreement. The Employer will pay for any required tuition and books.
- (iv) Leaves of absence for education purposes shall not be unreasonably denied.
- (v) Subject to the terms of individual benefit plans, while an employee is on Education Leave, the Employer shall allow participation in medical, disability, group life and pension benefit plans. The employee and the Employer will each continue to pay their share of the premium costs for maintaining coverage during the period of Leave.
- (vi) When an Employee reports for work upon the expiration of an Education Leave, the Employee shall resume work in the position held by the Employee immediately before the leave began or where that position is eliminated in a comparable position with not less than the same wages

and benefits, with no loss of seniority or benefits accrued to the commencement of the leave.

# (b) Roles and Responsibilities

The following is an outline of the roles and responsibilities of the Employer and employees for staff training and development.

- (i) The Employer is responsible for:
  - providing advice and consulting services in identification of needs, and selection, design, conduct and evaluation of training and development programs;
  - coordinating, developing, and contracting training and development programs to meet service-wide needs;
  - developing comprehensive human resource development policies which meet the requirements of the Employer;
  - developing service-wide systems for the planning, control, delivery and evaluation of training and development;
  - identifying the training requirement of employees in order to meet operational needs and policy objectives; and
  - making arrangements and providing training and education to meet identified needs.
- (ii) The employees are responsible for:
  - acquiring the knowledge and skills necessary to perform their present jobs effectively;
  - identifying, in conjunction with the Employer, areas in which their knowledge and skills are, or may be, deficient;
  - participating in training activities provided by the Employer (which may include formal training programs and/or on-the-job training and experience); and
  - ensuring that job knowledge and skills once outlined are maintained.

### 20.27 Orientation

The Employer recognizes the need for an Orientation Program of such duration as it may deem appropriate taking into consideration the needs of the Employer and the employees involved.

### **ARTICLE 21 - GROUP INSURANCE**

# 21.01 Group Insurance

So long as the plan allows, the Employer will continue to participate with employees in the provision of group life and medical plans as exist at the coming into force of this Agreement unless amended by mutual consent. The Employer agrees to pay 65% of the total premium cost for all employees covered by the health and dental care plans attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement.

## 21.02 Long Term Disability Plan

The terms of the long term disability plans, including those changes adopted from time to time, shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this collective agreement and shall be considered enforceable in the same way as all other provisions of this collective agreement. This provision applies to all of the plans in effect as of the signing date of this collective agreement, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

#### ARTICLE 22 - SICK LEAVE

#### 22.01 General Illness Leave Benefit

- (a) An employee who is unable to perform her/his duties because of illness or injury for a period not exceeding three (3) consecutive work days may be granted leave with pay up to a maximum of eighteen (18) work days per fiscal year.
- (b) The fiscal year for the purpose of general illness leave shall be April 1 to March 31.
- (c) A new employee who is appointed subsequent to April 1 shall have her/his maximum leave entitlement for the first fiscal year pro-rated in accordance with the number of months of service she/he will accumulate in the fiscal year of appointment.
- (d) Employees who exhaust all or part of their eighteen (18) work days' entitlement in one fiscal year will have it reinstated on April 1 of the following fiscal year.

### 22.02 Short-Term Illness Leave Benefit

- (a) An employee who is unable to perform her/his duties because of illness or injury for a period of absence exceeding three (3) consecutive work days, may be granted leave of absence at full or partial pay for each incident of short-term illness in accordance with the following:
  - (i) for employees with less than one (1) year's service, at 100% of normal salary for the first twenty (20) days of absence and thereafter at 75% of normal salary for the next eighty (80) days of absence;
  - (ii) for employees with one (1) or more years of service, at 100% of normal salary for the first forty (40) days of absence and thereafter at 75% of normal salary for the next sixty (60) days of absence;
  - (iii) Employees with credits from accumulated sick leave bank that was grandparented in 1985 from previous employment in the civil service, may top-up each day of benefits granted at 75% of normal salary on the basis of one-half (½) day sick leave bank deduction per day of top-up.

- (iv) The first three (3) days shall be deducted from the General Illness bank of eighteen (18) days.
- (b) If an incident of short-term illness continues from one year of employment to the following year of employment, the employee's benefit entitlement for that period of short-term illness leave shall be payable in accordance with the provisions of Article 22.02(a) applicable during the year in which the short-term illness commenced.

# 22.03 Recurring Disabilities

- (a) An employee who returns to work after a period of short-term illness leave and within thirty (30) consecutive work days again becomes unable to work because of the same illness or injury will be considered to be within the original short-term leave period as defined in Article 22.02.
- (b) An employee who returns to work after a period of short-term illness leave and after working thirty (30) or more consecutive work days, again becomes unable to work because of the same illness or injury, will be considered to be in a new illness leave period and entitled to the full benefits of Article 22.02.
- (c) An employee who returns to work after a period of short-term illness leave and within thirty (30) consecutive work days subsequently becomes unable to work because of an illness or injury unrelated to the illness or injury that caused the previous absence will be considered to be in a new illness leave period and entitled to the full benefits of Article 22.02.
- (d) The provisions of Article 22.03(c) shall not apply to an employee who has returned to work for a trial period. In such a case, the employee will be considered to be within the original short-term leave period as defined in Article 22.02. Trial period shall be determined by the Employer in consultation with the Union, but in no case shall the trial period exceed three (3) months.

# 22.04 Benefits Not Paid During Certain Periods

General illness leave and short-term illness leave benefits will not be paid when an employee is:

- (a) receiving designated paid holiday pay;
- (b) on suspension without pay;
- (c) on a leave of absence without pay, other than leave of absence for Union business pursuant to Article 14 of the Agreement or in the case of circumstances covered under Article 22.05.

### 22.05 Benefits/Layoff

(a) When an employee is on short term illness and is deemed eligible for long term disability and is laid off, she shall be covered by both short term and long term benefits until termination of illness or disability entitlement. When such an

employee has recovered or is capable of returning to work, she shall be covered by the provisions of Article 32.

- (b) During the period an employee is on layoff status, she shall not be entitled to benefits under Article 22 for an illness or disability which commenced after the effective date of layoff. When such an employee is recalled and returns to work, she shall be eligible for participation in all benefits.
- (c) The continuation of benefits payable pursuant to Article 22.05 shall include any benefits payable in accordance with the Long Term Disability Plan.

# 22.06 Long-Term Disability

So long as the plan allows, employees shall be covered by the terms of the Nova Scotia Public Service Long Term Disability Plan, which forms part of this Agreement. The agreed upon terms and conditions of the Long-Term Disability Plan shall be subject to negotiations between the parties to the plan and may be amended only by mutual agreement.

# 22.07 Deemed Salary

For the purposes of calculating any salary-related benefits, including any salary based contributions required by this Agreement, any employee on illness leave under Article 22 shall be deemed to be on 100% salary during such leave, or in accordance with Federal or Provincial Statutes.

### 22.08 Proof of Illness

Application for sick leave shall be made in such manner as the Employer may from time to time prescribe. An employee may be required by the Employer to produce a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner for any period of absence for which sick leave is claimed by an employee and if a certificate is not produced after such a request, the time absent from work will be deducted from the employee's pay. Where the Employer has reason to believe an employee is misusing sick leave privileges, the Employer may issue to the employee a standing directive that requires the employee to submit a medical certificate for any period of absence for which sick leave is claimed.

### 22.09 Unearned Credits Upon Death

When the employment of an employee who has been granted more sick leave with pay than he has earned is terminated by death, the employee is considered to have earned the amount of leave with pay granted to him.

### 22.10 Sick Leave Records

An employee is entitled to be informed upon request of the balance of his sick leave with pay credits.

#### 22.11 Alternate Medical Practitioner

For the purpose of this Article, the Employer may require that the employee be examined by an alternate medical practitioner.

## 22.12 Alcohol, Drug, Nicotine and/or Gambling Addiction

Without detracting from the existing rights and obligations of the parties recognized in other provisions of this Agreement, the Employer and the Union agree to cooperate in encouraging employees afflicted with alcohol, drug, nicotine and/or gambling addiction, to undergo a coordinated program directed to the objective of their rehabilitation.

## 22.13 Ongoing Therapy

Employees who are participating in a scheduled ongoing series of medically required treatments or therapy shall be eligible to accumulate time off for such purposes in order that it may be credited under the provisions of Short Term Illness Leave. In order to be deemed as ongoing treatment or therapy, the time between successive sessions shall not exceed thirty (30) days.

## 22.14 Confidentiality Of Health Information

- (a) Personal health information of Employees shall be kept confidential.
- (b) The Employer will retain health information separately and access shall be given only to those persons responsible for occupational health who are directly involved in administering that information.

### ARTICLE 23 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE FILES

### 23.01 Employee Performance Review

When a formal review of an employee's performance is made, the employee concerned shall be given an opportunity to discuss, sign and make written comments on the review form in question and the employee is to receive a signed copy to indicate that its contents have been read. An employee shall be entitled to a minimum of two (2) working days to review the performance review prior to providing any response to the Employer, verbally or in writing, with respect to the evaluation.

### 23.02 Notice of Performance Improvement Requirements

The Employer will notify an employee in writing where, during the period between the formal performance evaluation processes, the Employer has observed that certain aspects of an employee's performance require improvement.

## 23.03 Record of Disciplinary Action

Notice of a disciplinary action which may have been placed on the employment file of an employee shall be destroyed after four (4) years have elapsed since the disciplinary action was taken provided that no further disciplinary action has been recorded during this period.

## 23.04 Employee Access to Employment File

- (a) The Employer shall keep an employment file of every employee in its employ. Upon reasonable notice to the Employer, the employee's employment file shall be available to the employee for viewing during regular business hours at a mutually agreeable time. The employee may have a Union representative present when viewing the file.
- (b) The Employer and the Union agree that the contents of an employee's employment file shall be treated with the strictest confidence.
- (c) The Employer agrees that employee health information shall be treated with the strictest confidence. The Employer shall designate the position(s) responsible for the management of such confidential information and shall inform the Union accordingly.
- (d) The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in any proceeding involving an employee any document from the employment file of an employee the contents of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.
- (e) Where any comment, note, or other report concerning the performance or conduct of an employee is entered in an employee(s) employment file, the employee shall be given an opportunity to review such document and to attach comments related to the comment, note or report.

### ARTICLE 24 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

### 24.01 Just Cause

No employee who has completed their probationary period shall be disciplined, suspended without pay or discharged except for just and sufficient cause.

### 24.02 Notification

(a) Where an employee is disciplined, suspended without pay or discharged, the Employer shall, within ten (10) days of the suspension or discharge notify the employee in writing by registered mail or personal service stating the reason for the suspension or discharge.

(b) The Employer will notify the Union when an employee is suspended or discharged.

### 24.03 Grievances

Where an employee alleges that he has been suspended or discharged in violation of Article 24.01, he may within ten (10) days of the date on which he was notified in writing or within twenty (20) days of the date of his suspension or discharge, whichever is later, invoke the grievance procedure at Step (3) Three.

### 24.04 Reinstatement

Where it is determined that an employee has been disciplined by suspension without pay or by discharge in violation of Article 24.01, that employee shall be immediately reinstated in his former position without loss of seniority or any other benefit which would have accrued to him if he had not been suspended or discharged. One of the benefits he shall not lose is his regular pay during the period of suspension or discharge which shall be paid to him at the end of the next complete pay period following the reinstatement.

## **ARTICLE 25 - NOTICE OF RESIGNATION\***

## 25.01 Notice of Resignation

If an employee desires to terminate their employment, the employee shall forward a letter of resignation to the Employer not less than two (2) weeks prior to the effective date of termination, provided however that the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice.

#### 25.02 Failure to Give Notice

An employee who fails to give notice required by Article 25.01, shall be struck from the payroll effective the day the employee is absent without leave, and shall have deducted from monies owed by the Employer, a sum equivalent to the salary payable to the employee for the period of notice which the employee failed to work.

#### 25.03 Absence Without Permission

- (a) An employee who is absent from employment without permission for ten (10) consecutive days, shall be deemed to have resigned the employee's position effective the first day of the absence.
- (b) The employee may be reinstated if the employee establishes to the satisfaction of the Employer, that the absence arose from a cause beyond the employee's control and it was not possible for the employee to notify the Employer of the reason for the absence.

## 25.04 Withdrawal of Resignation\*

An employee who has terminated employment though resignation, may withdraw the resignation within three (3) working days of the time it has been acknowledged by the Employer pursuant to Article 25.01.

#### **ARTICLE 26 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

### 26.01 Grievances

A grievance shall be a difference of interpretation of this Agreement or the violation of the provisions of this Agreement as well as any other complaint related to working conditions or relations between the Employees and the Employer concerning the meaning, interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement. Every grievance shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set out hereunder.

- (a) An employee(s) who has a grievance shall first discuss the matter with the immediate supervisor no later than twenty-five (25) days after the date on which the circumstances giving rise to the grievance occurred or the date on which the employee became aware of the circumstances. The employee(s) may have a Steward present if so desired.
- (b) The supervisor shall answer the dispute within two (2) days of the discussions unless the Union agrees to extend this time limit.
- (c) When any dispute cannot be settled by the foregoing informal procedure, it shall be deemed to be a "grievance" and the supervisor shall be notified accordingly.
- (d) In each of the following steps of the grievance procedure, the person designated by the Employer as the first, second, or third level of the grievance procedure shall arrange a meeting or meetings with the Union representative named in the grievance at the earliest mutually agreeable time, and not later than the time limit provided for in the applicable step of the grievance procedure.

# 26.02 Union Approval

An employee is not entitled to present a grievance unless the employee has the approval in writing of the Union or is represented by the Union.

#### 26.03 Grievance Procedure

The following grievance procedure shall apply:

# Step One

If the employee(s) or the Union is not satisfied with the decision of the immediate management supervisor, the employee(s) may within ten (10) days of having received

the supervisor's answer, present his grievance in writing to the person designated by the Employer at Step 1 of the grievance procedure. Failing satisfactory settlement within ten (10) days from the date on which the grievance was submitted at Step 1 of the grievance procedure, the grievance may be submitted to Step 2.

## Step Two

Within ten (10) days from the expiration of the ten (10) day period referred to in Step 1, the grievance may be submitted in writing either by personal service or by registered or certified mail to Employer's designate at Step 2 of the grievance procedure. Failing satisfactory settlement within ten (10) days from the date on which the grievance was received at Step 2, the grievance may be submitted to Step 3.

# **Step Three**

Within ten (10) days from the expiration of the ten (10) day period referred to in Step 2, the grievance may be submitted in writing to the Chief Executive Officer or designate accompanied by any proposed settlement of the grievance and any replies at Step 1 and Step 2. The Chief Executive Officer or designate shall reply to the grievance in writing within fifteen (15) days from the date the grievance was submitted to Step 3.

### 26.04 Grievance Mediation

Where the parties have been unsuccessful in resolving the matter through the grievance procedure, the parties may jointly submit the matter to the Department of Environment and Labour's Grievance Mediation Program or such other mediation option as is agreeable to the parties. It is understood that grievance mediation is a voluntary program and that arbitration remains an option should the grievance remain unresolved after grievance mediation.

### 26.05 Union Referral to Arbitration

Failing satisfactory settlement at Step 3 or upon expiration of the fifteen (15) day period referred to in Step 3 of the grievance procedure, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration under Article 27.

## 26.06 Union Representation

In any case where the employee(s) presents her/his grievance in person or in any case in which a hearing is held on a grievance at any level, the employee(s) shall be accompanied by a representative of the Union.

### 26.07 Time Limits

In determining the time in which any step under the foregoing proceedings or under Article 27 is to be taken, Saturdays, Sundays, and recognized holidays shall be excluded. If the provisions of this Article has not been taken within the time limits specified herein, the alleged grievance shall be deemed to have been abandoned and cannot be reopened.

## 26.08 Amending of Time Limits

The time limits set out in the grievance procedure or under Article 27 may be extended by mutual consent of the parties to this Agreement.

# 26.09 Policy Grievance

Where either party disputes the general application or interpretation of this Agreement, the dispute may be discussed with the Employer, or the Union, as the case may be. Where no satisfactory agreement is reached, the dispute may be referred directly to Step 3 of the grievance procedure where applicable, prior to any referral to Arbitration. This section shall not apply in cases of individual grievances.

### 26.10 Harassment

An employee alleging harassment may file a complaint under the Employer's Harassment Policy and, subsequent to the completion of the process under the Employer's policy, may file a grievance in accordance with Article 26 at Step 3 of the grievance procedure. Both the Union and the Employer shall treat cases of workplace harassment in strict confidence.

## **ARTICLE 27 – ARBITRATION**

### 27.01 Arbitration

Either of the parties may, after exhausting the grievance procedure, notify the other party, in writing, of its desire to submit the matter to arbitration.

### 27.02 Referral to Arbitration

- (a) In the event that a grievance is submitted to arbitration, the case shall be heard by a single Arbitrator unless it is mutually agreed by the Employer and the Union that the case should be heard by a three-person Board of Arbitration.
- (b) The Union and the Employer shall agree to a single Arbitrator. In the event of the failure to agree to a single Arbitrator, a single arbitrator shall be appointed by the Minister of Labour.

## 27.03 Arbitration - Board

Where the Parties mutually agree to refer the grievance to a three-person Arbitration Board the process shall be as follows:

- (a) The Union and the Employer shall each appoint a member of the Arbitration Board within ten (10) working days of notice of arbitration.
- (b) The nominees shall mutually agree to a Chairperson within ten (10) working days. Should the Parties fail to agree in the selection of a Chairperson, the Chairperson will be named by the Minister of Labour.

## 27.04 Arbitration Decision Expedited

The single Arbitrator or Board of Arbitration shall render a decision in as short a time as possible. The Parties agree to encourage the Board of Arbitration or single Arbitrator to issue a decision as expeditiously as possible.

# 27.05 Expedited Arbitration Procedure

## (a) Eligibility for Utilization

By mutual agreement, the parties may agree to have any grievance referred to expedited arbitration in accordance with the procedures set out herein.

# (b) Rules of Procedure

By referring any specific grievance to be dealt with in the expedited arbitration procedure it is understood and agreed that the matter is to be dealt with in accordance with the Rules of Procedure attached to this Agreement as Appendix "1".

#### 27.06 Arbitration Fees

The Union and the Employer shall pay an equal share of the fees and expenses of the single Arbitrator or Chairperson of a three person Arbitration Board after taking into account the contribution from the Minister of Labour.

#### 27.07 Time Limits

Time limits are directory and an Arbitrator or Arbitration Board shall be able to overrule a preliminary objection that time limits are missed providing the Arbitrator or Arbitration Board is satisfied that the grievance has been handled with reasonable dispatch and the Employer's position is not significantly prejudiced by the delay.

### 27.08 Arbitration Award Final and Binding

Arbitration awards shall be final and binding as provided by Section 42 of the Trade Union Act. An Arbitrator or Arbitration Board may not alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement, but shall have the power to modify or set aside any unjust penalty of discharge, suspension, or discipline imposed by the Employer on an employee.

### **ARTICLE 28 - JOINT CONSULTATION**

### 28.01 Joint Consultation

The parties agree to joint consultation on matters of common interest.

#### **ARTICLE 29 - TRAVEL RATES AND ALLOWANCES**

#### 29.01 Kilometre Allowance

An employee who is authorized to use a privately owned automobile on the Employer's business shall be paid a kilometre allowance in accordance with rates set at date of signing as set out in Appendix "2".

## 29.02 Reasonable Expenses

Reasonable expenses incurred by employees in travel on the business of the Employer shall be reimbursed by the Employer in accordance with rates set in Appendix "2".

# 29.03 Transportation

An employee who leaves work or returns to work between 2400 hours and 0600 hours or is called back, shall have either the taxi fare paid to a maximum of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per trip, or be given the applicable kilometre allowance. Receipts will be required for a taxi fare reimbursement.

## 29.04 Use of Automobile on Employer Business

- (a) The Employer has the right to determine which employee(s), as a condition of employment, is/are required to provide an automobile for the purposes of carrying out employment functions.
- (b) Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year the Employer shall determine which employees or classes of employees shall be eligible to opt for either one of the two existing methods of payment.
- (c) Employees in such classes shall have the option of choosing on the first of each fiscal year (April 1) which method of payment they prefer, i.e. straight mileage or monthly allowance plus mileage.
- (d) An employee who moves into a class of employment during the fiscal year, which requires provision of an automobile by the employee, shall have thirty (30) days to opt for his/her preferred method of mileage remuneration.
- (e) An employee who moves out of a class of employment during the fiscal year, to a new position where provision of an automobile is no longer required, shall revert to straight mileage rates on the effective date of the job change if he/she has been in receipt of monthly allowance provisions.
- (f) The Employer shall take such matters as follows into consideration when determining eligibility for monthly allowance:
  - (i) nature of function performed;

- (ii) can travel be made more economically without substantial impairment of efficiency by other means such as rental vehicle, public transportation, etc.;
- (iii) does the employee have control over the demand for transportation.
- (iv) the normal amounts of kilometres travelled by an incumbent in this position in the previous fiscal year;
- (v) the incidence of usage.
- (g) If an employee is designated as being required to provide an automobile and has exercised the option of monthly allowance plus mileage there will be no reduction in monthly allowance if the employee:
  - (i) is on vacation;
  - (ii) has been granted leave with pay for a period of thirty (30) days or less;
  - (iii) has been granted sick leave for a period of thirty (30) days or less;
  - (iv) is on leave without pay, provided however, that the monthly allowance will be reduced in proportion to the number of days in the month which the leave was granted.
- (h) An employee designated as being required to provide an automobile for the employee's employment function must have the vehicle available for use at all times.

### **ARTICLE 30 - MOVING EXPENSES**

## **30.01 Moving Expense**

The employees covered by this Agreement will be governed by the provisions as set out in Appendix "2".

### **ARTICLE 31 - RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES**

### 31.01 Retirement Allowance

(a) An employee who is retired because of age, or mental or physical incapacity shall be granted a public service award equal to one (1) week's pay for each year of full-time service to a maximum of twenty-six (26) years. The Amount will include a prorated payment for a partial year of service.

(b) The amount of public service award provided under Article 31.01 (a) shall be calculated by the formula:

#### 31.02 Entitlement

- (a) The entitlement of an employee to a retirement allowance shall be based on an employee's total service as defined in Article 1.02
- (b) In addition to the months of service upon which an employee's retirement allowance is calculated, the months of prior War Service purchased by an employee in accordance with the amendment of Section 11 of the Public Service Superannuation Act shall be included as months of service for the purpose of the retirement allowance entitlement calculation.

### 31.03 Death Prior to Retirement

Where an employee dies and would have been entitled to receive a Retirement allowance if retired immediately before death, the Retirement allowance to which the employee would have been entitled shall be paid:

- (a) to the employee's beneficiary under the Group Life Insurance Policy; or
- (b) to the employee's estate if there is no such beneficiary.

### 31.04 Calculation of Award

The salary which shall be used to calculate the amount of the Retirement allowance in accordance with this Article shall be the salary which the employee was receiving on the date of the termination of employment or the salary used in the calculation of a pension under the Public Service Superannuation Act, whichever is greater.

#### **ARTICLE 32 - PENSIONS**

### 32.01 Coverage of Employees

So long as the Act allows, the employees covered by this Agreement shall continue to be covered by the provisions of the Public Service Superannuation Act, as amended from time to time.

### **ARTICLE 33 - SAFETY AND HEALTH**

## 33.01 Safety and Health Provisions

The Employer shall continue to make all reasonable provisions for the occupational safety and health of employees. The Employer will respond to suggestions on the

subject from the Union and the parties undertake to consult with a view to adopting and expeditiously carrying out reasonable procedures and techniques designed or intended to prevent or reduce the risk of employment injury and employment-related chronic illness.

# 33.02 Occupational Health and Safety Act

The Employer, the Union and the employees agree to be bound by the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, S.N.S. 1996, c.7.

### 33.03 First-Aid Kits

The Employer shall provide an area, equipped with a first-aid kit, for the use of employees taken ill during working hours.

## 33.04 Safety Equipment

The Employer shall provide all safety equipment necessary for the occupational safety and health of employees, as determined by the Occupational Health & Safety Act.

# 33.05 Protection of Pregnant Employees

A pregnant employee who works with machinery or equipment which may pose a threat to the health of either the pregnant employee or her fetus, may request a job reassignment for the period of pregnancy by forwarding a written request to the employee's immediate supervisor along with a certificate from a duly qualified medical practitioner certifying she is pregnant and the medical basis on which a threat may exist. Upon receipt of the request, the Employer, where possible, will assign the pregnant employee to an alternate position and/or classification or to alternate duties.

## 33.06 Right to Refuse Work

Any employee may exercise his/her right to refuse work in accordance with the provisions of the Occupational Health & Safety Act.

### **ARTICLE 34 - EMPLOYMENT STABILITY\***

## 34.01 Composition

A Joint Union-Management Committee shall be established consisting of up to four (4) representatives from the Union and up to four (4) representatives from the Employer.

### 34.02 Committee Mandate

- (a) The mandate of the Committee is to:
  - (i) facilitate communications between the Employer and the Union during the duration of this Collective Agreement;

- (ii) identify and resolve common problems during the duration of this Collective Agreement;
- (iii) discuss issues related to expected redundancies, impending lay-offs, notices of lay-offs, relocations, re-organizations, technological change or proposed contracting out of work.
- (iv) develop viable solutions to identified problems; and
- (v) recommend the proposed solutions to problems or issues to the Employer.
- (b) The Committee shall not have jurisdiction over salaries or any matter of collective bargaining. The Committee may make recommendations to the Employer and the Union with respect to its discussions and conclusions but cannot bind either the Employer or the Union or its members to any decision or conclusions reached.

### 34.03 Notice to Union

The Employer shall provide the Union with as much notice as reasonably possible of expected redundancies, impending lay-offs, notices of lay-offs, relocations, reorganizations, technological changes or proposed contracting out of work after a change appears probable, with a view to minimizing the adverse effects of the above noted changes on an Employee(s). The Employer will give the Union notice of technological change at least three (3) months prior to the date the change is to be effective. During this period, the parties will meet to discuss the steps to be taken to assist Employees who could be affected.

## 34.04 Definition of Technological Change

For the purposes of this article, "technological change" means the introduction of equipment or materials by the Employer into its operations, which is likely to affect the job security of Employees.

## 34.05 Meetings

The Employer-Union Committee shall meet at a mutually agreeable date and time. Unless otherwise mutually agreed, there shall be a minimum of three (3) meetings per year. Matters for the proposed agenda to be discussed at any meeting shall be exchanged by the parties at least three (3) working days prior to the meeting.

### 34.06 Release from Duty

Employees on the Employer-Union Committee may be released from duty without loss of regular pay for the purpose of attending meetings of this committee. Such leave of absences shall not be unreasonably withheld recognizing, however, the need for efficiency of operations of the Employer. Where meetings are held outside scheduled working hours for the Employee, no overtime will be paid. However, Employees shall be entitled to take time off in lieu at straight time for the time spent outside scheduled

working hours at a time mutually agreed upon between the Employer and the Employee. The Employer shall reimburse the Union for fifty percent (50%) of the travel, meal and accommodation costs incurred for the Employee representatives. Such reimbursement shall be in accordance with the rates set out in Employer policy.

#### 34.07 Minutes

Two (2) copies of the minutes of each meeting of the Employer-Union Committee (one (1) for each party) shall be prepared and signed by representatives of each of the parties who attended the meeting as promptly as possible after the meeting.

## 34.08 Layoff Procedure

Where the layoff of bargaining unit members is necessary, and provided ability, skill and qualifications are sufficient to perform the job, employees shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority.

## 34.09 Seniority Information

- (a) The Employer agrees to provide the Union with seniority lists within thirty (30) days of a request to do so.
- (b) Where an employee is required to make a decision pursuant to Article 34, the Employer shall provide sufficient information to permit the employee to make an informed decision.

# 34.10 Loss of Seniority and Employment\*

An employee shall lose seniority and employment in the event that:

- (a) the employee is discharged for just cause and not reinstated;
- (b) the employee resigns;
- (c) the employee is struck from the recall list in accordance with Article 34.17;
- (d) the employee is laid off for more than twenty-four (24) consecutive months without recall.
- (e)\* the employee has been appointed in an acting capacity to a position excluded from the bargaining unit for a period in excess of twenty four (24) months, in accordance with Article 35.12(d). In the event that an appointment to a position outside the bargaining unit is to be longer than specified above, extensions shall only be permissible with the agreement of the Employer and the Union.

## 34.11 Relocation of a Position

Where an employee's position is relocated, the employee shall be offered the position in the new location. The employee may decline an offer pursuant to this section, in which case the provisions of Article 34.14 shall apply.

#### 34.12 Reduction of Staff\*

In the event that the Employer declares the need for a reduction of staff in a particular classification, prior to issuing notices of layoff, the Employer shall attempt to reduce disruption to the workplace through offering voluntary severance as outlined in Memorandum of Agreement # 5.

## 34.13 Layoff

- (a) An employee(s) may be laid off because of technological change, shortage of work or funds, or because of the discontinuance of a function or the reorganization of a function.
- (b) Where an employee's position becomes redundant, the provisions of Article 34.15 shall apply.

## 34.14 Notice of Layoff

- (a) Forty (40) calendar days notice of layoff shall be sent by the Employer to the Union and the employee(s) who is/are to be laid off, except where the Employer lays off ten (10) or more persons within any period of four (4) weeks or less, notice of layoff shall be sent by the Employer to the Union and employees who are to be laid off, in accordance with the following:
  - (i) eight (8) weeks' if ten (10) or more persons and fewer than one hundred (100) persons are to be laid off;
  - (ii) twelve (12) weeks' if one hundred (100) or more persons and fewer than three hundred (300) are to be laid off
  - (iii) sixteen (16) weeks' if three hundred (300) or more persons are to be laid off.
- (b) Notices pursuant to this section shall include the effective date of layoff and the reason(s) therefore.
- (c) An employee in receipt of layoff notice shall be entitled to exercise any of the following options:
  - (i) to exercise placement/displacement rights in accordance with the procedures set out in Article 34.15.
  - (ii) to accept layoff and be entitled to recall in accordance with Article 34.17;
  - (iii) to accept termination of employment with severance in accordance with Article 34.19;

An employee who intends to exercise placement/displacement rights pursuant to (c) (i) above will indicate such intent to the Employer within two (2) full days following receipt of the layoff notice. If the employee does not indicate such

intent within this period, the employee will be deemed to have opted to accept layoff in accordance with (c) (ii) above.

## 34.15 Placement/Displacement Procedures

- (a) Subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, according to objective tests and standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned, an employee in receipt of layoff notice, or who has declined relocation in accordance with 34.11, or whose position has become redundant, shall have the right to be placement or displacement in the same position classification title, or another position for which the employee meets the qualification requirements in the following manner:
  - (i) Placement in a vacancy in the same geographic area; and if none exist;
  - (ii) Displacement of the least senior employee in the same geographic area or placement in a vacancy within the employee's own DHA, and if none exist:
  - (iii) Where the lay-off notice has been issued by DHA 1, 2 or 3, with respect to any Addiction Services employee hired following the signing date of this agreement, displacement of the least senior employee in the employee's own DHA and if none exist; placement elsewhere in the Province in accordance with Article 34.15 (e).
  - (iv) Where the lay-of notice has been issued by DHA 1, 2 or 3, with respect to an employee hired prior to the signing date of this agreement, or by DHA (4, 5, or 6) or (7 or 8), displacement of the least senior employee in the employee's own DHA or placement in a vacancy within the other DHA (1, 2, or 3), (4, 5, or 6), (7 or 8), and if none exist; displacement of the least senior employee in the other DHA (1, 2, or 3), (4, 5, or 6), (7 or 8), and if none exist; placement elsewhere in the Province in accordance with Article 34.15 (e).
- (b) At each of the foregoing steps, all applicable options shall be identified and the employee shall be assigned to the position of his/her choice, subject to consideration of the provisions herein. If there is more than one employee affected, their order of preference shall be determined by their order of seniority.
- (c) An employee is not required to accept a position which has a lower maximum salary than that of the employee's classification or a temporary position of less than one year. An employee who declines such position at any step in the placement/displacement procedures under Article 34.15 shall be entitled to exercise his/her rights at the next subsequent step in the procedures outlined herein.
- (d) Where there is an option is available to an employee at any of the steps outlined in 34.15 (a), the employee must accept the option or accept layoff and

be placed on the recall list or to resign with severance pay in accordance with Article 34.19.

- (e) An employee who has elected to exercise displacement rights in accordance with (a) (iii) or (iv) above and has been unable to do so, shall be entitled to exercise placement rights to vacant positions in respect to locations in (DHAs 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8) or (DHAs 1, 2, 3, 7 and 8) or (DHAs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6) if the other DHAs do not fill the vacancy pursuant to an internal posting process. Such placement rights shall be exercised in respect to any location on a province-wide basis, in accordance with the provisions and sequence set out in 34.15 (a) and 34.15 (b) and, wherein the employee is entitled to a choice of position, such entitlement shall also apply to choice of location. An employee who intends to exercise this option, shall not be entitled to relocation expenses paid by the Employer and the employee shall be responsible for any relocation and shall have the responsibility to advise the other DHA of their intention to exercise this option. The employee who exercises placement rights to another DHA shall be responsible for their relocation expenses.
- (f) A regular employee who is placed in a temporary position shall retain status as a regular employee.
- (g) An employee who is displaced pursuant to Article 34.15 shall be entitled to the full rights contained in Article 34.
- (h) An employee will have a maximum of two (2) full days to exercise the employee's rights at any of the foregoing steps of the placement/displacement procedures provided for herein.
- (i) Where an employee wishes to be placed in a vacancy or displace an employee with the least seniority, in accordance with the above procedure, the Employer shall provide training not to exceed twelve (12) weeks.

#### 34.16 Transfer Expenses

An employee transferred pursuant to the provisions of Article 34 outside the geographic location, as defined in this Article, shall be eligible for moving expenses in accordance with the provisions of the Employer's Relocation Policy.

#### 34.17 Recall Procedure

- (a) Addiction Services employees hired following the signing date of this agreement who are laid off from DHA 1, 2 or 3 shall be placed on a recall list, and have the right to be recalled to vacancies available in their own DHA. Employees of DHA 1, 2 or 3 hired prior to the signing date of this agreement who are laid off from (DHA 1, 2 or 3) and employees who are laid off from (DHA 4, 5, or 6) or (DHA 7 or 8) shall be placed on a recall list, and have the right to be recalled to vacancies available in (DHA 1, 2, or 3) (DHA 4, 5, or 6) or (DHA 7 or 8).
- (b) The Employer shall give notice of recall by registered mail to the employee's last recorded address. Employees are responsible for keeping the Employer informed of their current address.

- (c) An employee entitled to recall shall indicate to the Employer within three (3) working days and confirm in writing and shall be required to return to the services of the Employer within two (2) weeks of notice of recall, unless on reasonable grounds the employee is unable to do so. An employee who has been given notice of recall may refuse to exercise such right without prejudicing the right to any future recall, except in the case of recall to the employee's same position classification title at the same geographical location or within a fifty (50) kilometre radius, in which event the employee will be removed from the recall list. However, an employee's refusal to accept occasional work or employment of short duration of less than twelve (12) months, will not result in loss of recall rights.
- (d) An Employee on layoff may be assigned to work on a casual or temporary basis providing they possess the necessary qualifications, skills and abilities, as determined by the Employer, reflecting the functions of the job concerned. While working on that basis, the Employee's status as a laid off regular employee shall not change. The total of the days worked in a casual or temporary position of less than six (6) months shall extend the recall period by that total. An Employee recalled to a temporary position of greater than six (6) months shall be laid off again pursuant to this Article.

## 34.18 Termination of Recall Rights

If the layoff lasts for more than twenty-four (24) months without recall, the layoff shall be a termination of employment and recall rights shall lapse.

# 34.19 Severance Pay\*

- (a) At the end of the twenty-four (24) month period referred to in 34.18 or at any earlier time an employee in receipt of a notice of layoff wishes to terminate employment and waive recall rights, the employee shall be granted severance pay in the amount of one (1) week's regular pay for each year of service to a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks.
- (b) The entitlement of an employee to severance pay shall be based on an employee's total service as defined in Article 1.02.
- (c) An employee in receipt of severance pay who wishes to terminate employment in accordance with these provisions and is eligible to receive a pension in accordance with the Employer's Pension Plan and commences receiving the pension immediately following the severance of employment shall also be entitled to receive the Retirement Allowance under Article 31.01 of the Collective Agreement. The maximum combined severance payment and Retirement allowance payment shall not exceed fifty-two (52) weeks. The Retirement Allowance will be paid to the employee at the earliest opportunity in accordance with the provisions of the *Income Tax Act* of Canada.
- (d) Any payment in accordance with this provision will be in the form of a lump sum.

#### 34.20 Release Form\*

Employees accepting severance in accordance with this Article will be required to sign a release statement verifying their termination of employment and agreement to sever any future claim for compensation from the Employer or obligation by the Union in exchange for the severance payment.

## 34.21 No New Employees

No new employee shall be hired unless all employees on the recall list who are able to perform the work required have had an opportunity to be recalled, subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, as determined by the Employer, according to objective tests and standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned.

## 34.22 Geographic Location

For the purposes of this Article, "geographic location" means that area within a radius of fifty (50) kilometres of the actual building or other regular place of employment of the employee.

## 34.23 Contracting Out

No employee shall be laid off or have their hours reduced as a result of the Employer contracting out except in emergency situations.

#### 34.24 Pay in Lieu of Notice

Where the notice required is not given, the employee shall receive pay in lieu thereof for the amount of notice to which the employee is entitled.

# 34.25 Definition of "employee" in this Section

For the purposes of this Article, "employee" means a regular employee or a temporary employee with five (5) or more years of accumulated service.

## 34.26 Strict Application of Procedure

If layoff procedure is not followed, the layoff is null and void

## 34.27 Workplace Reorganization

Subject to any *ad hoc* agreement otherwise by the Joint-Union Management Committee, vacancies resulting from a workplace reorganization will be filled by qualified employees whose positions are eliminated as a result of the same reorganization in accordance with the placement procedures in Article 34.15 of this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 35 – PAY\***

## 35.01 Rates of Pay\*

The rates of pay contained in Appendix "5" form part of this Agreement. During the term of this Agreement adjustments to these rates of pay shall be made in accordance with the following:

Effective April 1, 2010 – a 1% general economic increase Effective April 1, 2011 – a 1% general economic increase

## 35.02 Rate of Pay Upon Appointment

Subject to Article 35.03, the rate of compensation of the person upon appointment to a position with the Employer shall be the minimum rate prescribed for the class to which he is appointed.

## 35.03 Exception

The rate of compensation of a person upon appointment to a position may be at a rate higher than the minimum rate prescribed for the class if, in the opinion of the Employer, such higher rate is necessary to effect the appointment of a qualified person to the position or if the person to be appointed to the position has qualifications in excess of the minimum requirements for the position.

## 35.04 Rate of Pay Upon Promotion

Subject to Article 35.05, the rate of compensation of a person upon promotion to a position in a higher pay range shall be at the next higher rate or the minimum of the new class, whichever is greater, than that received by the employee before the promotion.

## 35.05 Exception

The rate of compensation of an employee upon promotion to a position may be at a rate higher than that prescribed in Article 35.04 if, in the opinion of the Employer, such higher rate is necessary to effect the promotion of a qualified person to the position.

## 35.06 Rate of Pay Upon Demotion

The rate of compensation of an employee upon demotion to a position in a lower pay range shall be at the next lowest rate or the maximum of the new class, whichever is lesser, than that received by the employee before the demotion.

#### 35.07 Anniversary Date

The anniversary date of an employee shall be the first day of the month in which employment occurs if the employee reported for duty during the first five working days of the month in which he was employed, or the first day of the following month if the employee reported for duty later than the fifth working day of the month. The anniversary date will only change to the first day of another month if:

- (a) the employee is reclassified, at which time the date of the reclassification becomes his new anniversary date;
- (b) the employee has been on leave of absence without pay, in which case the employee's anniversary date will be moved forward by the amount of time which the employee was on leave without pay, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement.

## 35.08 Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification

Where an employee is recommended for a reclassification which falls on the employee's anniversary date the employee's salary shall be adjusted first by the implementation of the annual increment, provided the employee is recommended and an increment is available in the employee's present pay range, and on the same date the employee's salary shall be adjusted upward to comply with the provisions of Articles 35.04 and 35.05.

## 35.09 Salary Increments

The Employer, may grant an increment for meritorious service after an employee has served for a period of twelve (12) months following the first day of the month established in Article 35.07 or twelve (12) months following the date of a change in his rate of compensation as established in Articles 35.04, 35.05, or 35.06.

## 35.10 Notice to Withhold Salary Increment

When an increase provided for in Article 35.09 is withheld, the reason for withholding shall be given to the employee in writing by the Employer.

#### 35.11 Granting of Withheld Increment

When an increase provided for in Article 35.09 is withheld, the increase may be granted on any subsequent first day of any month after the anniversary date upon which the increase was withheld.

## 35.12 Acting Position / Pay\*

- (a) Where an employee is designated to perform for a temporary period, the principal duties of a higher position, he/she shall receive payment of acting pay, equivalent to ten percent (10%) higher than his/her existing rate of pay, provided that in no case shall the rate for that period exceed the maximum rate of the higher-paying position.
- (b) Acting pay provisions do not preclude the right of the Employer to assign duties of any employee among remaining employees of the work unit where temporary absences occur.
- (c) When it is reasonably anticipated that an acting position will be available for a duration of excess of four (4) months, such a position shall be posted in accordance with Article 11.01.

(d) In the event that an employee remains in an acting capacity in a position excluded from the bargaining unit for a period in excess of twenty four (24) months the provisions of Article 34.10(e) shall apply.

## **35.13 Implementation of Negotiated Increases**

Increases negotiated in this Agreement shall be implemented on a step-for-step basis, that is, an employee in the third step of any pay range shall be placed in the third step of the corresponding new pay range.

#### 35.14 Shift Premium\*

An employee shall receive a shift premium of one dollar and seventy five cents (\$1.75) per hour for all hours worked, including overtime hours worked, on shifts, half or more of the hours of which are regularly scheduled between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

This provision shall be retroactive to October 31, 2011.

#### 35.15 Weekend Premium\*

An employee shall receive a week-end premium of one dollar and seventy five cents (\$1.75) per hour for all hours worked between the hours of 0001 Saturday and 0700 Monday.

This provision shall be retroactive to October 31, 2011.

#### 35.16 Statement of Pay

Employees shall be paid every two (2) weeks. The employee shall receive a statement indicating gross salary, overtime pay, itemized deductions and net pay.

#### 35.17 Education Premiums for Nurses

## (a) University Diploma

A Registered Nurse with one (1) year University Diploma in Nursing Service and Administration shall be paid an additional thirty-six (\$36.00) dollars per month, provided that she has utilized the course within four (4) years prior to employment.

# (b) Post Graduate Training - 3 Months

A Registered Nurse with post graduate training of three (3) months, but less than six (6) months and who is utilizing this course shall be paid \$27.82 per month, effective September 1, 2008 provided that she has utilized this course within four (4) years prior to employment. Recognition of clinical courses of two (2) months duration shall be given for the purpose of this Article.

This premium shall apply to Nurses who receive a Canadian Nurses' Association specialty certification.

## (c) Post-Graduate Training - 6 Months

A Registered Nurse with post-graduate training of six (6) months or more, and who is employed in a capacity utilizing this course, shall be paid \$55.65 per month, effective September 1, 2008 provided that she has utilized the course within four (4) years prior to employment.

## (d) Baccalaureate Degree

A Registered Nurse who has received a Baccalaureate Degree in Nursing and has completed four (4) months' continuous service shall be paid \$120.57 per month, effective September 1, 2008.

## (e) Masters Degree

A Registered Nurse who has received a Masters Degree in Nursing and has completed four (4) months' continuous service shall be paid \$163.42 per month, effective September 1, 2008.

## (f) CNA Premium

Effective September 1, 2008, a Registered Nurse who is in receipt of a current certification under the Canadian Nurse Association Certification program and who is employed in a capacity utilizing this training shall be paid an additional \$83.00 per month commencing on the first calendar day of the new month after she has submitted proof of the certification to the Employer. Nurses will be entitled to receive this premium in addition to any existing education premium that they may be in receipt of.

## (g) No Pyramiding of Premiums

An employee may not qualify for more than one (1) payment under Articles 35.17(a) through (g).

#### (h) Discontinuance of Premiums

An Education Premium shall be discontinued where:

- (i) the Nurse is on leave of absence with pay or part-pay in excess of thirty (30) days, or without pay. An employee on leave of absence with part-pay for thirty (30) days or less shall have the premium reduced on a prorata basis.
- (ii) the premium is not contingent upon the requirement that the additional training be utilized in the performance of the employee's functions.

## 35.18 Long Service Increment for Nurses

A new step will be added to the pay scale. The new step will be effective on September 1, 2008.

The step will be available to a Registered Nurse who has completed twenty-five (25) years of service. The step will be a salary increment 3.5% greater than the highest rate in effect for the applicable classification.

#### 35.19 Late Career Retention Bonus for Nurses

Effective September 1, 2008, the Employer will provide a retention bonus to eligible Nurses who agree to remain employed for the following 12 months. The retention bonus shall be equal to 2% of the gross annual base earnings (exclusive of any premiums). To be eligible to retire with an unreduced pension under the terms of the Employer's pension plan, the Nurse must apply in writing to participate in the retention bonus program following eligibility. A Nurse may apply for and participate in a second and subsequent year.

#### 35.20 Late Career Retention Bonus for LPNs\*

Effective date of ratification, the Employer will provide a retention bonus to eligible L.P.N.s who agree to remain employed for the following twelve (12) months. The retention bonus shall be equal to 2% of the gross annual base earnings (exclusive of any premiums). To be eligible a L.P.N. must be eligible to retire with an unreduced pension under the terms of the Employer's pension plan. The L.P.N. must apply in writing to participate in the retention bonus program following eligibility. A L.P.N. may apply for and participate in a second and subsequent years.

#### **ARTICLE 36 - COMPENSATION FOR INJURY ON DUTY**

## 36.01 Reporting of Injuries

An employee who is injured on duty shall immediately report or cause to have reported an injury sustained in the performance of his duties to his immediate supervisor in such manner or on such form as the Employer may from time to time prescribe.

#### **36.02 Injury Pay Provisions**

Where an employee is unable to work as a result of an injury on duty and is being compensated under the Workers' Compensation Act, the Employer shall pay a supplement to the maximum provided under the Act (ie. The maximum which can be paid without reducing the amount paid by the Workers' Compensation Board).

#### 36.03 WCB and Return to Work

Where a Employee has returned to work after being absent for injury on duty for which Worker's Compensation Benefits are not payable, and where the absence due to injury on duty was for two days or less after the day of the injury, the Employee shall receive an amount equal to regular pay from accumulated sick leave credits for the period in which the Employee was unable to work as a result of the Employee's injury on duty.

#### **ARTICLE 37 - EMPLOYER LIABILITY**

## 37.01 Employer Liability

The Employer will defend, negotiate, or settle claims in which an employee's negligence is alleged and will also pay damages when necessary provided the Employer is satisfied the employee acted within the scope of their employment. Whenever the Employer does defend an employee pursuant to the aforementioned the Employer will be in control of the case.

#### **ARTICLE 38 - PART-TIME EMPLOYEES**

## 38.01 Collective Agreement Application

The provision of this Agreement apply to part-time employees employed on a regular basis, in position titles and classifications included in the bargaining unit.

#### 38.02 Entitlement to Benefits

Part-time employees shall be entitled to all of the benefits of the collective agreement, including pay, pro-rated on the basis of hours worked, except as otherwise agreed between the parties.

#### 38.03 Hours Worked

The "hours worked" for a part-time employee shall include the employees' designated hours of work and any hours paid in addition to that designation.

#### 38.04 Earning Entitlements

For the purposes of earning entitlement to a benefit (e.g. vacation, increment, merit increments, length of probation, etc.), calendar time of employment will be applicable.

#### 38.05 Unpaid Leave

Unpaid leave will not be pro-rated as to the length of time granted.

#### 38.06 Service

For the purpose of accumulating service for part- time employment, part-time employees will not be subject to the negating provisions of Article 1.02(b). Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, part-time employees will accumulate service and be credited with service on a pro-rata basis in accordance with time worked, including designated paid holidays or days off in lieu thereof, vacation, sick leave, injury on duty leave, paid leaves of absence.

#### 38.07 Overtime

- (a) Part-time employees will be entitled to overtime compensation in accordance with the collective agreement when they work in excess of the normal full-time weekly hours, except where the applicable hours of work are on a bi-weekly basis in which case overtime will be paid when the part-time employee works in excess of the normal full-time bi-weekly hours.
- (b) Part-time employees who are scheduled for a shift of seven (7) or more hours will be entitled to overtime compensation if they are required by the Employer to work beyond the scheduled hours.
- (c) Part-time employees who are scheduled to work a shorter period than the full-time shift will be entitled to overtime compensation after they have worked the equivalent of a full shift.
- (d) Where part-time employees are scheduled to work less than the normal days per week of full-time employees in the work unit, straight time rates will be paid up to and including the normal work days in the work week of the full-time employees and overtime rates will be paid for days worked in excess thereof.

## 38.08 Part-Time Employees – Extra Shifts

Regular and Temporary Part-time employees may request in writing to be placed on the call-in list to work extra shifts. Such shifts shall not result in overtime costs for the Employer and employees may be called in to work extra shifts up to the regular full-time hours of work as applicable. Compensation for extra shifts shall be paid except where, upon request of the employee and with the approval of the Employer or his representative, time off in lieu of hours worked may be granted.

The Employer shall continue to call in regular part-time, temporary part-time and casual employees on a rotational basis. Employees will be called in the order that their name appears on the list. Where an employee is called and the Employer is unable to get an answer, or receives a busy signal, they will move onto the next person on the list. However, where it is possible, depending on the urgency to fill the shift, the Employer, in its sole discretion, will allow a reasonable time for the employee to return the call.

If an employee is frequently unavailable when called for work, their name may be removed from the list.

As employees are added to the list, they shall be added to the list based on their seniority. Regular part-time employees shall be placed on the list above temporary and casual employees. Casual employees whose status changes to temporary, part-time may remain on the list provided they have requested in writing to do so. For clarity, the list is continually in use and the Employer will continue to call employees in the order that they appear on the list.

Regular and Temporary Part-time employees' request may be denied where there are current adequate numbers of casual employees to fulfil the call-in requirements or for other operational reasons. An employee's request shall not be unreasonably denied. Where a request is denied and the call-in requirements change, the Employer will reconsider the employee's request before a new casual employee is hired.

#### **ARTICLE 39 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES**

## 39.01 Application of the Collective Agreement

Except as specifically provided herein and in accordance with Appendix "3", the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to casual employees as defined in Article 1.01.

#### **ARTICLE 40 - UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE CLOTHING**

## 40.01 Soiled and Damaged Clothing

Where conditions of employment are such that an LPN (former HSA), a Nurse (former HSN), a Technician (former TE) or a Food Service Worker (former SE) employee's clothing may be unreasonably soiled or where the employee's clothing may be damaged, the Employer shall provide appropriate protective clothing and shall pay for their laundering.

# 40.02 Required Uniforms

Where former MOS employees are required to wear uniforms, such uniforms shall be provided by the Employer. Uniforms may be worn travelling to and from work.

# **40.03 Protective Clothing**

Upon application in any calendar year, the Employer shall provide for protective clothing in an annual allowance in the amount of fifty dollars (\$50.00) payable to regular full-time public health nurses, licensed practical nurses and dental hygienists. This amount shall be pro-rated for regular part-time employees.

## 40.04 Wash-up Time

Where there is a clear cut need, for maintenance personnel, wash-up time to a maximum of fifteen (15) minutes shall be permitted immediately before the end of a shift.

#### **ARTICLE 41 - JOB SHARING**

## **41.01 Job Sharing Conditions**

The terms and conditions governing job sharing arrangements will be as mutually agreed to by the Union and the Employer.

## 41.02 Existing Employees Only

Job sharing will only be permitted when requested by existing employees and those employed in job sharing situations will continue to be members of the bargaining unit and covered by the Agreement.

## 41.03 Part of Collective Agreement

The terms and conditions of job sharing arrangements agreed to by the parties will form part of the collective agreement.

## 41.04 Rights and Benefits

Except as otherwise provided herein, employees participating in job-sharing arrangements will be entitled to all rights and benefits provided for in the collective agreement.

## 41.05 Operational Requirements

Job-sharing arrangements will only be authorized where operational requirements permit and the provision of services is not adversely affected.

#### 41.06 Qualifications

Both employees in a job-sharing arrangement must be Bargaining Unit members, one of which must be regular full-time and the incumbent of the position to be shared. Both employees must be suitably qualified and capable of carrying out the full-time duties and responsibilities of the position to be shared. Other arrangements acceptable to the Employer and the Union can also be considered.

#### 41.07 Identification of Job Share

An employee wishing to job share her/his position may have the responsibility of finding an eligible employee willing to enter into the job-sharing arrangement. The two employees requesting approval to implement a job-sharing arrangement will submit the appropriate application form to the immediate superior of the position to be job shared.

#### 41.08 Period of Job Share

- (a) A position will be shared for a minimum of six (6) months and a maximum period of two (2) years. Any extension beyond the two-year (2) maximum period must be mutually acceptable to both employees, the Employer, and the Union.
- (b) At the end of the job sharing period, each employee will be returned to the same position if it exists or equivalent position and status held prior to the job share arrangement.

## 41.09 Work Schedule Requirements

Each of the two employees in a job-sharing arrangement will be required to fulfill one-half of the full-time work schedule requirements averaged over a maximum of two (2) complete bi-weekly pay periods, except where a request for a greater averaging period has the prior approval of both the Employer and the Union.

#### 41.10 Service

Employees will be credited with one-half (½) month's service each calendar month of the job-sharing arrangement and not be subject to the provisions of Article 1.02(b) of the Agreement. An employee's anniversary and/or service date for the purposes of earning a merit increment, increment in vacation entitlement, etc. will remain unchanged as if the employee were working on a full-time basis.

## 41.11 Regular Work Hours

For the purposes of the collective agreement, an employee's regular work day or regular work week will be the employee's scheduled hours of work under the job-sharing arrangement. A day on which an employee is not scheduled to work will be considered as the employee's rest day. Time worked by an employee outside her/his scheduled hours of work will be compensated as overtime in accordance with Article 16 of the Agreement, with the employee's bi-weekly rate being determined on the basis as if she/he were working the normal full-time hours.

## 41.12 Pro-Ration of Benefits

The following benefits will be prorated in accordance with this Memorandum:

## (a) Holidays

Each employee will be entitled to one-half  $(\frac{1}{2})$  the paid holidays provided for under Article 19 of the Agreement.

## (b) General Illness

One-half of the general illness entitlement provided for a full-time employee.

## (c) Short Term Illness

One-half of the Short Term Illness entitlement provided for a full-time employee.

## (d) Long Term Disability

During the job sharing period, Employer and employee contributions to the LTD Fund will continue to be based upon the eligibility criteria of the applicable LTD plan and the employee's normal pre-job share salary. For the purposes of determining an employee's benefits during the job-sharing period, the amount of coverage will be based upon the eligibility criteria of the applicable LTD plan and the normal salary the employee is entitled to receive during the job-sharing period. Upon the expiry date of the job-sharing period, as specified in the employee's approved application, the amount of coverage will be based upon the normal full-time salary the employee would be entitled to receive in the position she/he held prior to entering the job-sharing arrangement.

## (e) Other Paid Leaves

One-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) the entitlement provided for in the Agreement.

## (f) Group Life Assurance

Cost sharing of premiums and benefit entitlement will be based on one-half the employee's normal full-time salary.

## (g) Monthly Allowances/Premiums

One-half (½) the entitlement provided for in Agreement.

#### 41.13 Pension

During the job-sharing period, an employee's pensionable service and pensionable earnings will be in accordance with the provisions of the applicable pension plan.

#### 41.14 Termination

In the event one of the participants vacates the job-shared position (eg: through termination of employment, appointment to another position or being placed on leave under the LTD plan), the job-sharing arrangement will terminate and the remaining participant will revert to their former position or status prior to the job-sharing arrangement, except where mutually acceptable alternative arrangements are approved by both the Employer and the Union.

#### **41.15 Notice**

If either participant or the Employer wishes to terminate the job-sharing arrangement prior to its expiry, a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days' written notice shall be required.

#### 41.16 Extension

If the two employees wish to extend their job-sharing arrangement beyond the initial period covered by their application or the maximum two-year period provided for in Article 41.08, they shall give a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days' written notice of such intent prior to the expiry of the original job-sharing arrangement.

## 41.17 Filling of Vacancy

An incumbent filling any position temporarily vacated as a result of job sharing will be covered by the collective agreement.

#### 41.18 Costs

The parties agree that except for the cost of benefits provided for under this Article and/or the collective agreement, there shall be no added cost to the Employer directly resulting from any job-sharing arrangement.

#### **ARTICLE 42 - AMENDMENT**

#### 42.01 Mutual Consent

This Agreement may be amended by the mutual consent of both parties.

#### **ARTICLE 43 - CLASSIFICATION & RECLASSIFICATION**

#### 43.01 New Classification

- (a) When a new classification covered by this Agreement is introduced or when an exiting classification has been substantially altered during the life of this Agreement, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. The Employer may implement a new classification and attach a salary to it, providing that the Union is given ten (10) days written notice in advance.
- (b) If the parties are unable to agree on the rate of pay for the new or substantially altered classification, the Union may refer the matter to a single Arbitrator who shall determine the new rate of pay.
- (c) The new rate of pay shall be effective on the date agreed to by the parties or the date set by the Arbitrator but, in any event, not earlier than the date of implementation of the classification.

## 43.02 Classification Appeal Procedure

An employee shall have the right to appeal the classification of the position the employee occupies to another existing classification in accordance with the following:

- (a) If an employee believes that the position the employee occupies is improperly classified, the employee shall notify the Program Director, in writing.
- (b) The Employer shall, upon request, provide the employee with a written statement of duties and responsibilities within thirty (30) days of the request.

- (c) If the Program Director agrees with the employee concerning the classification of the employee's position, the Program Director shall submit the proposed reclassification to Human Resources for consideration.
- (d) If the Program Director disagrees with the employee, or if the employee believes there is a conflict between the classification standards or position description and the statement of duties, the employee may initiate a formal appeal in writing to the Human Resources. Human Resources shall respond in writing to the employee within thirty (30) days of the receipt of such appeal.
- (e) If the foregoing procedure does not lead to a satisfactory resolution, within sixty (60) days of receipt of the reply from Human Resources, the matter may be submitted to Arbitration in accordance with Article 27.
- (f) An employee shall have the right of Union representation in respect to any appeal submitted.
- (g) The effective date of any resulting upward revision in classification shall be the first day of the bi-weekly period immediately following the date of receipt by the Employer of the employee's written appeal submitted pursuant to 43.02(d).

#### **ARTICLE 44 - SUCCESSOR RIGHTS**

## 44.01 Successor Rights

In the event of amalgamation, annexation or other change in the Employer's jurisdiction, the Agreement affecting employees covered by such amalgamation, annexation or other change in the Employer's jurisdiction shall continue in full force and effect and the new employer employing such employees as are affected shall be deemed to be the Employer under this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 45 - TERM OF AGREEMENT\***

#### 45.01 Duration and Renewal\*

This Agreement with the Appendices, Schedules and Memoranda of Agreement attached hereto shall constitute the entire agreement and shall be in effect for a term beginning from April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2012 and shall be automatically renewed thereafter for successive periods of twelve (12) months unless either party requests the negotiation of a new Agreement by giving written notice to the other party not less than thirty (30) calendar days and not more than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration of this Agreement or any renewal thereof.

#### 45.02 Effective Date of Agreement

Unless otherwise stipulated in this agreement, the Articles of this Agreement shall not be applied retroactively. Unless otherwise stipulated in this agreement the Articles of this Agreement do not come into effect until the first day of the first full pay period following the date of ratification. The Employer will adjust any increases in rates of pay or other premiums, and pay employees applicable retroactive pay as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of ratification.

## 45.03 Retroactive Pay for Terminated Employees\*

Employees who have left their employment in the bargaining unit between April 1, 2010 and the signing date of this Agreement, shall be entitled to full retroactivity of any salary increase or lump sum payment. Such Employees shall apply in writing to the Employer for such retroactive salary increase within sixty (60) days from date of signing.

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU LOCAL 93** 

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO Charles Casselman

Heather Avery

Monika Harvey

SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU LOCAL 94** 

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU LOCAL 95** 

Janet Knox, President/CEO Darlene Bogers

Joanne Fairfax

COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Peter MacKinnon, CEO Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

# GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Cooper

DATED AT Sydney, N.S. this 14<sup>th</sup>, day of September, 2012.

# APPENDIX "1" EXPEDITED ARBITRATION - RULES OF PROCEDURE

- 1. A single arbitrator shall be appointed to decide the grievance.
- 2. The following persons shall serve as a panel of single arbitrators:

Susan Ashley Eric Slone

The above arbitrators shall be contacted in advance and advised of the parties' expectations pursuant to these Rules of Procedure. Should any arbitrator not be willing to adhere to the requirements of this process their name will be removed from the above list and the parties will agree on a substitute in the roster.

- 3. The arbitrators shall be appointed on a rotating basis, in the sequence in which their names appear on the above list.
- 4. The arbitrator, in consultation with the parties, shall convene a hearing of the grievance not later than forty (40) days from being appointed. If the arbitrator is not agreeable or available to commence the hearing within this time period, the arbitrator whose turn is next in the rotation shall be selected, and so on, until one of the arbitrators in the rotation is available.
- 5. At least ten (10) days prior to the date of the hearing the parties and/or their representatives shall meet for the following purposes:
  - to exchange copies of any documents that either party intends to rely on in the hearing;
  - to establish and attempt to agree on the facts relevant to the grievance;
  - to exchange copies of any precedents and authorities; and
  - to engage in discussions regarding the possible settlement of the grievance.
- 6. Should a dispute arise between the parties regarding compliance with the obligations outlined in paragraph 5 the issue in dispute may be referred for immediate and binding resolution to the arbitrator. This may be done by conference call between the arbitrator and the parties.
- 7. At least five (5) days before the scheduled hearing date the parties shall forward to the arbitrator the collective agreement, a copy of the grievance, any agreed statement of facts and any other documents or materials agreed upon by the parties.
- 8. The arbitration hearing shall be an informal and accelerated process. To this end, the following procedures shall be in effect:
  - the hearing shall be completed within a single day, within the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. At the commencement of the hearing the parties and the

- arbitrator shall attempt to agree upon the allocation of time and if agreement cannot be reached the arbitrator shall decide upon such allocation.
- The parties shall make every reasonable effort to minimize the use of witnesses and to limit representations to issues directly related to the substance of the individual grievance. Whenever practicable, the parties shall stipulate facts not in dispute rather than establishing such facts through the evidence of witnesses.
- Every reasonable effort shall be made to ensure that the grievance is addressed on its own merits, within the context of the particular circumstances of the individual case.
- The arbitrator shall have the permission of the parties to take an activist role and to direct that issues be addressed, or not addressed, in the hearing in accordance with his or her determination as to its relevance to the outcome.
- 9. The decision of the arbitrator on the merits of the grievance may be rendered verbally at the immediate conclusion of the hearing, or, in any event, within two (2) days following the conclusion of the hearing. The arbitrator may remain seized of the grievance to determine any issues arising from the implementation of his or her decision.
- 10. The arbitrator may provide brief written reasons for the decision, however, these must be issued within ten (10) days of rendering the decision.
- 11. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the parties, however, the parties agree that decisions issued through this process apply only to the individual grievance decided, have no value as precedent and that they shall not be referred to in any other proceedings under this collective agreement or otherwise.

# APPENDIX "2" Relocation & Travel\*

## 1.01 Travel Policy - General

The payment of travel expenses is intended to reimburse employees for actual expenses incurred on Employer business when away from the employee's headquarters. The employee shall be reimbursed for actual costs incurred, supported by proof of payment (where required by the Employer) up to the amount judged by the Employer to be reasonable, based upon experience of what such costs should be in the circumstances. When meal costs and related expenditures are in excess of the standard, and supported by appropriate receipts, they are allowable subject to the best judgement of those who check and approve the travel claim before it is submitted for payment.

## 1.02 Workplace

The location which the Employer designates as the workplace. If an employee works out of more than one location, the Employer will designate one as the workplace for the purposes of this Appendix. The employer will not exercise this designation in an unreasonable or arbitrary manner.

#### 1.03 Headquarters

The area within a 16 kilometre radius surrounding the actual building or other regular place of employment of the employee.

#### 1.04 Use of Privately-Owned Vehicles on Employer Business\*

#### **AUTHORIZATION**

The use of a privately-owned vehicle on Employer business must be authorized by the Employer.

#### **INSURANCE**

The employee is responsible for maintaining adequate automobile insurance coverage, and is responsible for payment of their own insurance premiums. The Employer assumes no financial responsibility beyond the kilometre rate.

#### **KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES\***

In the event that the Provincial Government rate increases or decreases, the rate of this agreement will change on the same effective date as provincial government employees.

#### **EXCEPTIONS**

If the Employer has designated an employee as being in a class of employment where ownership of a motor vehicle is a condition of employment, the employee may opt to receive a monthly allowance plus a flat kilometre rate, instead of the variable allowance.

#### **PARKING**

An employee will not be reimbursed for or provided with parking when a vehicle is not a requirement in the performance of daily duties.

When the use of a vehicle is a condition of employment all reasonable parking costs associated with the availability and use of the vehicle directly related to the employers business will be paid.

## 1.05 Meals - Eligibility and Allowances

#### RATES

Employees required to travel on employer business more than 16 kilometres from the actual building or other regular place of employment of the employee, will be reimbursed for reasonable costs incurred for meals at the following per diem rates which are inclusive of taxes and gratuities:

TOTAL	\$40.00
Dinner (Evening)	<u>\$20.00</u>
Lunch (Mid-day)	\$12.00
Breakfast	\$ 8.00

#### **EXCEPTIONS**

An employee who incurs unusually high expenses, will be reimbursed actual expenses for meals, based on proof of payment, to the extent that the Employer considers that the expenses claimed are reasonable and justifiable in the circumstances. In such cases, proof of payment is required for all three daily meals.

**Note:** Meals included in the price of any form of accommodation, transportation, courses, conferences, etc. cannot be claimed.

#### **BREAKFAST**

The cost of breakfast may only be claimed when the employee has been travelling, on Employer business, for more than one hour before the recognized time for the start of the day's work.

#### DINNER

The cost of the evening meal may be claimed when the employee is travelling on Employer business, and is not expected to return to his/her residence before 6:30 pm.

## 1.06 Incidental Expenses - Eligibility

For each day of travel when sleeping accommodation is authorized and used, an employee will be reimbursed an allowance of \$4.00 to cover miscellaneous expenses. Miscellaneous expenses include such items as baggage charges, gratuities (other than meals), personal local telephone calls, etc.

## 1.07 Use of Motor Vehicle as a Condition of Employment

Certain positions have been designated as requiring the use of a motor vehicle by the incumbent. From time to time, additional positions may be so designated.

## 1.08 Optional Monthly Allowance\*

In the event that the Provincial Government rate for a monthly allowance and/or the kilometre flat rate increases or decreases, the rate of this agreement will change as well on the same effective date as provincial government employees. The effective date for this agreement will be the date on which the new government rate is announced.

A designated employee may exercise the option only once per year by notifying the Employer in writing during the fiscal year, within 30 days of becoming eligible or for continuing employees not later than April 30 of each year.

In accordance with the above the option will continue as long as the employee remains in a designated position or the duties and responsibilities of the employee change sufficiently that the alternate mileage compensation would be advantageous.

There will be no reduction in monthly allowance if the employee is:

on vacation; on special leave with pay for 30 calendar days or less; on sick leave for 30 calendar days or less.

**Note:** On special leave without pay, the allowance will be reduced in proportion to the number of compensation days in the month for which the special leave was granted.

# 2.01 Moving Expenses on Transfer

#### RELOCATION EXPENSES

Where the Employer requires an employee to relocate outside the employee's geographic location, the Employer will reimburse the employee's actual and reasonable relocation expenses to a maximum amount of \$7,500.00.

# APPENDIX "3" Casual Employees

#### Section 1: WAGES

- (a) Upon hire or assignment to a particular classification, Casual Employees shall have education and experience recognized for placement on the increment scale. Upon hire or assignment to a particular classification, a year of experience in a particular classification for Casual employees shall mean 1956.675 hours worked. It shall be the responsibility of the Casual employee to establish to the satisfaction of the Employer their record of education and experience.
- (b) Casual Employees who have worked one thousand (1000) regular hours or more by their anniversary date shall be recognized for an additional year of experience with the Employer.
- (c) Casual Employees who have worked less than one thousand (1000) regular hours by their anniversary date shall be recognized for an additional year of experience with the Employer in a particular classification on the day when one thousand (1000) hours are achieved. This date shall become the Employee's current anniversary date.
- (d) Where a casual employee's status changes to Temporary she shall maintain the last anniversary date held prior to becoming a Temporary Employee and subsequent anniversary dates and increments shall be in accordance with the provisions of this section.

Where a casual employee becomes a regular employee, the new anniversary date shall be determined by the provisions of this section. In no event will the anniversary date be later than one year following appointment to the regular position. Subsequent increments shall be in accordance with the provisions of Article 35.

#### **Section 2: BENEFITS**

In lieu of the benefits provided to Employees under the collective agreement, Casual employees shall be compensated with a supplementary payment equal to eleven (11%) percent of their earnings in each bi-weekly period. This payment will represent four (4%) percent for vacation and seven (7%) percent for all other benefits.

#### **Section 3: GROUP BENEFITS**

(a) Casual employees shall be entitled to participate in the Group Life, Group Health and/or Pension Plan in accordance with the eligibility provisions of the respective benefit plans.

(b) The Employer agrees to participate in the 65% cost sharing of the respective benefits under the collective agreement but only for those Casual Employees agreeing to pay their respective share while participating in the Group Life, Group Health and/or Pension Plan.

#### **Section 4: SCHEDULING**

- (a) Casual employees may be assigned to work hours without advance notice and there shall be no financial penalty on the Employer. Casual employees may also have hours cancelled with three (3) hours advance notice and there shall be no financial penalty on the Employer. In the event less notice is given for cancelled hours, the employee shall be paid the equivalent of three (3) hours pay.
- (b) The Employer shall continue to call in casual employees on a rotational basis. The parties agree that offers of casual work will be provided on an equitable basis. Each employee on the casual call-in list will be called in the order that their name appears on the list. As casual employees are added to the list, they shall be added to the list based on their seniority. Where an employee is called and the Employer is unable to get an answer, or receives a busy signal, they will move on to the next person on the list and so on. Where possible, depending on the urgency to fill the shift, the Employer, in its sole discretion, will allow a reasonable time for the employee to return the call.
- (c) For Primary Care Classifications in Addiction Services, an employee may be offered up to five (5) consecutive shifts in any one call. Primary Care Classifications include the following:

Counsellor Nurse Rehabilitation Counsellor LPN Primary Care Attendant

- (d) An employee on the casual call-in list will notify the Employer when the employee will be temporarily unavailable to accept available work, in which case the employee will be removed from the list in respect of such period. Such unavailability must be approved by the Employer. Such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.
- (e) An employee on a casual call-in list is not obliged to accept an assignment when offered. However, if an employee is consistently unavailable when called for work, they shall be struck from the casual list unless the employee has notified the Employer that they were going to be unavailable for work for a specific period of time.
- (f) It is the responsibility of the employee to keep the Employer informed of any changes in her desire to be assigned casual work and the telephone number at which she may be called.

#### Section 5: DATE OF EMPLOYMENT

- (a) Casual employees shall have established as a date of employment the date first worked as a Casual employee. However, should a Casual employee become a Regular employee, the date of appointment to the regular position shall be the seniority date of the employee.
- (b) In the event that a Casual employee does not work any shifts for a period of six (6) months, excluding periods of disability, pregnancy, parental or adoption leave, or other approved leaves such Casual employee will be deemed terminated.

#### Section 6: CASUAL SENIORITY

- (a) A record as to the hours worked by a Casual employee since November 1, 1997 shall be maintained by the Employer and be made available to the Union and shall include any hours worked as a temporary employee where there was no break in employment. This record shall constitute the Casual /Temporary Seniority list.
- (b) The Employer shall refer to seniority as the determining factor where two or more Casual or Temporary employees are deemed relatively equal in skills, abilities and qualifications for appointments to temporary vacancies or regular vacancies. In such case the employee with the greater seniority will be given preference.
- (c) Effective the date of signing of this Agreement, if the Employer hires a casual employee as a casual or temporary employee to commence work within six (6) months of the employee leaving employment with any of the Employers covered by this Agreement, when the employee has not been terminated for cause, the employee shall have casual seniority with the previous Employer recognized.

#### Section 7: COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT APPLICATION

The provisions of the Collective Agreement apply to the Casual Employees except for the following provisions:

1.01(b); 1.01(c); 1.01(l)1.01(n); 1.02	18	30	40.03
9.02; 9.05	19.01; 19.02; 19.03; 19.04; 19.05(b); 19.05(c); 19.06; 19.07; 19.08	31	41

10.02; 10.05	20.01(b); 20.02; 20.03(a); 20.04; 20.05; 20.06; 20.08; 20.09; 20.12; 20.14; 20.16; 20.18; 20.19; 20.20; 20.21; 20.22; 20.23; 20.24; 20.25	32	43.02
11	21	34	44
14.03; 14.05; 14.06; 14.07; 14.08	22.01; 22.02; 22.03; 22.04; 22.05; 22.06; 22.07; 22.08; 22.09; 22.10; 22.11; 22.13	35.02; 35.03; 35.04; 35.05; 35.06; 35.07; 35.08; 35.09; 35.10; 35.11; 35.13; 35.14; 35.17	45.03
15.01; 15.05; 15.06; 15.09; 15.11; 15.12; 15.13; 15.15; 15.16	24	36.02; 36.03	
16.01; 16.02; 16.03; 16.05(c); 16.06; 16.07; 16.08; 16.09; 16.10; 16.12	29.03; 29.04	38	App "2" 1.02; 1.03; 1.04 EXCEPTIONS; 1.07; 1.08; 2.01
17			App "4"

#### Section 8: POINTS OF CLARIFICATION

- **11.01** Casuals may apply for posted positions, but casual positions themselves are not required to be posted.
- **11.03** If a Casual is appointed to a new or vacant position, the trial period applies. If the employee proves unsatisfactory during the trial period, the employee reverts back to casual status.
- **14.06** If a Casual employee is working a scheduled shift and, during that shift, is summoned to attend as a witness before an arbitrator or meet with management in joint consultation as prescribed by Article 28, the casual employee shall be compensated for the actual time missed to a maximum of the remainder of that shift.
- **15.11** If, due to operational requirements, a casual employee is to miss a designated meal or rest period or part thereof and the total break cannot be granted during the shift, the total meal or rest period shall be compensated at the applicable overtime rates.
- "overtime" for a casual employee means authorized work in excess of 70 hours in a two week period for casual employees who would otherwise be considered in Group A and 75 hours in a two week period for casual employees who would otherwise be considered in Group C, excepting casual Clinical Therapists. Casual employees who are scheduled for a shift of seven (7) or more hours will

be entitled to overtime compensation if they are required by the Employer to work beyond the scheduled hours.

- (b) "time and one half" for casual employees is calculated by determining the casual employee's applicable hourly rate and multiplying by 1.5.
- (c) "double time" for casual employee is calculated by determining the casual employee's applicable hourly rate and multiplying by 2.
- **19.01** The days listed in 19.01 are not paid holidays for casual employees. However, those days listed in 19.01 are considered "a holiday" for the purposes of compensation for casuals under 19.05 (a).
- **19.06** A casual employee is entitled to double time compensation for overtime, as defined in this casual memorandum, worked on a paid holiday.
- 20.14 When a casual employee returns to work on the expiration of a pregnancy, parental, or adoption leave, or from a period of disability, the casual employee shall resume casual status and she shall be credited with seniority hours during the leave period. The seniority hours credited shall be the average of the hours worked in the previous twelve (12) months, or if the employee's length of employment is less than twelve (12) months, the average of the hours worked during the term of her employment. If the period of the leave or disability is less than one year, then the accrual of seniority shall be pro-rated. In no case can an employee accrue seniority for a single period of pregnancy, parental, adoption leave or disability in excess of one year.
- 20.19 If a critical condition which requires the casual employee's personal attention resulting from an emergency (ie. flood, fire, etc.) which cannot be serviced by others or attended to after the casual employee's shift and which occurs while the casual employee is working a shift, the casual employee shall be granted such time off as is necessary to attend to the critical condition without loss of pay up to a maximum of the remainder of that shift.
- **24.01** Except as provided under Section 5 (b) of Appendix 3 (Casual Employees) a casual employee shall not be disciplined or terminated without just and sufficient cause.
- Only a regular full-time employee (being the incumbent of the position proposed to be shared) may request a job sharing of that employee's regular full-time position. However, a casual employee who otherwise qualifies pursuant to Article 41 may be eligible to share the incumbent's position. If the casual employee is accepted by the Employer as the host's complement, the employee's status shall change to temporary, and the provisions of Article 41 apply. Upon completion of the job share arrangement, the complement employee reverts to casual status.

#### App. "D" - 1.02 & 1.03

Casuals do not have an assigned "workplace" nor a "headquarters". But, for the purposes of determining eligibility for travel expenses, a casual may have a workplace and/or headquarters for the length of the casual's assignment (which is ordinarily for one shift but, if the employer designates, may be for more than one shift in such cases as temporary replacements for vacation leaves, sick leaves etc.).

#### **APPENDIX "4"**

## 12 Hour Shift\*

The parties agree to modify the Collective Agreement for those employees on twelve (12) hour shifts. The clauses noted below shall replace their numbered equivalent in the Collective Agreement. All other provisions of the Collective Agreement shall apply.

- 15.01 (a) For the employees in classification Group A, the hours of work shall be an average of seventy (70) hours per two week period. A twelve (12) hour shift shall be inclusive of three (3) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of an unpaid ninety (90) minute meal period which may be taken in two breaks;
- 15.01 (b) For the employees in classification Group B, the hours of work shall be an average of seventy (70) hours per two week period. A twelve (12) hour shift shall be inclusive of three (3) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of an unpaid ninety (90) minute meal period which may be taken in two breaks. Clinical Therapists in classification Group C and employees in classification Group B are exempted from the application of overtime in Article 16; or
- 15.01 (c) For the employees in classification Group C, the hours of work shall be an average of seventy-five (75) hours per two week period. Each twelve (12) hour shift shall be inclusive of three (3) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods and exclusive of an unpaid forty-five (45) minute meal period which may be taken in two breaks. During break Counsellors are required to remain available in the work unit. If a Counsellor is called to work during the designated breaks, Article 15.11 Recall During Meal or Rest Breaks applies.
- **15.01(5)(a)** The Employer will endeavour, where possible, to provide that no employee will be scheduled to work more than four (4) consecutive twelve (12) hour shifts in a two week period.
- **15.09 (b)** After schedules are posted, every reasonable effort shall be made to provide twelve (12) hours between shift changes unless otherwise mutually agreed.

# 19.03 Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest

When the day designated as a holiday coincides with the employee's day of rest, the Employer shall grant the holiday with pay (seven (7) hours for employees in classification Groups A & B and seven and one-half (7.5) for employees in classification Group C) on either:

- 19.05 Where an employee is scheduled to work on a holiday, and more than one-half of the employee's scheduled shift falls on the day of the paid holiday, as defined in Article 19.01, the employee shall receive:
  - (a) Pay at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) their regular rate for the hours worked on the holidays; and

- (b) in addition to the pay for the hours worked on the holiday, employees in classification Groups A & B shall have the option to have seven (7) paid hours off or seven (7) hours pay pro-rated in accordance with Article 15.16, while employees in classification Group C shall have the option to have seven and one-half (7.5) paid hours off or seven and one-half (7.5) hours pay pro-rated in accordance with Article 15.16.
- (c) Time off for banked holiday credits shall be granted at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell; or scheduled at a time mutually agreed by the employee and the employer at a later date.
- An employee who is scheduled to work on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 19.01, and who is unable to report for work due to a reason covered by Article 22.01 shall receive sick leave for that day and employees in classification Groups A & B shall be granted seven (7) hours of time off in lieu of the holiday at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the second (2<sup>nd</sup>) calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell, while employees in classification Group C shall be granted seven and one-half (7.5) hours of time off in lieu of the holiday at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the second (2<sup>nd</sup>) calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell.
- 19.08 (b) Where time off with pay in lieu of the holiday has not been granted in accordance with Article 19.08 (a), compensation shall be granted at the employee's regular rate of pay for seven (7) hours for employees in classification Groups A & B and for seven and one-half (7.5) hours for employees in classification Group C.

#### 35.14 Shift Premium\*

An employee shall receive a shift premium of one dollar and seventy five cents (\$1.75) per hour for all hours worked, including overtime hours worked, on shifts, half or more of the hours of which are regularly scheduled between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

This provision shall be retroactive to October 31, 2011.

The twelve (12) hour shift arrangement shall remain in effect unless one party gives to the other party notice of its intention to terminate the Agreement. Such notice shall be given at least sixty (60) calendar days in advance of the change.

The parties agree that, if requested by the other party, during the sixty (60) days notification period, the parties will meet to discuss the reasons for the termination of the twelve (12) hour shift arrangement and to determine if other mutually acceptable arrangements can be made.

# **APPENDIX "5"**

# PAY PLAN\*

# **Clerical Classifications**

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Clerk 1	OFF001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$15.2059	\$15.5169	\$15.8264	\$16.1377	\$16.4478
			(1820 hrs)	\$27,675	\$28,241	\$28,804	\$29,371	\$29,935
			01-Apr-10	\$15.3580	\$15.6721	\$15.9847	\$16.2991	\$16.6123
				\$27,951	\$28,523	\$29,092	\$29,664	\$30,234
			01-Apr-11	\$15.5115	\$15.8288	\$16.1445	\$16.4621	\$16.7784
				\$28,231	\$28,808	\$29,383	\$29,961	\$30,537
Clerk 2	OFF002	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$17.0612	\$17.4486	\$17.8353	\$18.2212	\$18.6072
Secretary 1		•	(1820 hrs)	\$31,051	\$31,756	\$32,460	\$33,163	\$33,865
			01-Apr-10	\$17.2318	\$17.6231	\$18.0137	\$18.4034	\$18.7933
			·	\$31,362	\$32,074	\$32,785	\$33,494	\$34,204
			01-Apr-11	\$17.4041	\$17.7993	\$18.1938	\$18.5874	\$18.9812
				\$31,676	\$32,395	\$33,113	\$33,829	\$34,546

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Clerk 3	OFF003	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$17.2924	\$17.8820	\$18.4715	\$19.0610	\$19.6505
Secretary 2			(1820 hrs)	\$31,472	\$32,545	\$33,618	\$34,691	\$35,764
			01-Apr-10	\$17.4653	\$18.0608	\$18.6562	\$19.2516	\$19.8470
				\$31,787	\$32,871	\$33,954	\$35,038	\$36,122
			01-Apr-11	\$17.6400	\$18.2414	\$18.8428	\$19.4441	\$20.0455
				\$32,105	\$33,199	\$34,294	\$35,388	\$36,483
Clerk 4	OFF004	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$18.4518	\$18.9996	\$19.5486	\$20.0962	\$20.6449
			(1820 hrs)	\$33,582	\$34,579	\$35,578	\$36,575	\$37,574
					_			
			01-Apr-10	\$18.6363	\$19.1896	\$19.7441	\$20.2972	\$20.8513
				\$33,918	\$34,925	\$35,934	\$36,941	\$37,949
				•	•	<b>.</b>	•	•
			01-Apr-11	\$18.8227	\$19.3815	\$19.9415	\$20.5001	\$21.0599
				\$34,257	\$35,274	\$36,294	\$37,310	\$38,329
Ola ele O	01.040	Frankis d Data	N4	<b>647.4054</b>	Φ47 4F70	Ф4 <b>7 7</b> 000	<b>#40.04.44</b>	<b>*</b> 40.0545
Clerk 2	CL013	Expired Rate		\$17.1351	\$17.4579	\$17.7820	\$18.2141	\$18.6515
			(1820 hrs)	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582
			04	<b>047.000</b>	<b>647.000</b>	Ф4 <b>7</b> ОГОО	<b>#40.0000</b>	<b>#40.0000</b>
			01-Apr-10	\$17.3065	\$17.6325	\$17.9598	\$18.3962	\$18.8380
				\$31,498	\$32,091	\$32,687	\$33,481	\$34,285
			01 Apr 11	¢17.4705	¢47 0000	<b>0404204</b>	¢40 5000	<b>#40 0064</b>
			01-Apr-11	\$17.4795	\$17.8088	\$18.1394	\$18.5802	\$19.0264
				\$31,813	\$32,412	\$33,014	\$33,816	\$34,628

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Secretary I	CL014	Expired Rate	March 31/10	\$17.4579	\$17.7820	\$18.2141	\$18.6514	\$19.2227
			(1820 hrs)	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582
			01-Apr-10	\$17.6325	\$17.9598	\$18.3962	\$18.8379	\$19.4149
				\$32,091	\$32,687	\$33,481	\$34,285	\$35,335
			01-Apr-11	\$17.8088	\$18.1394	\$18.5802	\$19.0263	\$19.6091
				\$32,412	\$33,014	\$33,816	\$34,628	\$35,689
Clerk 3	CL018	Expired Rate	March 31/10	\$19.2227	\$19.7935	\$20.3653	\$20.9360	\$21.5075
Clerk 3 Financia Secretary II CC	I CC		(1820 hrs)	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582	\$33,582
•			01-Apr-10	\$19.4149	\$19.9914	\$20.5690	\$21.1454	\$21.7226
				\$35,335	\$36,384	\$37,435	\$38,485	\$39,535
			01-Apr-11	\$19.6091	\$20.1913	\$20.7746	\$21.3568	\$21.9398
				\$35,689	\$36,748	\$37,810	\$38,869	\$39,930

PAY PLAN
Service Support Classifications

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Housekeeping Aide	SVC001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$14.5121	\$14.8145	\$15.1168		
			(1950 hrs)	\$28,299	\$28,888	\$29,478		
			01-Apr-10	\$14.6572 \$28,582	\$14.9626 \$29,177	\$15.2680 \$29,773		
			01-Apr-11	\$14.8038 \$28,867	\$15.1123 \$29,469	\$15.4206 \$30,070		
Cook	SVC002	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$17.1964	\$17.5785	\$17.9606	\$18.5340	\$19.1071
			(1950 hrs)	\$33,533	\$34,278	\$35,023	\$36,141	\$37,259
			01-Apr-10	\$17.3684 \$33,868	\$17.7543 \$34,621	\$18.1402 \$35,373	\$18.7193 \$36,503	\$19.2982 \$37,631
			01-Apr-11	\$17.5420 \$34,207	\$17.9318 \$34,967	\$18.3216 \$35,727	\$18.9065 \$36,868	\$19.4912 \$38,008
Maintenance Worker	SVC003	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10 (1820 hrs)	\$19.8447 \$36,117	\$20.4127 \$37,151			
			01-Apr-10	\$20.0431 \$36,479	\$20.6168 \$37,523			
			01-Apr-11	\$20.2436 \$36,843	\$20.8230 \$37,898			

PAY PLAN Healthcare Classifications

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Community Home Visitor	HTH001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$17.3465	\$17.8820	\$18.4714	\$19.0609	\$19.6505				
			(1820 hrs)	\$31,571	\$32,545	\$33,618	\$34,691	\$35,764				
			01-Apr-10	\$17.5200 \$31,886	\$18.0608 \$32,871	\$18.6561 \$33,954	\$19.2515 \$35,038	\$19.8470 \$36,122				
				φο 1,000	Ψ02,071	φοσ,σσι	φου,σου	φου, 122				
			01-Apr-11		\$18.2414			\$20.0455				
				\$32,205	\$33,199	\$34,294	\$35,388	\$36,483				
Community Health Worker	HTH003	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$23.1879	\$24.1755	\$25.1648	\$26.2514	\$27.3392	\$28.4272			
			(1820 hrs)	\$42,202	\$43,999	\$45,800	\$47,778	\$49,757	\$51,737			
			01-Apr-10	\$23.4198	\$24.4173	\$25,4164	\$26.5139	\$27.6126	\$28.7115			
			0 . 7 .p	\$42,624	\$44,439	\$46,258	\$48,255	\$50,255	\$52,255			
			01-Apr-11	\$23.6540	\$24.6614	\$25 6706	\$26.7791	¢27 8887	\$28.9986			
			01-Api-11	\$43,050	\$44,884	\$46,721	\$48,738	\$50,757	\$52,777			
								•				
Counsellor	HTH002	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$17.4237	\$18.0611		\$21.5365		\$25.2869	\$26.3576	\$27.4284	
			(1950 hrs)	\$33,976	\$35,219	\$40,430	\$41,996	\$43,826	\$49,309	\$51,397	\$53,485	
			01-Apr-10	\$17.5979	\$18.2417	\$20.9406	\$21.7519	\$22.6993	\$25.5398	\$26.6211	\$27.7027	
				\$34,316	\$35,571	\$40,834	\$42,416	\$44,264	\$49,803	\$51,911	\$54,020	
			01-Apr-11	\$17.7739	\$18.4241	\$21,1500	\$21,9694	\$22,9263	\$25.7952	\$26.8873	\$27,9797	
			5.7.pi 11	\$34,659	\$35,927	\$41,243	\$42,840	\$44,706	\$50,301	\$52,430	\$54,560	

Classification	Pay Grade	ı	Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Research & Stats Officer	HTH004	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$24.5752		\$26.2202	\$27.0324 \$49,199		\$28.6791			
			(1820 hrs)	\$44,727	\$46,240	\$47,721	<b>Ф49, 199</b>	\$50,715	\$52,196			
			01-Apr-10	\$24.8210				\$28.1441	\$28.9659			
				\$45,174	\$46,702	\$48,198	\$49,691	\$51,222	\$52,718			
			01-Apr-11	\$25.0692		\$26.7472			\$29.2555			
				\$45,626	\$47,169	\$48,680	\$50,188	\$51,734	\$53,245			
Program Administration	HTH005	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$25 <b>7</b> 317	\$28.1907	\$20 1770	\$30.2170	\$31 238/				
Officer 1	11111000	Expired Nate	(1820 hrs)	\$46,832	\$51,307	\$53,104	\$54,995	\$56,854				
			01-Apr-10	\$25.9890	\$28.4726	\$29.4697	\$30.5192	\$31.5508				
			,	\$47,300	\$51,820	\$53,635	\$55,545	\$57,422				
			01-Apr-11	\$26.2489	\$28.7573	\$29.7644	\$30.8244	\$31.8663				
			•	\$47,773	\$52,338	\$54,171	\$56,100	\$57,997				
			31-Mar-12	\$26.2489	\$28.7573	\$29.7644	\$30.8244	\$31.8663				\$32.9816
				\$47,773	\$52,338	\$54,171	\$56,100	\$57,997				\$60,027
Health Educator	HTH006	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.2720		\$29.7906		\$31.8944				
			(1820 hrs)	\$47,815	\$52,384	\$54,219	\$56,150	\$58,048				
			01-Apr-10	\$26.5347			\$31.1600					
				\$48,293	\$52,908	\$54,761	\$56,711	\$58,628				
			01-Apr-11	\$26.8001			\$31.4716					\$33.6742
				\$48,776	\$53,437	\$55,309	\$57,278	\$59,215				\$61,287
Community Home Visitor	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908		\$29.7732		\$32.1816				
Coordinator			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557				\$32.5034				
				\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11		\$29.2558		\$31.5882		\$34.1242			
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12		\$29.2558			\$32.8285				\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Health Promoter	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908	\$28.6793	\$29.7732	\$30.9658	\$32.1816	\$33.4518			
(Public Health)			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	\$30.0709	\$31.2755	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
			•	\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			
			•	\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280
Prevention and Education	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908	\$28.6793	\$29.7732	\$30.9658	\$32.1816	\$33.4518			
Officer			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	•	•	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
				\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280
Program Administration	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908	\$28.6793	\$29.7732	\$30.9658	\$32.1816	\$33,4518			
Officer 2		,	(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	\$30.0709	\$31.2755	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
			-	\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			
			•	\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280

Classification	Pay Grade	ı	Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Youth Wellness Coordinator	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908	\$28.6793	\$29.7732	\$30.9658	\$32.1816	\$33.4518			
			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	\$30.0709	\$31.2755	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
				\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11		\$29.2558			\$32.8285				
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280
Quality Management	HTH007	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10		-	\$29.7732	-	\$32.1816	•			
Coordinator			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	\$30.0709	\$31.2755	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
				\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280
Community Outreach	HTH008	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$26.4908	\$28.6793	\$29.7732	\$30.9658	\$32.1816	\$33.4518			
Worker			(1820 hrs)	\$48,213	\$52,196	\$54,187	\$56,358	\$58,571	\$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557	\$28.9661	\$30.0709	\$31.2755	\$32.5034	\$33.7863			
				\$48,695	\$52,718	\$54,729	\$56,921	\$59,156	\$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233	\$29.2558	\$30.3716	\$31.5882	\$32.8285	\$34.1242			\$35.3185
				\$49,182	\$53,245	\$55,276	\$57,491	\$59,748	\$62,106			\$64,280

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Intake Worker	HTH008	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10 (1820 hrs)	\$26.4908 \$48,213	\$28.6793 \$52,196	\$29.7732 \$54,187	\$30.9658 \$56,358	\$32.1816 \$58,571	\$33.4518 \$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557 \$48,695	\$28.9661 \$52,718	\$30.0709 \$54,729	\$31.2755 \$56,921	\$32.5034 \$59,156	\$33.7863 \$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233 \$49,182	\$29.2558 \$53,245	\$30.3716 \$55,276	\$31.5882 \$57,491	\$32.8285 \$59,748	\$34.1242 \$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233 \$49,182	\$29.2558 \$53,245	\$30.3716 \$55,276	\$31.5882 \$57,491	\$32.8285 \$59,748	\$34.1242 \$62,106			\$35.3185 \$64,280
Recreation Therapist	HTH008	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10 (1820 hrs)	\$26.4908 \$48,213	\$28.6793 \$52,196	\$29.7732 \$54,187	\$30.9658 \$56,358	\$32.1816 \$58,571	\$33.4518 \$60,882			
			01-Apr-10	\$26.7557 \$48,695	\$28.9661 \$52,718	\$30.0709 \$54,729	\$31.2755 \$56,921	\$32.5034 \$59,156	\$33.7863 \$61,491			
			01-Apr-11	\$27.0233 \$49,182	\$29.2558 \$53,245	\$30.3716 \$55,276	\$31.5882 \$57,491	\$32.8285 \$59,748	\$34.1242 \$62,106			
			31-Mar-12	\$27.0233 \$49,182	\$29.2558 \$53,245	\$30.3716 \$55,276	\$31.5882 \$57,491	\$32.8285 \$59,748	\$34.1242 \$62,106			\$35.3185 \$64,280
Clinical Therapist	HTH009	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10 (1950 hrs)	\$29.7091 \$57,933	\$30.8914 \$60,238	\$33.3613 \$65,055	\$34.6505 \$67,569	\$36.0470 \$70,292	\$37.5517 \$73,226	\$39.0554 \$76,158		
			01-Apr-10	\$30.0062 \$58,512	\$31.2003 \$60,841	\$33.6949 \$65,705	\$34.9970 \$68,244	\$36.4075 \$70,995	\$37.9272 \$73,958	\$39.4460 \$76,920		
			01-Apr-11	\$30.3063 \$59,097	\$31.5123 \$61,449	\$34.0319 \$66,362	\$35.3470 \$68,927	\$36.7715 \$71,705	\$38.3065 \$74,698	\$39.8404 \$77,689		
			31-Mar-12	\$30.3063 \$59,097	\$31.5123 \$61,449	\$34.0319 \$66,362	\$35.3470 \$68,927	\$36.7715 \$71,705	\$38.3065 \$74,698	\$39.8404 \$77,689		\$41.2348 \$80,408

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Nutritionist	HTH010	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$29.0241	\$30.1344	\$31.3449	\$32.5561	\$33.8682	\$35.2821			
			(1820 hrs)	\$52,824	\$54,845	\$57,048	\$59,252	\$61,640	\$64,213			
			01-Apr-10	\$29.3143	\$30.4357	\$31.6583	\$32.8817	\$34.2069	\$35.6349			
			·	\$53,352	\$55,393	\$57,618	\$59,845	\$62,257	\$64,856			
			01-Apr-11	\$29.6075	\$30.7401	\$31.9749	\$33.2105	\$34.5490	\$35.9913			
				\$53,886	\$55,947	\$58,194	\$60,443	\$62,879	\$65,504			
			31-Mar-12	\$29.6075	\$30.7401	\$31.9749	\$33.2105	\$34.5494	\$35.9913			\$37.2510
				\$53,886	\$55,947	\$58,194	\$60,443	\$62,879	\$65,504			\$67,797
Dental Hygienist	HTH013	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$24.0697	\$24.8840	\$25.6808	\$26.4763	\$27.2923	\$28.0893			
, 0		•	(1820 hrs)	\$43,807	\$45,289	\$46,739	\$48,187	\$49,672	\$51,123			
			01-Apr-10	\$24.3104	\$25.1328	\$25.9376	\$26.7411	\$27.5652	\$28.3702			
			·	\$44,245	\$45,742	\$47,206	\$48,669	\$50,169	\$51,634			
			01-Apr-11	\$24.5535	\$25.3842	\$26.1970	\$27.0085	\$27.8409	\$28.6539			
			·	\$44,687	\$46,199	\$47,679	\$49,155	\$50,670	\$52,150			
Research & Data Analyst	HTH014	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10		\$27.4403			\$30.8515				
			(1820 hrs)	\$47,874	\$49,941	\$52,010	\$54,081	\$56,150	\$58,405			
			01-Apr-10		\$27.7147			\$31.1600				
				\$48,353	\$50,441	\$52,531	\$54,622	\$56,711	\$58,989			
			01-Apr-11	\$26.8333				\$31.4716	\$32.7355			
				\$48,837	\$50,945	\$53,056	\$55,168	\$57,278	\$59,579			
			31-Mar-12	\$26.8333	\$27.9919		\$30.3120	\$31.4716	\$32.7355			\$33.8812
				\$48,837	\$50,945	\$53,056	\$55,168	\$57,278	\$59,579			\$61,664

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Health Promotion &	HTH015	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$29.6891	\$30.8816	\$32.0749	\$33.3677	\$34.7606	\$36.1524			
Prevention Team Leader			(1820 hrs)	\$54,034	\$56,205	\$58,376	\$60,729	\$63,264	\$65,797			
			04 4 40	<u></u>	<b>#24.4004</b>	<u></u>	<b>#</b> 22 <b>7</b> 24 4	<b>ФОГ 4000</b>	<b>#</b> 00 <b>F</b> 400			
			01-Apr-10	\$29.9860		\$32.3956		\$35.1082				
				\$54,575	\$56,767	\$58,960	\$61,337	\$63,897	\$66,455			
			01-Apr-11	\$30.2859	\$31.5023	\$32.7196	\$34.0384	\$35.4593	\$36.8791			
				\$55,120	\$57,334	\$59,550	\$61,950	\$64,536	\$67,120			
			04.14.40	<b>***</b>	<b>404 5000</b>	<b>***</b>	40.4.000.4	<b>***</b>	<b>***</b>			<b>*</b>
			31-Mar-12	\$30.2859		\$32.7196		\$35.4593				\$38.1699
				\$55,120	\$57,334	\$59,550	\$61,950	\$64,536	\$67,120			\$69,469
Licensed Practical Nurse	NUR050	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$21.4762	\$21.9693	\$22.4430	\$23.0652					
			(1820 hrs)	\$39,087	\$39,984	\$40,846	\$41,979					
			(1950 Hrs)	\$41,879	\$42,840	\$43,764	\$44,977					
			01-Apr-10	¢21 6010	\$22.1890	\$22.6674	\$23.2959					
			(1820 hrs)	\$39,478	\$40,384	\$41,255	\$42,398					
			(1950 hrs)	\$42,297	\$43,269	\$44,201	\$45,427					
			(1930 1118)	ψ <del>4</del> Ζ,291	φ <del>4</del> 3,209	φ <del>44</del> ,201	φ45,42 <i>1</i>					
			01-Apr-11	\$21.9079	\$22.4109	\$22.8941	\$23.5288					
			(1820 hrs)	\$39,872	\$40,788	\$41,667	\$42,822					
			(1950 hrs)	\$42,720	\$43,701	\$44,644	\$45,881					
Driman, Cara Attandant	LITLIOOAA	Evnivad Bata	24 Mar 40	Φ4 <i>E</i> Ε400	Ф4 <i>Г</i> 0700	<b>C4C 40CC</b>						
Primary Care Attendant	HTH001A	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10		\$15.8726	\$16.1966						
			(1820 hrs)	\$28,298	\$28,888	\$29,478						
			01-Apr-10	\$15.7041	\$16.0313	\$16.3586						
				\$28,581	\$29,177	\$29,773						
				•	•	,						
			01-Apr-11	\$15.8611	\$16.1916	\$16.5222						
				\$28,867	\$29,469	\$30,070						

Classification	Pay Grade	•	Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Treatment Team Leader	HTH012	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$35.2838	\$36.6472	\$38.1241	\$39.7157	\$41.3062				
			(1820 hrs)	\$64,217	\$66,698	\$69,386	\$72,283	\$75,177				
			01-Apr-10	\$35.6366	\$37.0137		\$40.1129	\$41.7193				
				\$64,859	\$67,365	\$70,080	\$73,005	\$75,929				
			01-Apr-11	\$35.9930	•		\$40.5140	•				
				\$65,507	\$68,039	\$70,781	\$73,735	\$76,688				
			31-Mar-12		•	-	\$40.5140	-				\$43.6113
				\$65,507	\$68,039	\$70,781	\$73,735	\$76,688				\$79,373
Team Coordinator	HTH001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$35.8381	\$36.6009		\$38.4514	\$39.5416	\$40.6691			
			(1950 hrs)	\$69,884	\$71,372	\$73,071	\$74,980	\$77,106	\$79,305			
			01-Apr-10	\$36.1965	\$36.9669	\$37.8469	\$38.8359	\$39.9370	\$41.0758			
				\$70,583	\$72,085	\$73,801	\$75,730	\$77,877	\$80,098			
			01-Apr-11	\$36.5584			\$39.2243		\$41.4865			
				\$71,289	\$72,806	\$74,540	\$76,487	\$78,656	\$80,899			
			31-Mar-12		\$37.3366				\$41.4865			\$42.9385
				\$71,289	\$72,806	\$74,540	\$76,487	\$78,656	\$80,899			\$83,730
Continuing Care	HSA015	Expired Rate				-	\$21.9944	-				
Referral Assistant Licensed Practical Nurse			(1820 hrs)	\$36,749	\$37,990	\$38,932	\$40,030	\$41,286				
Licenteed Fraction Hards			01-Apr-10	\$20.3936	•		\$22.2143					
				\$37,116	\$38,369	\$39,321	\$40,430	\$41,699				
			01-Apr-11		\$21.2930			\$23.1408				
				\$37,488	\$38,753	\$39,714	\$40,834	\$42,116				

Classification	Pay Grade	)	Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Care Coordinator	HSN029	Expired Rate				\$35.0847	\$36.2204	\$37.3582				
			(1820 hrs)	\$59,719	\$61,786	\$63,854	\$65,921	\$67,992				
			01-Apr-10	\$33.1408	\$34.2880	\$35.4355	\$36.5826	\$37.7318				
			0 p o	\$60,316	\$62,404	\$64,493	\$66,580	\$68,672				
			01-Apr-11		\$34.6309	\$35.7899		•				
				\$60,919	\$63,028	\$65,138	\$67,246	\$69,359				
			31-Mar-12	\$33.4722	\$34.6309	\$35.7899	\$36.9484	\$38.1091				\$39.4429
				\$60,919	\$63,028	\$65,138	\$67,246	\$69,359				\$71,786
D Al: 0(f) 0	DD040	Frankra d Bata	NA 1 04/40	<b>#</b> 00 0500	<b>\$00.7000</b>	<b>#</b> 00 0005	<b>#</b> 00 0005	<b>#0.4.000</b> F	<b>#</b> 00.0500			
Program Admin Officer 3 Placement Coordinator	PR013	Expired Rate	(1820 hrs)	\$29.6596 \$53,980	\$30.7939 \$56,045	\$32.0305 \$58,296	\$33.2685 \$60,549	\$34.6095 \$62,989	\$36.0539 \$65,618			
r lacement doordinator			(10201113)	ψ55,500	ψ50,0 <del>1</del> 5	ψ50,230	ψ00,043	ψ02,303	ψ00,010			
			01-Apr-10	\$29.9562	\$31.1018	\$32.3508	\$33.6012	\$34.9556	\$36.4144			
				\$54,520	\$56,605	\$58,878	\$61,154	\$63,619	\$66,274			
			01-Apr-11	\$30.2558	\$31.4129	\$32 67 <i>4</i> 3	¢33 0372	\$35.3052	\$36 <b>77</b> 86			
			от-дрі-тт	\$55,065	\$57,171	\$59,467	\$61,766	\$64,255	\$66,937			
				* /	,	* ,	<b>,</b> - ,	<b>,</b> - ,	, ,			
			31-Mar-12	\$30.2558				\$35.3052				\$38.0659
				\$55,066	\$57,171	\$59,467	\$61,766	\$64,255	\$66,937			\$69,280
Program Admin Officer IV	PR017	Expired Rate	March 31/10	\$35.4680	\$36.8880	\$38.4099	\$40.0329	\$41.6568				
Planning and		•	(1820 hrs)	\$64,552	\$67,136	\$69,906	\$72,860	\$75,815				
Development Officer					<b>^</b>			<b>*</b> • • • • • •				
			01-Apr-10	\$35.8227 \$65,197	\$37.2569 \$67,808	\$38.7940 \$70,605	\$40.4332 \$73,588	\$42.0 <i>7</i> 34 \$76,574				
				ψ05,197	ψ07,000	Ψ10,003	Ψ1 3,300	ψ10,51 <del>4</del>				
			01-Apr-11	\$36.1809	\$37.6294	\$39.1819	\$40.8376	\$42.4941				
				\$65,849	\$68,486	\$71,311	\$74,324	\$77,339				
			21 Mar 12	¢26 4 900	¢27.6204	<b>#20 4040</b>	¢40.0276	¢40.4044				£42.004.4
			31-Mar-12	\$36.1809 \$65,849	\$37.6294 \$68,486	\$39.1819	\$40.8376 \$74,324	\$42.4941				\$43.9814 \$80,046
				ψου,υ το	φου, 100	Ψ11,011	ψ1 1,024	ψ11,000				ψου,υ ισ

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	25 Years
Financial Services Officer II	TE022	Expired Rate	March 31/10 (1820 hrs)	\$24.9909 \$45,483	\$25.9540 \$47,236	\$27.0530 \$49,236	\$28.1519 \$51,236	\$29.3896 \$53,489				
			01-Apr-10	\$25.2408 \$45,938	\$26.2135 \$47,709	\$27.3235 \$49,729	\$28.4334 \$51,749	\$29.6835 \$54,024				
			01-Apr-11	\$25.4932 \$46,398	\$26.4757 \$48,186	\$27.5968 \$50,226	\$28.7178 \$52,266	\$29.9803 \$54,564				

PAY PLAN Nursing Classifications

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Start	1 Year	2 Years	3 Years	4 Years	5 Years	25 Years
Intake Nurse	NUR001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$29.0725	\$29.8681	\$30.7762	\$31.7983	\$32.9347	\$34.1107	\$35.3046
			(1950 hrs)	\$56,691	\$58,243	\$60,014	\$62,007	\$64,223	\$66,516	\$68,844
			01-Apr-10	\$29.3632	\$30.1668	\$31.0840	\$32.1163	\$33.2640	\$34.4518	\$35.6576
				\$57,258	\$58,825	\$60,614	\$62,627	\$64,865	\$67,181	\$69,532
			01-Apr-11	\$29.6569	\$30.4684	\$31.3948	\$32.4374	\$33.5967	\$34.7963	\$36.0142
				\$57,831	\$59,413	\$61,220	\$63,253	\$65,514	\$67,853	\$70,228
Nurse Rehabilitation	NUR001	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$29.0725	\$29.8681	\$30.7762	\$31.7983	\$32.9347	\$34.1107	\$35.3046
Counsellor		-	(1950 hrs)	\$56,691	\$58,243	\$60,014	\$62,007	\$64,223	\$66,516	\$68,844
			01-Apr-10	\$29.3632	\$30.1668	\$31.0840	\$32.1163	\$33.2640	\$34.4518	\$35.6576
			·	\$57,258	\$58,825	\$60,614	\$62,627	\$64,865	\$67,181	\$69,532
			01-Apr-11	\$29.6569	\$30.4684	\$31.3948	\$32.4374	\$33.5967	\$34.7963	\$36.0142
				\$57,831	\$59,413	\$61,220	\$63,253	\$65,514	\$67,853	\$70,228

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Start	1 Year	2 Years	3 Years	4 Years	5 Years	25 Years
Public Health Nurse	NUR002	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$32.0012	\$32.9746	\$34.0696	\$35.2877	\$36.5469	\$37.8126	\$39.1361
			(1820 hrs)	\$58,242	\$60,014	\$62,007	\$64,224	\$66,515	\$68,819	\$71,228
			01-Apr-10	\$32.3212	\$33.3043	\$34.4103	\$35.6406	\$36.9124	\$38.1907	\$39.5275
				\$58,825	\$60,614	\$62,627	\$64,866	\$67,181	\$69,507	\$71,940
			01-Apr-11	\$32.6444	\$33.6374	\$34.7544	\$35.9970	\$37.2815	\$38.5726	\$39.9227
			·	\$59,413	\$61,220	\$63,253	\$65,515	\$67,852	\$70,202	\$72,659
Detox/Inpatient	NUR003	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$32.6662	\$33.9076	\$35.1960	\$37.9217	\$39.3627		\$40.7404
Team Leader		·	(1820 hrs)	\$59,453	\$61,712	\$64,057	\$69,017	\$71,640		\$74,148
			01-Apr-10	\$32.9929	\$34.2467	\$35.5480	\$38.3009	\$39.7563		\$41.1478
			·	\$60,047	\$62,329	\$64,697	\$69,708	\$72,357		\$74,889
			01-Apr-11	\$33.3228	\$34.5891	\$35.9034	\$38.6839	\$40.1539		\$41.5593
			·	\$60,647	\$62,952	\$65,344	\$70,405	\$73,080		\$75,638

PAY PLAN
Staff Nurse Continuing Care

Classification	Pay Grade		Date	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Staff Nurse CC	HSN025B	Expired Rate	31-Mar-10	\$29.0725	\$29.8680	\$30.7762	\$31.7983	\$32.9347	\$34.1107	\$35.3045
			(1820 hrs)	\$52,912	\$54,360	\$56,013	\$57,873	\$59,941	\$62,081	\$64,254
			01-Apr-10	\$29.3632	\$30.1667	\$31.0840	\$32.1163	\$33.2640	\$34.4518	\$35.6575
				\$53,441	\$54,903	\$56,573	\$58,452	\$60,541	\$62,702	\$64,897
			01-Apr-11	\$29.6569	\$30.4683	\$31.3948	\$32.4374	\$33.5967	\$34.7963	\$36.0141
				\$53,975	\$55,452	\$57,139	\$59,036	\$61,146	\$63,329	\$65,546

### References to Groups A, B, and C\*

The references in Articles 15.01 and 16.01 (a), Appendix "3", Section 8, 16.02 (a) and Appendix "4" to specific groups of classifications shall be understood to include the following:

#### **GROUP A:**

Clerk 1 Health Promotion &
Clerk 2 Prevention Team Leader
Clerk 3 Licensed Practical Nurse

Clerk 3 Financial CC Planning and Development Officer

Clerk 4 Placement Coordinator
Secretary 1 Primary Care Attendant
Secretary 2 Program Admin Officer 3
Secretary II CC Program Admin Officer 4
Maintenance Worker Recreation Therapist
Care Coordinator Financial Services Officer II

Dental Hygienist Public Health Nurse

Continuing Care Referral Assistant

Community Home Visitor

Staff Nurse CC

Youth Wellness

Community Home Visitor Youth Wellness Coordinator Health Promoter (Public Health)

#### **GROUP B:**

Community Outreach Worker
Nutritionist
Program Administration Officer 2
Detox/ Inpatient Team Leader
Research and Data Analyst
Health Educator
Program Administration Officer 2
Research & Statistics Officer
Treatment Team Leader
Community Health Worker
Community Health Worker
Treatment Team Leader
Community Home Visitor Coordinator
Intake Worker
Quality Management Coordinator

#### **GROUP C:**

Housekeeping Aide Cook
Nurse Rehabilitation Counsellor Team Coordinator
Counsellor Clinical Therapist
Intake Nurse

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union: SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT LOCAL 93 **HEALTH AUTHORITY** Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO Charles Casselman **Heather Avery** Monika Harvey **SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT** LOCAL 94 **HEALTH AUTHORITY** Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer Edwina Boyd Lois MacDougall ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT LOCAL 95 **HEALTH AUTHORITY** Janet Knox, President/CEO Darlene Bogers Joanne Fairfax **COLCHESTER EAST NSGEU** HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY Peter MacKinnon, CEO Joan Jessome, President Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

**CUMBERLAND** 

**HEALTH AUTHORITY** 

Bruce Quigley, CEO

# PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

# GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

**Recognition of Previous Experience** 

With respect to Registered Nurses, in exercising its discretion pursuant to 35.03 and 35.18,

the Employer shall recognize previous satisfactory recent nursing experience with an

employer other than District Health Authorities 1 to 8. At a minimum previous experience

shall only be considered as satisfactory and recent where the RN has not been away from

nursing for more than three (3) consecutive years.

Prior experience with employers other than District Health Authorities 1 to 8 shall only be

considered where the RN in question provides the documentation and other information

necessary to establish that the experience in question was satisfactory and to substantiate

the length of experience being put forward for recognition.

For the purpose of claiming experience as of September 1, 2008 with employers other than

District Health Authorities 1 to 8 for the 25 year increment, current RN's will have 90 days

from the date of ratification to provide satisfactory proof of prior experience. An extension to

this time period may be granted where an employee establishes to the satisfaction of the

employer that the failure to substantiate their claim in a timely manner was due to

circumstances beyond the control of the employee.

Signed on behalf of the Employer:

Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 93

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO

Charles Casselman

**Heather Avery** 

Monika Harvey

114

# SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 94

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer

Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Janet Knox, President/CEO

**Darlene Bogers** 

Joanne Fairfax

COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Peter MacKinnon, CEO

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

## PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

## GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

"PIO" Classifications

(a) Employees granted present incumbency only ("PIO") salary protection as a result of

the implementation of the wage parity maintenance process in the April 1, 2004 to

April 31, 2007 collective agreement will continue their PIO status through the term of

the agreement.

(b) Such employees may advance, though the granting of increments in accordance with

the collective agreement, to the maximum salary for the position and classification

applicable immediately prior to the implementation of the age parity maintenance

process.

(c) Such employees will continue to receive PIO status for as long as they remain in the

classification they were assigned as a result of the implementation of the wage parity

maintenance process.

Signed on behalf of the Employer:

Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 93

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO

Charles Casselman

Heather Avery

Monika Harvey

# SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 94

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer

Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Janet Knox, President/CEO

**Darlene Bogers** 

Joanne Fairfax

COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Peter MacKinnon, CEO

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

## PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

# GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

#### **Retention Incentive\***

Effective on the last day of the Collective Agreement (March 31, 2012):

Upon completion of twenty-five years of service with the Employer, all permanent employees in eligible classifications will receive an additional salary increment of 3.5% greater than the highest rate in effect for the applicable classification.

A list of eligible classifications is as follows:

Community Home Visitor Coordinator **Clinical Therapist** Community Outreach Worker **Health Educator** Intake Worker Health Promoter (Public Health) Health Promotion Prevention Team Leader Nutritionist Planning and Development Officer Prevention and Education Officer **Quality Management Coordinator Recreation Therapist** Research and Data Analyst Treatment Team Leader Team Coordinator **Care Coordinator** PAO 1 PAO 2 PAO 3 PAO 4 Youth Wellness Coordinator

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT LOCAL 93 HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO Charles Casselman

**Heather Avery** 

Monika Harvey

SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT LOCAL 94 HEALTH AUTHORITY

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT LOCAL 95
HEALTH AUTHORITY

Janet Knox, President/CEO Darlene Bogers

Joanne Fairfax

## COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

#### **NSGEU**

Peter MacKinnon, CEO

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

## CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

# PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

## GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

## MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #5 - Voluntary Severance Process\*

### **Voluntary Severance**

In order to avoid layoffs, employees selected in accordance with the process set out in this Memorandum of Agreement shall receive a payment in return for a voluntary severance from employment. Voluntary severance requires that a reduction in staff occurs as a result of each severance payment offered.

## **Employer Groupings**

For the purpose of the process outlined in this Memorandum of Agreement, the Employers are categorized into three separate "Employer Groupings" as follows:

DHA 1, 2, 3

DHA 4, 5, 6

DHA 7, 8

#### **Prior to Voluntary Severance**

#### **Union Consultation**

Prior to any affected employee being notified of a reduction in staff, the Employer with the declared reduction in staff will meet and advise the Union Management Committee of that Employer:

- (i) the department or service affected.
- (ii) the classification affected,
- (iii) the number of Employees to be potentially displaced from the department or service affected.
- (iv) the Employer's determination of the least senior Employee(s) within the identified classification in the department or service affected within the Employer with the declared reduction in staff;
- (v) all existing or pending vacancies within the identified classification within the Employer with the declared reduction of staff;
- (vi) the number of positions that may have access to a voluntary severance process.

### **Restrictions on Postings**

The Employers within each Employer Grouping shall not post vacancies that arise within the identified classification where there has been a declared reduction of staff by one of the Employers within an Employer Grouping until the process set out herein is complete.

### **Vacancy Matching**

An employee can only be matched to a vacancy within the identified classification within the Employer with the declared reduction of staff or within an Employer Grouping if the annual salary and the regular hours of work do not exceed those of his/her existing position.

### **Voluntary Severance Process**

For the purposes of this process, the Employer with the declared reduction in staff shall only consider expressions of interest from employees who occupy position(s) of equivalent regular hours of work as the staff complement to be reduced.

### Step 1:

- (a) In the event that the Employer determines the number of employees within a particular classification to be reduced, the Employer shall invite expressions of interest for voluntary severance within the identified classification within that Employer.
- (b) The number of voluntary severances offered by the Employer shall be equal to the number of positions declared redundant within the identified classification within the Employer minus any vacancies that may exist in the identified classification within the Employer.
- (c) The Employer shall consider the expressions of interest for voluntary severance of the most senior employee(s) in the identified classification within the Employer subject to the above. The Employer shall only approve such request where operational requirements and efficiency of service permit.
- \*(d) Employees shall have forty eight (48) hours following receipt of the notice to submit their expression of interest in writing. The Employer will determine acceptance as soon as reasonably possible following the forty eight (48) hours response time. Employees shall have seventy two (72) hours to indicate their decision in writing with respect to voluntary severance.
- (e) Where the Employer accepts the employee's expressed interest in severance, the employee shall be deemed to have voluntarily severed employment and shall forfeit all rights under the Collective Agreement. This severance is not deemed to be a layoff.

#### Step 2:

Prior to offering an expression of interest to the remaining Employer(s) within each Employer Grouping as set out in step 3 below, the remaining Employer(s) within each Employer Grouping must determine if there are existing vacancies within the identified classification. The Employer will not offer an expression of interest for voluntary severance to the remaining Employer(s) within each Employer Grouping if there are existing vacancies. In addition, the offering of an expression of interest to the remaining Employer(s) within each Employer Grouping as set out in step 3 below, is conditional on the junior employee within the identified classification expressing interest in accepting a potential resulting vacancy within the Employer Grouping. The junior employee shall have forty eight (48) hours following receipt of the notification of a potential resulting vacancy to submit their expression of interest in writing.

### Step 3:

- (a) In the event that the number of acceptances by the Employer of expressions of interest in step 1 is less than the total number of voluntary severances offered by the Employer within the identified classification, the remaining employer(s) within the Employer Grouping will solicit expressions of interest from all employees in the identified classification within each Employer Grouping. Acceptance of an expression of interest by the Employer, who is reducing staff complement, is conditional on the junior employee accepting the resulting vacancy within the Employer Grouping.
- (b) The Employer shall consider the expressions of interest for voluntary severance of the most senior employee(s) in the identified classification within the Employer Grouping. The Employer Grouping shall only approve such request where operational requirements and efficiency of service permit.
- (c) Employees shall have seventy two (72) hours following receipt of the notice to submit their expression of interest in writing. The employee to be displaced as a result of the conditional voluntary severance must respond in writing within seven (7) calendar days of the notice to accept or decline the resulting vacancy within the Employer Grouping. The Employer will determine acceptance as soon as reasonably possible following the seven (7) calendar days response time.
- (d) Where the Employer accepts the Employees expressed interest in severance, the Employee shall be deemed to have voluntarily severed employment and shall forfeit all rights under the Collective Agreement. This severance is not deemed to be a layoff.
- (e) Where the Employer achieves its reduction requirements through this voluntary method, there will be no more offers of voluntary severance and this process will end.
- (f) Where the number of acceptances of voluntary severance is less than the number of employees in the identified classification to be reduced, the

Employer shall identify those employees who are subject to layoff. Before such employee(s) receive a notice of layoff, the Employer will notify such employee(s) who will have seventy two (72) hours notice to express interest in voluntary severance. Above employee(s) who decline the offer of voluntary severance shall be in receipt of a layoff notice and shall be entitled to exercise options as set out in Article 34.14 (c).

### **Voluntary Severance Payment**

- (a) The amount of voluntary severance shall be equivalent to four (4) weeks regular (excluding overtime) pay for each year of service to a maximum payment of fifty two (52) weeks pay and for a minimum payment of eight (8) weeks pay.
- (b) The entitlement of an employee to voluntary severance payment shall be based on an employee's total service as defined in article 1.02.
- (c) An employee in receipt of voluntary severance who terminates employment in accordance with these provisions and is eligible to receive a pension in accordance with the Employer's Pension Plan and commences receiving the pension immediately following the severance of employment shall also be entitled to receive the Retirement Allowance under Article 31.01 of the Collective Agreement. The maximum combined voluntary severance payment and Retirement Allowance payment shall not exceed fifty-two (52) weeks. The Retirement Allowance will be paid to the employee at the earliest opportunity in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act of Canada.
- (d) Any payment in accordance with this provision will be in the form of a lump sum.

#### **Release Form**

Employees accepting voluntary severance will be required to sign a release statement verifying their resignation and agreement to sever any future claim for compensation from the Employer or obligation by the Union in exchange for the severance payment.

#### No Entitlement to Moving / Transfer Expenses

Any employee who agrees to accept the resulting vacancy within an Employer Grouping as set out in step 3 of the process set out above, the employee shall not be entitled to moving / transfer expenses in accordance with the collective agreement.

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT LOCAL 93
HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO Charles Casselman

Heather Avery

Monika Harvey

SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 94

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer

Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Janet Knox, President/CEO

Darlene Bogers

Joanne Fairfax

COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Peter MacKinnon, CEO

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

# PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

# GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

# RE: Devolution of Continuing Care From the Department of Health to the District Health Authorities – June 5, 2009\*

Whereas Continuing Care employees devolved from the Department of Health to District Health Authorities (DHAs 1 through 8) effective June 5, 2009.

And Whereas each District Health Authority (DHA 1 through 8) has its own Memorandum of Agreement with respect to the Devolution.

And Whereas the parties to each Memorandum of Agreement are the Province of Nova Scotia, the respective District Health Authority and the NSGEU.

And Whereas the content of the Memorandum of Agreement for all District Health Authorities (DHA 1 through 8) is identical.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is reproduced in this collective agreement for historical reference only and does not form part of the collective agreement.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is attached hereto.

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH SHORE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY LOCAL 93

Dr. Peter Vaughan, CEO Charles Casselman

Heather Avery

# SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 94

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer

Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Janet Knox, President/CEO

**Darlene Bogers** 

Joanne Fairfax

COLCHESTER EAST HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Peter MacKinnon, CEO

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

# CUMBERLAND HEALTH AUTHORITY

Bruce Quigley, CEO

# PICTOU COUNTY HEALTH AUTHORITY

Patrick Lee, CEO

# GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Liz Millett, CEO

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO

Kevin D. Hooper

DATED AT Sydney, N.S. this 4<sup>th</sup>, day of September, 2012.

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

RE: DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO THE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITIES

#### Between:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF NOVA SCOTIA THROUGH THE AGENCY OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

(hereafter the "Province")

and

THE, EMPLOYER (DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY), A BODY CORPORATE ESTABLISHED UNDER THE <u>HEALTH AUTHORITIES ACT</u>S.N.S. 2000, C.6

(hereafter the "Employer")

and

#### THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION

(hereafter the "Union")

#### Whereas:

On January 17, 2008, the Government announced its decision to begin the process of integrating continuing care services within the District Health Authorities and

This involves a transition of the Department of Health's Continuing Care functions and employees to the District Health Authorities, and

In respect of the Employees of the Department of Health who are listed on Schedule A hereto and who are represented by the Union and who deliver or support the delivery of continuing care programs and the Parties hereto have agreed to transfer their employment from the Province to the Employer by way of this Agreement.

Now therefore it is agreed as follows:

#### 1. Definitions

- a) <u>Agreement</u> means the Memorandum of Agreement between the Province, the Union and the Employer including any schedule hereto.
- b) <u>Bargaining Unit</u> means the Bargaining Unit as defined in the Collective Agreement which unit is commonly referred to as the "fifth unit", amended as follows:

Bargaining Unit means all regular and temporary full-time and part-time employees, and casual employees as provided by this agreement engaged in providing addiction / drug dependency and public health programs and who deliver or support the delivery of continuing care programs, but excluding those persons represented by other bargaining agents, those persons included in a bargaining unit of employees of the Employer engaged in providing services other than addiction / drug dependency and public health programs or the delivery or support of the delivery of continuing care programs and those persons excluded by paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (2) of Section 2 of the Trade Union Act.

- c) <u>Collective Agreement</u> means the Collective Agreement between the Employer and the Union which applies to the Bargaining Unit and which is in effect as of the Devolution Date.
- d) <u>Devolution Date</u> means the date upon which the Employees of the Province commence being employees of the Employer which date will be confirmed by the resigning of this Agreement by the Province, the Employer and the Union.
- e) <u>Employee(s)</u> means an employee of the Province engaged in delivering or supporting the delivery of continuing care programs who is listed in Schedule "A" hereto and who becomes an Employee of the Employer on the Devolution Date.

# 2. <u>Effective Date</u>

This Agreement shall have effect on and after the Devolution Date.

# 3. <u>Voluntary Recognition</u>

- a) The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all of the Employees of the Employer in the Bargaining Unit and the Employer and the Union agree that this Agreement constitutes a voluntary recognition within the meaning of section 30 of the *Trade Union Act*;
- b) The Employer agrees to post, on and after the Devolution Date, a copy of this Agreement in a conspicuous place or places where it is most likely to come to the attention of Employees and to continue the posting of the Agreement for a minimum period of 30 days.

# 4. Continuity of Employment

The employment of all Employees listed in Schedule A shall continue without break or interruption and, subject to any agreement between the Employer and the Union, all seniority rights of these Employees shall continue unaffected by the change in their employment from the Province to the Employer.

# 5. Rights and Obligations

- a) The Employer and the Union agree that on and after the Devolution Date the Collective Agreement will apply to the Employees subject only to this Agreement and to such variation of the Collective Agreement as is agreed to herein or may later be agreed to between the Employer and the Union.
- b) The Employer agrees all accrued rights to pay, overtime pay, sick leave, public service awards, holidays, pensions, vacation, time off in lieu of overtime, compensatory time off for compensation when such time off is not possible, public service award advances, leaves of absence, maternity leave, pregnancy leave, adoption leave, leave for birth of child, parental leave or other existing leave arrangements, all rights to return to work from any leave, sickness, workers' compensation or injury on duty, vacation or holidays, granted or agreed prior to the effective date of this Memorandum of Agreement are preserved unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer. After the Devolution Date such Employees shall accrue such rights in accordance with the Collective Agreement unless otherwise stated herein.
- c) (i) Employees in a matching classification presently in the Collective Agreement shall be placed on the existing wage scale of that classification at the next higher step. If there is

- no next higher step, the Employee shall be "PIO'd" at his or her hourly rate of pay so long as the employee continues to work in his or her present classification.
- (ii) Employees in a classification not presently in the Collective Agreement, other than Staff Nurses, will maintain their classification and wage scale in effect as of the Devolution Date.
- (iii) Employees in the Staff Nurse classification shall be paid according to the wage scale attached as Appendix "B".
- d) An employee who has earned, by having 288 months of service as of the Devolution Date, a greater vacation entitlement than that provided in the Collective Agreement shall retain that entitlement. Employees will be exempt from Article 18.09 (expiry of vacation accumulation) until a new Collective Agreement is in effect.
- e) Education Premiums in Article 35.17 of the Collective Agreement shall apply to those Employees who are Staff Nurses, and on a "present incumbent only" basis to Continuing Care Coordinators who are Registered Nurses and presently paid the educational premiums available to Staff Nurses, so long as they continue to work in their present classification.
- f) Any "grandfathered" sick leave banks shall be used by the Employees after the Devolution Date only in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- g) The Province and the Union agree that on and after the Devolution Date the Province, in respect of the Employees, shall have no further obligation under The Civil Service Master Agreement.
- h) Employees who retire with an actuarially-reduced pension will receive the retirement allowance pursuant to Article 31 of the Collective Agreement.
- i) The Province agrees to secure an Order-in-Council, if necessary, to provide that the Employees will be able to continue their public service pension as employees in the Bargaining Unit.
- j) If necessary to ensure that the employees in the Bargaining Unit are covered by the Public Service Long-Term Disability Plan, the Employer and the Union agree to jointly request the Trustees of the Plan to include the Employer and the employees under that Plan.
- k) The Employer and the Union agree that this Agreement shall be incorporated into and become part of the Collective Agreement.

# 6. Existing Grievances etc.

a) All grievances, classification appeals, adjudications, interest arbitrations and judicial review proceedings which arose before the Devolution Date shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer with such modification to process as may be required by the Collective Agreement, and with the Employer continuing as the Employer in the place and stead of the Province. b) All classification disputes which have been referred to a Classification Appeal Tribunal under the Civil Service Master Agreement before the Devolution Date, but which have not begun shall proceed to the Appeal Tribunal (unless earlier resolved between the Union and the Employer) and the Employer shall continue as the Employer before the Tribunal in the place and stead of the Province.

# 7. Recognition of Employee Service and Seniority

- a) Subject to any agreement between the Union and the Employer, all periods of service of an Employee in the Civil Service and periods of employment recognized as service by the Province before the Devolution Date shall be deemed service with the Employer for all purposes and all seniority rights of Employees shall be preserved and shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer.
- b) Seniority of Employees as of the Devolution Date is defined as the length of continuous employment dating from the last date of appointment to the Civil Service.
- c) The Employees will be placed on the merged Public Health and Addictions Services seniority list for the Employer.
- d) As of the Devolution Date, an Employee who is a "Term" employee under the Civil Service Master Agreement shall be considered a "Temporary Employee" under the Collective Agreement, except that such Temporary Employees who reach three or more years of accumulated service shall have layoff/recall rights as provided in Article 34 of the Collective Agreement.

# 8. Work Schedules, Vacation Schedules and Shift Arrangements

- a) Until changed in accordance with the Collective Agreement all hours of work, work schedules, vacation schedules, and shift arrangements of the Employees in effect immediately before the Devolution Date shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer.
- b) The Employees shall be included in Group A for the purpose of Article 16 of the Collective Agreement.

#### 9. Re-Signing of Memorandum

All parties hereto agree to re-sign the Agreement on the Devolution Date.

#### **MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #7**

# RE: Devolution of Continuing Care From the Department of Health to the District Health Authorities – September 26, 2011\*

Whereas Continuing Care employees devolved from the Department of Health to District Health Authorities (DHAs 3, 4, 7 & 8) effective September 26, 2011.

And Whereas District Health Authorities 3, 4, 7, & 8 has its own Memorandum of Agreement with respect to Devolution.

And Whereas the parties to each Memorandum of Agreement are the Province of Nova Scotia, the respective District Health Authority and the NSGEU.

And Whereas the content of the Memorandum of Agreement for District Health Authorities 3, 4, 7, & 8 is identical.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is reproduced in this collective agreement for historical reference only and does not form part of the collective agreement.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is attached hereto.

Signed on behalf of the Employer:	Signed on behalf of the Union:
ANNAPOLIS VALLEY DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY	LOCAL 93
Janet Knox, President / CEO	Charles Casselman
	Heather Avery
	Monika Harvey

LOCAL 94

**COLCHESTER EAST** 

HANTS HEALTH AUTHORITY

Peter MacKinnon, CEO	Edwina Boyd
----------------------	-------------

Lois MacDougall

GUYSBOROUGH ANTIGONISH STRAIT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Liz Millett, CEO Darlene Bogers

Joanne Fairfax

CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

**NSGEU** 

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO Joan Jessome, President

Kevin D. Hooper Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

DATED AT Sydney, N.S. this 4<sup>th</sup>, day of September, 2012.

# **MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT**

RE: DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO THE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITIES

# HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF NOVA SCOTIA THROUGH THE AGENCY OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

(hereafter the "Province")

and

# THE, EMPLOYER (DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY), A BODY CORPORATE ESTABLISHED UNDER THE HEALTH AUTHORITIES ACT S.N.S. 2000, C.6

(hereafter the "Employer")

and

#### THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION

(hereafter the "Union")

#### Whereas:

Effective June 5th, 2009 the Government began the process of integrating continuing care services within the District Health Authorities; and

On or about September, 2011 a further transfer of employees to the District Health Authorities will take place; and

In respect of the Employees at the Department of Health and Wellness who are listed on Schedule A hereto, who are represented by the Union and who deliver or support the delivery of continuing care programs, the Parties hereto have agreed to transfer their employment from the Province to the Employer by way of this Agreement;

Now therefore it is agreed as follows:

# 1. Definitions

- a) <u>Agreement</u> means the Memorandum of Agreement between the Province, the Union and the Employer including any schedule hereto.
- b) <u>Bargaining Unit</u> means the public health and addiction services Bargaining Unit as defined in the Collective Agreement which unit is commonly referred to as the "fifth unit", as amended by Memorandum of Agreement, signed June 5<sup>th</sup>, 2009 regarding the devolution of continuing care.
- c) <u>Collective Agreement</u> means the Collective Agreement between the Employer and the Union which applies to the Bargaining Unit and which is in effect as of the Devolution Date.
- d) <u>Devolution Date</u> means the date upon which the Employees of the Province cease being employees of the Employer.
- e) <u>Employee</u> means an employee of the Province engaged in delivering or supporting the delivery of continuing care programs who is listed in Schedule "A" hereto and who becomes an Employee of the Employer on the Devolution Date.

# 2. Effective Date

This Agreement shall have effect on and after the Devolution Date.

# 3. <u>Voluntary Recognition</u>

- a) The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all of the Employees of the Employer in the Bargaining Unit and the Employer and the Union agree that this Agreement constitutes a voluntary recognition within the meaning of section 30 of the *Trade Union Act*;
- b) The Employer agrees to post, on and after the Devolution Date, a copy of this Agreement in a conspicuous place or places where it is most likely to come to the attention of Employees and to continue the posting of the Agreement for a minimum period of 30 days.

# 4. Continuity of Employment

The employment of all Employees listed in Schedule A shall continue without break or interruption and, subject to any agreement between the Employer and the Union, all seniority rights of these Employees shall continue unaffected by the change in their employment from the Province to the Employer.

# 5. Rights and Obligations

- a) The Employer and the Union agree that on and after the Devolution Date the Collective Agreement will apply to the Employees subject only to this Agreement and to such variation of the Collective Agreement as is agreed to herein or may later be agreed to between the Employer and the Union.
- b) The Employer agrees all accrued rights to pay, overtime pay, sick leave, public service awards, holidays, pensions, vacation, time off in lieu of overtime, compensatory time off for compensation when such time off is not possible, leaves of absence, maternity leave, pregnancy leave, adoption leave, leave for birth of child, parental leave or other existing leave arrangements, all rights to return to work from any leave, sickness, workers' compensation or injury on duty, vacation or holidays, granted or agreed prior to the effective date of this Memorandum of Agreement are preserved unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer. After the Devolution Date such Employees shall accrue such rights in accordance with the Collective Agreement unless otherwise stated herein.
- c) The name, classification, pay scale step, seniority and service dates of the Employees shall be as indicated in Appendix "A" attached. The Employees shall not be entitled to negotiated increases retroactive prior to the Devolution Date.
- d) An employee who has earned, by having 288 months of service as of the Devolution Date, a greater vacation entitlement than that provided in the Collective Agreement shall retain that entitlement. Employees will be exempt from Article 18.09 (expiry of vacation accumulation) until a new Collective Agreement replaces the 2006-2009 Collective Agreement.
- e) Any "grandfathered" sick leave banks shall be used by the Employees after the Devolution Date only in accordance with the Collective Agreement.

- f) The Province and the Union agree that on and after the Devolution Date the Province, in respect of the Employees, shall have no further obligation under The Civil Service Master Agreement.
- g) Employees who retire with an actuarially-reduced pension will receive the retirement allowance pursuant to Article 31 of the Collective Agreement.
- h) The parties agree that the Employees will continue their public service pension as employees in the Bargaining Unit.
- i) If necessary to ensure that the Employees in the Bargaining Unit are covered by the Public Service Long-Term Disability Plan, the Employer and the Union agree to jointly request the Trustees of the Plan to include the Employer and the Employees under that Plan.
- j) The Employer and the Union agree that this Agreement shall be incorporated into and become part of the Collective Agreement.

#### 6. Existing Grievances etc.

- a) All grievances, classification appeals, adjudications, interest arbitrations and judicial review proceedings which arose before the Devolution Date shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer with such modification to process as may be required by the Collective Agreement, and with the Employer continuing as the Employer in the place and stead of the Province.
- b) All classification disputes which have been referred to a Classification Appeal Tribunal under the Civil Service Master Agreement before the Devolution Date, but which have not begun shall proceed to the Appeal Tribunal (unless earlier resolved between the Union and the Employer) and the Employer shall continue as the Employer before the Tribunal in the place and stead of the Province.

# 7. Recognition of Employee Service and Seniority

- a) Subject to any agreement between the Union and the Employer, all periods of service of an Employee in the Civil Service and periods of employment recognized as service by the Province before the Devolution Date shall be deemed service with the Employer for all purposes and all seniority rights of Employees shall be preserved and shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer.
- b) Seniority of Employees as of the Devolution Date is defined as the length of continuous employment dating from the last date of appointment to the Civil Service.
- c) The Employees will be placed on the merged Public Health and Addictions Services seniority list for the Employer.
- d) As of the Devolution Date, an Employee who is a "Term" employee under the Civil Service Master Agreement shall be considered a "Temporary Employee" under the Collective Agreement, except that such Temporary Employees who reach three or more years of accumulated service shall have layoff/recall rights as provided in Article 34 of the Collective Agreement.

#### 8. Work Schedules, Vacation Schedules and Shift Arrangements

- a) Until changed in accordance with the Collective Agreement all hours of work, work schedules, vacation schedules, and shift arrangements of the Employees in effect immediately before the Devolution Date shall continue unaffected by the change in employment from the Province to the Employer. Existing Modified Work Week arrangements shall continue subject to the terms of the Collective Agreements and without prejudice to any reviews presently underway.
- b) The Employees shall be included in Group A for the purpose of Article 16 of the Collective Agreement.

**MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #8** 

**RE: Devolution of CCRAs\*** 

Whereas District Health Authorities 2, 4, & 8 has its own Memorandum of Agreement with

respect to transferred employees working as of June 5, 2009 as Continuing Care Referral

Assistants.

And Whereas the parties to each Memorandum of Agreement are the Province of Nova

Scotia, the respective District Health Authority, and the NSGEU.

And Whereas the content of the Memorandum of Agreement for District Health Authorities 2,

4, & 8 is identical.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is reproduced in this collective

agreement for historical reference only and does not form part of the Collective Agreement.

And Whereas the text of the Memorandum of Agreement is attached hereto.

Signed on behalf of the Employer: Signed on behalf of the Union:

SOUTH WEST NOVA DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 93

Blaise MacNeil, Chief Executive Officer Charles Casselman

**Heather Avery** 

Monika Harvey

142

COL	CHE	STE	R E	AST		
HAN	TS F	<b>HEAL</b>	TH.	AUT	HOF	RITY

LOCAL 94

Peter MacKinnon, CEO Edwina Boyd

Lois MacDougall

# CAPE BRETON DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY

LOCAL 95

Dr. Dianne Calvert Simms, CEO Darlene Bogers

Kevin D. Hooper Joanne Fairfax

# **NSGEU**

Joan Jessome, President

Jim Gosse, Chief Negotiator

DATED AT Sydney, N.S. this 4<sup>th</sup>, day of September, 2012.

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

# RE: DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO THE DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITIES

#### Between:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF NOVA SCOTIA THROUGH THE AGENCY OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

(hereafter the "Province")

and

THE, EMPLOYER (DISTRICT HEALTH AUTHORITY), A BODY CORPORATE ESTABLISHED UNDER THE HEALTH AUTHORITIES ACT S.N.S. 2000, C.6

(hereafter the "Employer")

and

#### THE NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION

(hereafter the "Union")

#### Whereas:

On June 5, 2009, a Memorandum of Agreement was signed by the Province of Nova Scotia, the Employer and the Union in relation to the transfer of certain employees from the Provincial civil service to the Employer; and

The parties wish to make further provision for the transferred employees working as of June 5, 2009 as Continuing Care Referral Assistants;

#### Now therefore it is agreed as follows:

- 1. The Employer will establish the Continuing Care Referral Assistant (CCRA) as a classification in its collective agreement with the same salary it enjoyed within the Civil Service at the time of transfer
- 2. All CCRAs hired by the Employer after the date of transfer will be paid the CCRA rate.
- 3. Incumbent CCRAs who transferred from the civil service will receive the LPN rate that existed on the date of transfer, on a PIO'd basis. PIO meaning they will get general economic increases, but not any special LPN adjustments or premiums. They will remain classified as CCRAs, with a PIO'd rate. Any adjustment would be retroactive to the date of transfer.

# <u>INDEX</u>

A	C
Absence Without Permission	Calculation of Award
Authorization	COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT  APPLICATION
B	Compassionate Care Leave
Baccalaureate Degree	Compensation for Work on a Holiday 29 Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken
Benefits/Layoff	Conflict With Policy

D	Employer Compensation Upon Separation
Daily rate of pay3	Employer Groupings123
DATE OF EMPLOYMENT88	Employer Liability
Daylight Saving Time	Employer to Acquaint New Employees*
Death Prior to Retirement	Employment Stability* 60
Deduction of Union Dues	EMPLOYMENT STABILITY*57
Deemed Salary	Entitlement56
Definition of "employee"64	Entitlement to Benefits70
Definition of Technological Change 58	Examination Leave32
Definitions21	Exception
Definitions* 1	Exception to Overtime Provision 21
Delegation of Authority8	EXCEPTIONS 83, 84
Deviations from Scheduled Hours 20	Exchange of Shifts19
Devolution of CCRAs*	Existing Employees Only 73
Devolution of Continuing Care	<b>EXPEDITED ARBITRATION - RULES OF</b>
DEVOLUTION OF CONTINUING CARE	<u>PROCEDURE</u> 81
	Expedited Arbitration Procedure 53
<u>Devolution of Continuing Care*</u> 129, 136	expiry of vacation accumulation 134
DINNER 84	Extension75
DISCHARGE 48	
DISCIPLINE48	F
Discontinuance of Premiums 68	5 ii
Distribution of Union Literature9	Failure to Give Notice
District Health Authorities6	Filling of Vacancy
double time	First-Aid Kits
Duration and Renewal*77	Flexible Working Hours
	Form of Compensation
E	Future Legislation7
Earning Entitlements70	G
Education	Openhan
Education Leaves42	Gender
Education Premiums	General Illness
Education Premiums for Nurses	
Effective Date of Agreement	Geographic Location 64 grandfathered" sick leave banks 134
Eligibility	Granting of Withheld Increment 66
Eligibility for Utilization	Grievance Mediation51
Emergency Services	Grievance Meetings
Employee	Grievance Procedure
Employee Access to Employment File 48	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 50
Employee Availability	Grievances
27	GROUP BENEFITS
EMPLOYEE FILES	Group Insurance43
Employee Performance Review	Group Life Assurance
Employee Request	
Employer	

Н	Leave for Emergency
	Leave for Family Illness32
Harassment	Leave for Personal Preventive Care 38
Headquarters83	Leave for Public Office
Healthcare Classifications 6, 98	Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions
Holiday 3	38
Holiday Coinciding with Paid Leave 29	Leave of absence 3
Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest29	Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union
Holidays74	President
HOLIDAYS	Leave Without Pay15
Hours of Work	Letter of Appointment
	Liability 14
Hours Worked70	
	Limit on Standby
	Lockout
	Long Service Increment for Nurses 68
Identification of Job Share	Long Term Disability
Illness During Vacation28	Long Term Disability Plan44
Illness on a Paid Holiday30	Long-Term Disability 46
Implementation of Negotiated Increases 67	Loss of Seniority and Employment* 59
Incidental Expenses - Eligibility85	
INFORMATION*9	M
Injury Pay Provisions69	
INSURANCE83	Maintaining Coverage 18
INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS 1	Management Rights 8
	Management ragins
	Masters Degree
J	
J	Masters Degree
	Masters Degree
	Masters Degree
Job Posting         11           JOB SHARING         73	Masters Degree
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73	Masters Degree
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53	Masters Degree
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53Jury Compensation32	Masters Degree
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53Jury Compensation32Just Cause48	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53Jury Compensation32	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53Jury Compensation32Just Cause48	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55Moving Expenses on Transfer85
Job Posting       11         JOB SHARING       73         Job Sharing Conditions       73         Joint Consultation       53         Jury Compensation       32         Just Cause       48         K         KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES*       83	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55
Job Posting11JOB SHARING73Job Sharing Conditions73Joint Consultation53Jury Compensation32Just Cause48	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55Moving Expenses on Transfer85Mutual Consent76
Job Posting       11         JOB SHARING       73         Job Sharing Conditions       73         Joint Consultation       53         Jury Compensation       32         Just Cause       48         K         KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES*       83	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55Moving Expenses on Transfer85
Job Posting       11         JOB SHARING       73         Job Sharing Conditions       73         Joint Consultation       53         Jury Compensation       32         Just Cause       48         K         KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES*       83	Masters Degree68Meal & Rest Periods19Meals - Eligibility and Allowances84Meetings58Merged Seniority List*1Military Leave39Minutes59Modified Work Week20Monthly Allowances/Premiums75Moving Expense55MOVING EXPENSES55Moving Expenses on Transfer85Mutual Consent76
Job Posting       11         JOB SHARING       73         Job Sharing Conditions       73         Joint Consultation       53         Jury Compensation       32         Just Cause       48         K         KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES*       83         Kilometre Allowance       54	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         N       New Classification       76
Job Posting       11         JOB SHARING       73         Job Sharing Conditions       73         Joint Consultation       53         Jury Compensation       32         Just Cause       48         K       KILOMETRE ALLOWANCES*       83         Kilometre Allowance       54         L       L         Late Career Retention Bonus for LPNs*. 69	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       76
Job Posting	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       7         No Discrimination for Union Activity       7
Job Posting	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       7         No Discrimination for Union Activity       7         No Entitlement to Moving / Transfer
Job Posting	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       7         No Discrimination for Union Activity       7         No Entitlement to Moving / Transfer       Expenses         126
Job Posting	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       7         No Discrimination for Union Activity       7         No Entitlement to Moving / Transfer       Expenses         No Guarantee of Hours       18
Job Posting	Masters Degree       68         Meal & Rest Periods       19         Meals - Eligibility and Allowances       84         Meetings       58         Merged Seniority List*       1         Military Leave       39         Minutes       59         Modified Work Week       20         Monthly Allowances/Premiums       75         Moving Expense       55         MOVING EXPENSES       55         Moving Expenses on Transfer       85         Mutual Consent       76         No Discrimination       7         No Discrimination for Union Activity       7         No Entitlement to Moving / Transfer       Expenses         126

No Loss of Service16	PAY*65
No New Employees64	Payment Formula and Leave of Absence
No Pyramiding of Premiums68	40
No Sanction of Strike8	Pension 75
Notice75	PENSIONS 56
Notice of Layoff60	Period of Job Share74
Notice of Performance Improvement	period of leave40
Requirements47	PIO" Classifications117
Notice of Resignation49	Placement/Displacement Procedures 61
Notice to Union	POINTS OF CLARIFICATION
Notice to Withhold Salary Increment 66	Policy Grievance
Notification	Position Descriptions
Notification of Appointments and	Post Graduate Training - 3 Months 67
Terminations11	Post-Graduate Training - 6 Months 68
Notification of Deduction	Posting of Shift Schedules
Notification to Employer15	PREAMBLE1
Number of Employees Eligible16	Pregnancy Leave 33
Nursing Classifications 6, 108	Pregnancy Sick Leave 33
	Pregnancy/Birth Leave Allowance 33
0	Prepaid Leave 39
	Presence of Union Steward at Meeting 15
Occupational Health and Safety Act 57	Prior to Voluntary Severance 123
Ongoing Therapy47	Probationary Period10
Operational Requirements73	Professional and Association Dues 14
Optional Monthly Allowance*85	Proof and Notice of Entitlement 36
Orientation43	Proof of Illness
Other Paid Leaves75	Pro-Ration of Benefits74
overtime89	Protection of Pregnant Employees 57
Overtime	
	Protective Clothing
Overtime Compensation	
Overtime Eligibility	SPACE
Overtime Meal Allowance	Public Service Long-Term Disability Plan
Overtime on a Holiday30	134
OVERTIME*21	
	Q
Р	Qualifications 72
noid holidaya 00	Qualifications73
paid holidays90	
Paid Holidays28	R
Parental Leave	D ( ( D )   1
Parental/Adoption Leave Allowance 35	Rate of Pay Upon Appointment 65
PARKING 84	Rate of Pay Upon Demotion 65
Part of Collective Agreement73	Rate of Pay Upon Promotion 65
Participation in Benefit Plans37	Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification 66
PART-TIME EMPLOYEES70	RATES 84
Part-Time Employees – Extra Shifts 71	Rates of Pay* 65
Pay in Lieu of Notice64	Reasonable Expenses 54
PAY PLAN*94	Recall During Meal or Rest Periods 19

Recall from Vacation28	S	
Recall Procedure		
RECLASSIFICATION	SAFETY AND HEALTH	
Recognition	Safety and Health Provisions	
RECOGNITION7	Safety Equipment	
Recognition of Previous Experience 114	Salary Increments	
Recognition of Seniority With the	SCHEDULING	
Employer*1	Secondment*	
Record of Disciplinary Action	Seniority Information	
Recurring Disabilities45	Seniority*	
References to Groups A, B, and C* 111	Service	
Referral to Arbitration52	Service and Seniority	
Regular Employee5	Service Support Classifications	
Regular Positions 12	Service Support Classifications*	
Regular Work Hours74	Servicing of Grievances	
Reimbursement of Expenses upon Recall	Severance Pay*	
28	Shift Premium*	
Reinstatement49	Short Term Illness	
Reinstatement of Vacation Upon Recall. 28	Short-Term Illness Leave Benefit.	44
Release Form	SICK LEAVE	
Release Form*64	Sick Leave Records	46
Release from Duty58	Soiled and Damaged Clothing	72
Religious Exclusions13	Special Leave	30
Relocation & Travel*83	Spouse	
RELOCATION EXPENSES85	Staff Nurse Continuing Care	110
Relocation of a Position59	Standby Compensation*	
Remittance of Union Dues14	STANDBY*	24
Reporting of Injuries69	Statement of Pay	67
Required Uniforms72	STEWARDS	14
Rest Interval After Callback24	Strict Application of Procedure	64
Restrictions on Postings 123	Strike	4
Resumption of Work36	Successor Rights	77
Retention Incentive* 120	SUCCESSOR RIGHTS	77
Retirement Allowance55		
Retroactive Pay for Terminated	Т	
Employees*78	-	
return from leave40	Temporary employee	4
Return to Former Position13	Temporary Employee	135
Return to Regular Times of Work 20	Temporary Positions	
Right to Refuse Work57	TERM OF AGREEMENT*	77
Rights and Benefits73	Termination	75
RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS8	Termination of Probationary Appoi	intment
Roles and Responsibilities43		11
Rotation of Shifts19	Termination of Recall Rights	63
Rules of Procedure53	Terms of Reference	
	time and one half	90
	time and one-half	22
	Timo I imite	

TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS 15	V	
Training	Vacancy Matching	12/
Transportation	Vacation Carry Over	
Transportation Allowance	Vacation Credits Upon Death	
Travel Policy - General	vacation entitlement	
TRAVEL RATES AND ALLOWANCES 54	Vacation Records	
Trial Period*	Vacation Scheduling	
twelve (12) hour shifts92	Vacation Year	
(12) 110di 01iiito	VACATIONS*	
U	Variance in Hours	_
0	Variation in Hours of Work	
Unbroken Vacation26	Voluntary Severance	
Unearned Credits Upon Death46	Voluntary Severance Payment	
UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE	Voluntary Severance Process	
CLOTHING72	Voluntary Severance Process*	
Union4	,	
Union		
	W	
Union Consultation 23, 123		86
Union Consultation	WAGES	
Union Consultation23, 123 Union Referral to Arbitration51	W	72
Union Consultation	WAGESWash-up Time	72 69
Union Consultation	WAGESWash-up TimeWCB and Return to Work	72 69 67
Union Consultation	WAGES Wash-up Time WCB and Return to Work Weekend Premium*	72 69 67 41
Union Consultation	WAGES	72 69 67 41
Union Consultation	WAGES Wash-up Time WCB and Return to Work Weekend Premium*	72 69 67 50 74
Union Consultation	WAGES	72 69 67 50 74 18
Union Consultation	WAGES	72 69 41 50 74 18
Union Consultation	WAGES	72 69 67 50 74 18 5
Union Consultation	WAGES Wash-up Time WCB and Return to Work Weekend Premium* Withdrawal Withdrawal of Resignation* Work Schedule Requirements Work Schedules Working Days Workplace	72 69 67 50 74 18 5 83 64